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SEVENTH-DAY ADVENTIST THEOLOGICAL SEMINARY
2017-2022 STRATEGIC PLAN

AU Mission Statement: Seek Knowledge, Affirm Faith, Change the World

SDATS Mission Statement: To serve the Seventh-day Adventist Church
by preparing effective leaders to proclaim the everlasting gospel.

SDATS Vision Statement: The Seventh-day Adventist Theological Seminary prepares spiritual
leaders to impact the world for Christ. We are a culturally diverse learning and worshiping
community that nurtures excellence, provides theological leadership, and shares our ministry
and resources around the world.

Market Focus: Individuals with college degrees who are interested in improving their
service/ministry to the church and the world in spiritual and theological areas

SDATS Strategic Plan for 2017-2022
Framed around Andrews University’s four strategic thrusts/themes for this time period

Live Wholly
0 Purposefully incorporate into the seminary experience, for all students and faculty,
substantial balanced care for the spiritual, physical, emotional, mental, and social
health of body, of mind, and of spirit
= Continue to implement a regular system of sabbaticals for faculty
= Seek to include advising, mentoring, and dissertation/thesis guidance in
faculty load
= Health ministry certification?
O Build into the seminary program an integral system of effective, sustainable
mentoring for all students
0 Seek further scholarship funding for students

Explore Intentionally

0 Mentor students in Adventist scholarship

= Setup a system of required PhD Colloquia on what it means to be an
Adventist Scholar

= Facilitate and encourage Student/Professor Joint Publications

0 Continue to provide excellent publications and presentations that guide the church as

a whole theologically and ministerially
0 Implement ways to inspire students with the desire to think, explore, analyze deeply

Learn Deeply
0 Complete creation and implementation of a new MDiv curriculum to meet church
needs, including:
= A shorter program that embeds the seven NAD Core Qualities into the
personal repertoire of every graduate
= (areer-effective concentrations in place of emphases



0 an increased focus on teaching future pastors, using coursework and field experience,
the importance of Adventist Education and how to support it

0 Creatively foster a deepened Adventist identity in all seminary programs grounded in
balanced biblical-theological thinking

0 Review and reconsider alignments, funding and delivery modes of seminary masters
programs and their alignments in light of extension and distance education
opportunities

Engage Globally
0 Work with the Seminary Marketing Committee, Designer and Grad Assistant, and
IMC to create a seminary-specific marketing plan and identity to reach the global
market by means most effective for the 21 century
0 Collaborate with global church entities and post-secondary schools to facilitate for the
church the best in Adventist theological graduate education
*  Online MAR
= Hybrid MDiv
= Chaplaincy concentration online
= Consortium for theological education with other leading Adventist seminaries
around the world
0 Explore provision of a degree/certification attractive to lay members (retirees, ...)
wishing to growing their ministry and theology skills
0 Empower the Racism, Ethnocentrism, & Social Justice Committee to guide the
seminary into a role of leadership for the community in addressing issues identified
by the committee
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THE NEXT CHAPTER

Andrews University
Strategic Plan Outline

In reviewing our past history,
having traveled over every step of
advance to our present standing,

I can say, Praise God!

As I see what the Lord has
wrought, I am filled with
astonishment, and with

confidence in Christ as leader.
We have nothing to fear for the
future, except as we shall forget
the way the Lord has led us, and
His teaching in our past history.
Life Sketches of

Ellen G. White,
page 196 (1902)

Andrews @ University

Seek Knowledge. Affirm Faith. Change the World.
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The Andrews
University Story
and Its Continuity

Welcome to the Andrews University story—a story that
starts more than 140 years ago and one that continues
today. It is this story that speaks of the rich heritage of
the University and of the mission that has driven its
decisions. It is that mission that remains the thematic
thread through the years. It is our heritage as a Seventh-
day Adventist community of scholars that reminds us
of God’s leading in the past and provides us a frame-
work of encouragement looking to the future. It is the
decisions, the storyline (strategies and actions), that
have kept the campus renewed and relevant within that
framework. We learn from the past and we are confident
of the future.

So it is that the values and priorities critical to Andrews
University (Emmanuel Missionary College) from its
inception remain core to the University today. Its story
has always been one of engaging students in the pursuit
of knowledge in the context of a Seventh-day Adventist
and biblical worldview. And this education has always
had a purpose beyond itself: to make a significant dif-
ference in the communities it serves, locally, nationally
and internationally. As an institution identified with the
General Conference of Seventh-day Adventists, the Uni-
versity’s scope of influence has always been large. Over
the years it has grown depth and breadth, most recently
with the founding of the School of Health Professions
and merger of Griggs University.

Now Andrews University’s story includes being the
second most diverse institution of higher education
nationally and in the top ten for diversity interna-
tionally. It includes the richness of our diversity as
evidenced by the breadth of our academic program
offerings which includes the liberal arts, professional

& Andrews University Strategic Plan



programs, natural sciences and humanities. We teach
at bachelor’s, master’s and doctoral levels and we do
so at the Berrien Springs campus, at multiple sites
nationally and internationally and online. Our story is
about recognition for program quality and/or the total
student experience through our multiple professional
accreditations as well as external rankings, such as the
U.S. News & World Report and Scorecard. We graduate
students who consistently confirm their commitment to
Seventh-day Adventist faith, service and wellness and
whose personal stories have been changed by being at
this University.

As Andrews has embraced new opportunities and
responded to the ever changing higher education envi-
ronment, its story has become richer, more complex. Yet
its mission, summarized in the motto—Seek Knowledge.
Affirm Faith. Change the World.—remains constant: the
overarching theme(s) of this story. As such, we remain
strongly committed to faith development, to excel-
lence in education and to graduating students who will
engage as Christian professionals in the church and the
world. All that changes are the lenses through which
we may explore this central theme for the current time
and the storyline (strategies and actions) that drive the
mission into the future.

2017-22: The Next Chapter

As we turn to our next chapter, we have chosen several
lenses (core strengths) with which to approach and
communicate our overarching theme (mission). The lens
of Explore Intentionally identifies our commitment to
finding new and relevant ways to live out our mission
and to encourage students to do the same. Live Wholly
portrays actively our historic commitment to holistic
education (Body, Mind, Spirit) and our commitment to
reinvigorating that in the lives of our current community
whether through initiatives in physical, emotional or
spiritual wellness. The lens of Learn Deeply is the lens
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of depth and quality: what we are known for and how
we can continue high impact practices for our students.
And our final lens of Engage Globally is part of our story
DNA: it is the way of the past and the way of the future,
albeit through adjusted storylines.

And so we move to those new storylines, strategies that
we believe will both ensure the continuity of the rich
Andrews story, as well as deepen and strengthen the
story as it moves into the next chapter. Each storyline
will be rooted in our overarching theme(s) and through
our chosen lenses, but will in turn introduce new and
engaging plots that will add color and texture to our
future. These will be the central thrust of this chapter of
the Andrews’ story.

Andrews University Mission
and the Theme(s) of Our Story

Andrews University, a distinctive Seventh-day
Adventist institution, transforms its students by
educating them to seek knowledge and affirm faith
in order to change the world.

Core Strengths
(Lenses to View our Theme/s)

Live Wholly:
Nurture Your Body,
Mind and Spirit

Learn Deeply:
Create & Research

Storylines for the Next Chapter

As Andrews University seeks to write a new chapter in
its story that unites the campus and its constituencies in
furthering its mission in 2017-22, it will seek to:

2017-2022: The Next Chapter 7



Transform the Campus Culture
through focus on faith development,
wellness, diversity and inclusion.

STORYLINE: To live, work or study at Andrews

University will mean active engagementin a
community that is passionate about being a
caring, inclusive, healthy community of faith.

TO BE SUCCESSFUL THIS WILL MEAN:

*Ensuring the campus culture intentionally embeds
opportunities to nurture the faith development of
all students within the Adventist worldview
*Deepening the campus commitment to wellness of
employees and students

*Intentionally creating an environment of

inclusion and value for all employees and students
(welcoming customer service, personal invitations
for engagement and voice)

Embedding and embracing cultural intelligence
within the campus community

*Creating increased access pathways to an Andrews
University education

Embedding the philosophy of care for each other,
our students and other constituents into the
Andrews University culture through the emphasis
of sharing your Andrews Heart

DESIRED OUTCOMES

Administrative structural adjustment to provide
unified focus on inclusion, diversity and access
Improved metrics for campus wellness

Above median responses for NSSE questions
related to administrative services, staff/faculty
relations and diversity

Evidence from senior exit surveys of a campus
known for its inclusion and valuing of all students
Metrics indicating equally high retention and
graduation rates for all racial/ethnic student
categories

Active spiritual master plan that includes metrics
Best practice on inclusion of students with
disabilities

Andrews University Strategic Plan



= Creation of some new models to increase access
to Andrews University of groups not currently
accessing the University

= Increasing undergraduate and graduate yield
rates by annually agreed targets

= The development of an accountability and
reward system to recognize and celebrate the
stories about Andrews




2. Define the Andrews University
footprint beyond the Berrien Springs
campus through collaboration
with church, community and
higher education institutions.

STORYLINE: Andrews University, the Seventh-day
Adventist Church, partner institutions and the
communities they serve will be richer because of
the intentional engagement and influence of the
University beyond its immediate campus.

TO BE SUCCESSFUL THIS WILL MEAN:

= Engaging with the local community through focus
on civic responsibility and service

= *Proactively engaging with the Seventh-day
Adventist church in North America and the world
to further the church’s educational mission
(connections with K-12, online education, need and
market-driven new programs, and collaborative
partnerships)

= *Deepening global connections through service
and partnerships to enhance the Andrews
University learning experience wherever it occurs

= Increasing opportunities for Andrews University
influence and engagement within both church
and higher education (engagement in core
church events, partnerships with GC institutions/
seminaries, dissemination of research, expansion of
Digital Commons)

= Increasing the engagement of external groups
(alumni, businesses, church) with the campus to
enrich the student experience and commitment to
professions of service

DESIRED OUTCOMES

= An annual service day when the entire campus
engages in service to the community

= Annual networking events with community leaders

= Increasing the numbers and breadth of
partnerships to ensure a minimum of 60 students
entering Andrews University annually under these
arrangements

10 Andrews University Strategic Plan



Becoming the place of choice for Adventist high
school students seeking an early college experience
through online or face-to-face methods

Increasing student internships and engagement in
service locally and internationally

Increasing donor support for University
endowments and programs

Increasing the numbers and breadth of
international partnerships offered off-site through
dual degrees of affiliated/extension relationships to
service 1,000 students annually







3




3. Position the University as a leader
in teaching and learning.

STORYLINE: In a competitive environment
Andrews University must be able to provide

a flexible, engaging, learning environment
through faculty committed to the redemptive
work of education. They will use both innovative
and time-honored teaching methods, using

the lens of “the teacher” in advancing research
and engaging with service. The result will be a
transformational education experience.

TO BE SUCCESSFUL THIS WILL MEAN:

= The development of a teaching and learning
center that assists faculty in deepening their
teaching capacity, increasing their knowledge of
instructional design and expanding their use of
innovative methods in teaching

= Enhancing focus on faculty research that impacts
teaching, is integral to the teaching process (such
as in undergraduate research), and seeks to
advance Adventist thought and life

= Increasing funded research

= *Increasing focus on best practice use of technology
in both teaching throughout the curriculum and the
expansion of quality online courses

= *The prioritization of program offerings to align
program mix with market and mission

= Enhancing the curriculum by including increased
emphasis on diversity and internationalization

= Development of an online higher education
teaching certificate with encouragement for all
faculty to complete the course over the first two
years of being hired (modules to include biblical
foundations of teaching, use of technology,
innovation and inclusion)

= Ensuring faculty nurture, mentoring and
development remains an institutional priority
through consistent opportunity for professional
growth, sabbaticals, etc.

= Ensuring the total teaching and learning
experience is fully integrated with the spiritual
master plan

14 Andrews University Strategic Plan



DESIRED OUTCOMES

Satisfaction ratings on the National Survey of
Student Engagement (NSSE) and other surveys

to consistently rate items related to teaching and
learning above the median

All students by graduation will report engagement
in at least two high impact activities, such as

an international experience, research with a
faculty member, mission engagement, internship,
leadership and service

Growth in online course and program availability
in each of the five years and evidence of targets
in online learning being met through the plan of
the School of Distance Education & International
Partnerships (SDEIP), including quality measures
Whole-person curriculum mapping by

program that identifies embedding of
institutional priorities, including diversity,
internationalization, wellness, and spiritual
maturity and commitment, into the curriculum/
co-curriculum

Annual review of the academic health of each
program to include acceptable student-to-faculty
ratio, reputation, the number of graduates and the
percent entering careers or attaining graduate/
professional school admission, and program
specific performance indicators

Further refinement of processes and policies
related to faculty responsibilities and professional
growth opportunities in line with the strategic
plan priorities and institutional mission

Funding the research office and its operations
through overheads from external research grants
Creation of a new plan for faculty development
reporting/evaluation that links with rank and
tenure promotion policies and institutional
strategy

Supporting a robust community of scholarship
and inquiry that furthers the development of
doctoral level research, writing and teaching and
contributes to the body of knowledge both within
the Adventist church and society at large

2017-2022: The Next Chapter 15



4. Increase the quality and depth of
the student learning experience.

STORYLINE: As students have multiple options
for their education, Andrews University must
provide a student environment that makes the
Andrews University choice irresistible.

TO BE SUCCESSFUL THIS WILL MEAN:

= *The creation of the LIFE center (Leadership,
Innovation, First Experience and Explore) to
integrate student learning experiences from high
school through to employment

= (Creating a framework for student learning through
the Unified Framework of Objectives (AUUFO)

= Intentional focus on the advising and mentoring
experience of all students in all aspects of their
Andrews University experience (including student
employment)

= Reinvigorating the Andrews Core Experience (ACE)
curriculum in coordination with the co-curriculum,
the AUUFO and LIFE center

= *Deepening the graduate student experience
through increased opportunities for dual and
integrated degrees, and growth in professional
programs

= Ensuring the spiritual master plan and the
implementation of its identified activities and
strategies infuse all learning experiences

DESIRED OUTCOMES

= Launch of the spiritual master plan expanded
assessment plans by the fall of 2018

= The LIFE center and its integrated work will be
launched in the fall of 2017

= Integration of the AUUFO into the ACE and
program curriculum will be accomplished by fall
of 2018

= Satisfaction ratings on NSSE and other surveys
to consistently rate items related to advising and
student learning experience above the median

= Increased undergraduate retention to a minimum
of 85% annually

16 Andrews University Strategic Plan



4-year and 6-year graduation rates to reach 45%
and 65-70% by 2022

An increase in the number of accelerated and other
dual degree programs to meet market needs
Professional program growth in accordance with
the strategic plans of the schools

Unduplicated headcount enrollment goals of

2,500 undergraduates, 2,500 graduates and 1,000
international affiliates to be reached by 2022
Unified means of measuring success at institutional
learning outcomes at all levels




5. Engage in campus renewal and
development to meet expectations
of a campus for 2025.

STORYLINE: Students and campus guests

will experience an environmentally friendly
campus that expresses its values through its
physical campus spaces and provides state-
of-the-art facilities for education, especially
where professional spaces and equipment
are required.

TO BE SUCCESSFUL THIS WILL MEAN:

= *Creating a constellation of learning spaces and
opportunities to embed innovation, campus
engagement and wellness as part of the fabric
of the institution

= *Building/re-creation of academic spaces for health
professions, architecture, music and STEM

= Continued development of student life/housing
facilities

= Intentional development of technology and
distance education infrastructure

DESIRED OUTCOMES

= Completion of the building of the wellness center

= Review of campus master plan to consider
space utilization that will support the strategic
embedding of wellness and innovation into
University strategy

= Completed capital and development plan to meet
the academic needs identified above and student
life/housing

= Expansion of technology infrastructure according
to ITS strategic plan

NOTE: *While all the actions identified above are important to the deepen-
ing and development of the Andrews University story in 2017-22, those
identified with an asterisk are those that the University considers most likely
to bring significant and critical shifts in ensuring the University’s future.
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Institutional Outcome Measurements

In addition to the specific outcome measurements related to
the new storylines, the University will be responsible for meet-
ing institutional outcome measurements and will adjust actions
and strategies to ensure meeting these outcomes remains core
to the campus operations and drives priority actions.

These are the institutional
outcome measurements:

AcCADEMIC INDICATORS

First-year retention will be 85%

Undergraduate degree completion rate (4 years) will be 45%
and 6 years will be 65-70%

Undergraduate student-faculty ratio will be 12:1

Master’s degree completion rate (4 years) will be 80%
Professional doctoral completion rate (6 years) will be 65%
PhD completion rate (10 years) will be 45%

80% of alumni will be accepted into graduate school or in
employment in their field one year after graduation

The first-time professional licensure pass rate in all
disciplines will be at 85% or higher

The ETS Senior Test cumulative score will be at or above the
national norm for all institutions

The ETS critical thinking score will be at or above the
national norm for all institutions

The average of number of graduates in an undergraduate or
graduate program is 15, over three years

FAITH AND STUDENT DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS

Percentage of bachelor’s degree graduates stating personal
commitment to an active life of faith will be 85%

Percentage of master’s & doctoral graduates stating personal
commitment to an active life of faith will be 80%

Percentage of annually surveyed alumni stating personal
commitment to an active life of faith will be 75% five years
after graduation

Percentage of annually surveyed alumni stating active
engagement in a church community will be 70% five years
after graduation

The NSSE Campus Environment score will be at or above the
mean for similar institutions

75% of graduates will indicate active commitment to a
healthy and balanced lifestyle

Percentage of bachelor’s degree graduates stating personal
commitment to service will be 80%

80% of annually surveyed alumni will be actively engaged
in service to the community, locally or internationally, five
years after graduation

2017-2022: The Next Chapter 21



FINANCIAL INDICATORS

= Average undergraduate tuition discount will be no more
than 45% of total tuition

= Faculty salaries will be at the target established by the
compensation committee of the Board (goal: no less than
90% of the average salary for institutions of similar size and
with similar budgets)

= 15% of U.S.-based alumni will give annually to the University

= 2,500 undergraduate students (unduplicated headcount)
will study through the central Andrews University campus

= The undergraduate admission to enrollment yield rate will
be 30%

= 2,500 graduate students (unduplicated headcount) will
study through the central Andrews University campus

= The graduate admission to enrollment yield rate will be 40%

= Around 1,000 students will study at international locations

= Institutional academic overhead percentage will be at 42%

= Average lecture class size for undergraduates will be more
than 25 for 100200 level courses, 13 for 300-400 level;
average lecture class size for graduate courses will be more
than 16

= Debt ratio will be less than 20%, with annual debt reduction
at a minimum of $1 million annually

= Annual operating gain will be a minimum of $2.5 million
annually

= The annual cash reserve will be increased by a minimum of
$2.5 million

= Days Cash on Hand will increase from 15 days during the term
of this plan to 9o days from 2023, increase of 15 days per year

= Line of credit borrowing will decrease according to the
following goals: 2017-19: $5,500,000; 2020: $2,000,000;
2021 on: $0

= Internal borrowing will decrease according to the following
goals: 2017: $13,500,000; 2018: $10,000,000; 2019 and on:
$6,500,000

Monitoring of institutional outcome measurements will be by
the University Strategy and Policy Committee and the Board of
Trustees. Board Committees will be responsible as follows:

Academic Indicators:
Academic Programs & Educational Services Committee

Faith and Student Development Indicators:
Students, Leadership & Spirituality Committee

Financial Indicators:
University Operations and Finance Committee
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SDATS Assessment Plan

The SDATS has in place a robust assortment of evaluation procedures for assessing educational
effectiveness. Each program has established program learning outcomes (PLOs) tied to the program
mission and evaluated by assessment instruments integrated into program courses or requirements (see
syllabi in Documents Room). Indirect assessment of program effectiveness and other aspects of student
services is accomplished online through course surveys at the end of every course and a Seminary
Assessment Questionnaire administered every other year. At the time of graduation, a linked Seminary
Exit Survey and a university First Destination Survey is completed by Seminary graduates. Results of
assessments are compiled by the Seminary Assessment Director and distributed to the appropriate
program and department leaders for analysis and to bring for consideration to the program committees
and department faculty meetings. In addition, program effectiveness data, including completion rates
and job placement rates, are compiled by the AU Office of Institutional Effectiveness in conjunction with
the Seminary deans and program offices. Resulting action plans and adjustments created by these
entities are brought together in the Annual Assessment Report required of programs and departments
and contribute to discussion at our annual Seminary Assessment Retreat. Key aspects of this retreat are
reported to and discussed at the Seminary Faculty Meeting. In collaboration with the university, a seven-
year cycle of program reviews evaluates every university program in terms of both educational and
financial effectiveness. Further descriptions of these processes can be found under Educational Standard
6 and under the individual Degree Program Standards.

The comprehensive evaluation process which gathers and coordinates input from various evaluation
streams relating to institutional vitality and comprehensive institutional planning is overseen by the
Seminary Assessment Committee (SAC). The committee is led by the Associate Dean, in consultation
with the Dean, who is a member of the committee. As the secretary of this committee, a full-time
Seminary Assessment Coordinator is the point-person in the implementation of this process.

The primary task of the SAC is to maintain and review the Seminary’s comprehensive evaluation process.
As the committee has grown in its understanding and in its depth of analysis of its task, it has developed
an increasingly comprehensive, yet doable, plan for: (1) the coordination and analysis of evaluation
findings, and (2) for the identification, employment, and critique of ongoing plans for responding to
what we have learned. (See ES.6 for further details.) The second task of the SAC is to ensure that the
necessary evaluation procedures and instruments are in place to adequately measure the Seminary’s
identified goals for institutional vitality and educational effectiveness. A third task of the SAC is to
ensure that incoming data is directed to the correct entity for analysis, planning, implementation, and
review. Three streams have been identified through which this data is directed: (1) Governance and
Institutional-Level Committees; (2) Program Committees; and (3) Department Faculty. Data pertaining to
the particular interests of each of these three streams, is automatically directed by the Seminary
Assessment Coordinator to the appropriate entities for further analysis and planning. Where an
evaluation process brings in mixed data, involving Governance and Institutional-Level Planning groups in
addition to the Program- and Department-focused data, the SAC does an initial analysis of that data and
forwards significant findings and recommendations to the correct group.

The Seminary Assessment Committee also plans and organizes the annual Seminary Assessment Retreat,
held in August of each year since 2011 and attended by deans, program directors, department chairs,
and other key Seminary and AU leaders. The Retreat began as the main accountability and reporting



mechanism for Seminary assessment. As our assessment work has broadened and deepened, this
function has been partially shifted to Annual Assessment Reports required by the Andrews University
provost in which programs and departments, analyze their assessment plan and findings for the past
year, provide information and analysis regarding program demand and effectiveness, complete a
profitability analysis, and then create a program summary and a strategic plan for the coming year. (See
Documents Room) The Assessment Retreat is thus now able to focus more on reviewing chosen
significant data points and analyses from the year and discussing how we can work together as a body to
respond to what we are learning from our various assessments and adjust them to better meet our
needs. Important assessment information from the Reports and the Retreat, as well as incoming data of
particular general interest, are shared with faculty throughout the year during Assessment Spotlights at
the monthly Seminary Faculty Meeting.
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Governance & Institutional-Level Planning Committees & Instruments for Review:

Seminary Executive Committee

Seminary Deans Council Seminary Grade Distributions (from AU Inst Eff; Jan?)

Seminary Faculty

Program Committees & Instruments for Review:

e See <2 Assessment Reporting to Program Committees> in Assessment Loop Folder

Departments& Instruments for Review:

o See <1 Assessment Reporting to Departments> in Assessment Loop Folder
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SEMINARY OPERATIONS

For Period May 1, 2019 through May 31, 2019 - Percent of Fiscal Year Elapsed: 8.33

FY2020
FY2020 YTD FY2020 FY2019 May 2019 May 2019 May 2018
Fund ORGN Description Budget Budget YTD Actual YTD Actual Budget Actual Actual
11 0970 INSTRUCTIONAL SEMINARY 9,870,855 1,710,280 1,661,854 1,749,226 1,710,280 1,661,854 1,749,226
11 0971 FACULTY DEVELOPMENT 1 1 0 0 1 0 0
11 1100 CHURCH HISTORY -385,935 -32,316 -27,514 -30,487 -32,316 -27,514 -30,487
11 1150 CHRISTIAN MINISTRY -834,887 -74,082 -72,313 -60,451 -74,082 -72,313 -60,451
11 1170 DOCTOR OF MINISTRY PROGRAM -132,262 -30,725 -32,372 -38,324 -30,725 -32,372 -38,324
11 1200 WORLD MISSION -509,899 -40,852 -48,512 -42,707 -40,852 -48,512 -42,707
11 1250 NEW TESTAMENT -558,334 -45,708 -51,016 -48,152 -45,708 -51,016 -48,152
11 1300 OLD TESTAMENT -628,790 -48,377 -43,810 -51,663 -48,377 -43,810 -51,663
11 1320 DISCIPLESHIP & RELIGIOUS EDUCATION -570,820 -45,175 -40,049 -41,742 -45,175 -40,049 -41,742
11 1350 THEOLOGY-CHRISTIAN PHILOSOPHY -558,237 -45,419 -52,297 -50,006 -45,419 -52,297 -50,006
11 1870 EXTENSION SCHOOLS-INTERNATIONAL 59,761 -8,983 -5,007 -4,025 -8,983 -5,007 -4,025
11 1871 NAD EXTENSION SCH-ENGLISH 299,124 -2,328 -3,668 -3,538 -2,328 -3,668 -3,538
11 1872 NAD EXTENSION SCH-HISPANIC 183,816 -7,127 -6,423 -10,503 -7,127 -6,423 -10,503
11 1970 TOURS AND WORKSHOPS -1,996 0 -366 24 0 -366 24
11 3070 DEANS OFFICE-SEMINARY -532,749 -43,671 -40,387 -34,983 -43,671 -40,387 -34,983
11 3350 INSTITUTE OF ARCHAEOLOGY -111,008 -8,918 -8,629 -9,072 -8,918 -8,629 -9,072
11 3351 HORN ARCHAEOLOGICAL MUSEUM -94,530 -6,551 -6,813 -11,021 -6,551 -6,813 -11,021
11 3352 ARCHAEOLOGICAL EXCAVATION -10,000 0 0 -1,487 0 0 -1,487
11 3353 ARCHAEOLOGICAL PUBLICATIONS -88,901 -6,860 -8,932 -5,914 -6,860 -8,932 -5,914
11 3700 INST OF HISPANIC MINISTRY 1 1 1,450 -76 1 1,450 -76
11 3901 SEMINARY STUDIES (AUSS) -62,835 -4,807 -5,884 -39 -4,807 -5,884 -39
11 5997 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE-SEMINARY -172,000 -2,038 -2,633 -3,421 -2,038 -2,633 -3,421
Total SEMINARY 5,160,375 1,256,345 1,206,679 1,301,638 1,256,345 1,206,679 1,301,638

FWRVPOP Run on Fri Jul 12 09:28:21 2019

Page 1 of 2



SEMINARY OPERATIONS

For Period N

FY2020 Budget

Fund ORGN Description Budget Used
11 0970 INSTRUCTIONAL SEMINARY 9,870,855 17%
11 0971 FACULTY DEVELOPMENT 1 0%
11 1100 CHURCH HISTORY -385,935 7%
11 1150 CHRISTIAN MINISTRY -834,887 9%
11 1170 DOCTOR OF MINISTRY PROGRAM -132,262 24%
11 1200 WORLD MISSION -509,899 10%
11 1250 NEW TESTAMENT -558,334 9%
11 1300 OLD TESTAMENT -628,790 7%
11 1320 DISCIPLESHIP & RELIGIOUS EDUCATION -570,820 7%
11 1350 THEOLOGY-CHRISTIAN PHILOSOPHY -558,237 9%
11 1870 EXTENSION SCHOOLS-INTERNATIONAL 59,761 -8%
11 1871 NAD EXTENSION SCH-ENGLISH 299,124 -1%
11 1872 NAD EXTENSION SCH-HISPANIC 183,816 -3%
11 1970 TOURS AND WORKSHOPS -1,996 18%
11 3070 DEANS OFFICE-SEMINARY -532,749 8%
11 3350 INSTITUTE OF ARCHAEOLOGY -111,008 8%
11 3351 HORN ARCHAEOLOGICAL MUSEUM -94,530 7%
11 3352 ARCHAEOLOGICAL EXCAVATION -10,000 0%
11 3353 ARCHAEOLOGICAL PUBLICATIONS -88,901 10%
11 3700 INST OF HISPANIC MINISTRY 1 #HHHH
11 3901 SEMINARY STUDIES (AUSS) -62,835 9%
11 5997 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE-SEMINARY -172,000 2%

Total SEMINARY 5,160,375 23%

FWRVPOP Run on Fri Jul 12 09:28:21 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Board of Trustees
Andrews University
Berrien Springs, Michigan

Reports on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Andrews University
(University) and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as
of April 30, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’ s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We did not audit the financial statements of University Retirement Centers, Inc., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the University, which statements reflect total assets of $1,284,342 and
$1,346,478 as of April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and total revenues of $644,725 and $732,548
for the years then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors, whose report has been
furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for University
Retirement Centers, Inc., is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Sandards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement. The financial statements of University Retirement Centers, Inc., which are
included in the University’s financial statements, were not audited in accordance with Gover nment
Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the University’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Praxity.:



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the consolidated financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Andrews
University and its subsidiaries as of April 30, 2018, and 2017, and the changes in their net assets and
their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As described in Note 2 of the financial statements, in 2018, the University adopted ASU 2016-14,
Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities.
Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Supplementary I nformation

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards required by
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, as listed in the table of contents, is presented
for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated August 3,
2018, on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements
and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion
on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Andrews
University's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

BED Lwp

Fort Wayne, Indiana
August 3, 2018



Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Andrews University

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

April 30, 2018 and 2017

Accounts receivable, net of allowance; 2018 - $918,214,
2017 - $935,876

Grants and other receivables

Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Cash equivalents and investments restricted for long-lived asset
purchases
Notes receivable, net of allowance; 2018 - $973,388,
2017 - $974,016
Investments
Contributions receivable from remainder trusts
Educational land, buildings and equipment
Commercial land, buildings and equipment
Beneficial interest in perpetual trust

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities

Total assets

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

Refundable deposits
Deferred tuition and fee revenue

Debt

Trust liabilities and amounts due to other remainderments

Annuities payable

Federal advances for student loans
Funds held for others
Total liabilities

Net Assets

Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions
Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2018 2017
2,966,976 $ 1,323,945
11,655,023 10,969,681
148,932 1,175,185
3,517,467 3,774,393
1,665,827 1,706,973
784,921 829,505
2,294,462 2,549,047
68,847,357 59,125,359
125,516 121,051
97,938,602 99,286,339
2,117,972 1,816,534
916,997 900,454
192,980,052 183,578,466
7,020,178 5,908,513
5,284,995 4,485,430
2,088,716 1,824,311
1,955,315 1,277,774
16,639,815 18,018,932
5,498,549 1,866,538
491,772 486,211
2,687,519 2,891,434
709,405 776.207
42,376,264 37.535.350
77,313,193 77,920,100
73.290.595 68.123.016
150,603,788 146,043,116
192,980,052 $_ 183,578,466




Andrews University

Consolidated Statements of Activities
Years Ended April 30, 2018 and 2017

Revenue, Gains and Other Support
Tuition and fees
Less scholarships and other student aid
Net tuition and fees
Private contributions
Other contributions and income, related
parties
Contractual income and grants
Sales and services of educational activities
Sales and services of auxiliary activities
Change in value of split-interest agreements
Net investment return
Realized and unrealized gains on
investments
University Schools
Center for Youth Evangelism
Andrews Broadcasting Corporation
University Retirement Centers, Inc.
Total revenue, gains and other
support

Net Assets Released From Restrictions for
Noncapital Activity
Total revenue, gains and other
support and net assets
released from restrictions for
noncapital activity

Expenses
Instruction
Research
Public service
Academic support
Student services
Auxiliary enterprises
University Schools
Center for Youth Evangelism
Andrews Broadcasting Corporation
University Retirement Centers, Inc.
Total program services
Institutional support and administration
Development
Total expenses

Change in Net Assets Before Other Activities

Other Activities
Net assets released for capital projects

Change in Net Assets
Net Assets, Beginning of Year

Net Assets, End of Year

2018

Without Donor

With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

$ 77,730,968 — 3 77,730,968
(34,103.378) — (34,103.378)
43,627,590 43,627,590
312,713 6,729,829 7,042,542
11,991,978 1,573,692 13,565,670
1,390,902 184,683 1,575,585
5,193,791 — 5,193,791
17,481,259 — 17,481,259
291,516 69,052 360,568
302,020 1,427,758 1,729,778
443,686 2,807,429 3,251,115
4,016,499 — 4,016,499
817,030 1,807 818,837
494,518 — 494,518
644,725 — 644,725
87,008,227 12,794,250 99,802,477
5,923,665 (5,923.,665) —
92,931,892 6,870,585 99.802.477
36,905,243 — 36,905,243
1,917,322 — 1,917,320
1,082,866 — 1,082,867
13,031,883 — 13,031,883
5,918,715 — 5,918,716
16,894,668 — 16,894,668
3,669,266 — 3,669,266
1,356,144 — 1,356,144
529,077 — 529,077
649,831 — 649,831
81,955,015 — 81,955,015
12,032,517 — 12,032,518
1.254.273 — 1.254.272
95,241,805 — 95.241.805
(2,309,913) 6,870,585 4,560,672
1,703.006 (1.703.006) —
(606,907) 5,167,579 4,560,672
77.920.100 68,123,016 146.043.116
$ 77,313,193 73,290,595 $ 150,603,788

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements




2017

Without Donor

With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total
$ 75,397,588 — $ 75,397,588
(32.658.732) — (32.658.732)
42,738,856 — 42,738,856
503,957 7,174,362 7,678,319
11,877,098 1,507,667 13,384,765
1,427,210 232,864 1,660,074
5,606,250 — 5,606,250
17,113,265 — 17,113,265
(546) 421,920 421,374
222,524 974,108 1,196,632
439,473 3,694,393 4,133,866
3,787,250 — 3,787,250
842,362 2,289 844,651
435,386 — 435,386
732,548 — 732,548
85,725,633 14,007,603 99,733,236
4,951,862 (4,951,8620) —
90,677,495 9,055,741 99.733.236
36,336,421 — 36,336,421
1,826,701 — 1,826,701
085,188 — 985,188
12,443,390 — 12,443,390
5,792,051 — 5,792,051
16,626,410 — 16,626,410
3,423,510 — 3,423,510
1,125,648 — 1,125,648
498,004 — 498,004
620,534 — 620,534
79,677,857 — 79,677,857
11,468,856 — 11,468,856
1,136,432 — 1,136,432
92,283,145 — 92,283,145
(1,605,650) 9,055,741 7,450,091
205.330 (205.330) —
(1,400,320) 8,850,411 7,450,091
79,320,420 59,272,605 138,593,025
$ 77,920,100 68,123,016 $_ 146,043,116




Andrews University
Consolidated Statements of Functional Expenses
Year Ended April 30, 2018

Program Activities 2018 Support Activities 2018

Public Academic Student Aucxiliary University Ancillary Total Institutional Total
Instructional Research Service Support Services Enterprises Schools Services Program Support Development Expenses
Salaries, wages and employee benefits ~ $ 28242041 S 1133941 § 396565 § 7553320 $§ 3,606,709 § 518919 § 2602871 § 868,556  § 49,592,922 § 748,173 § 882,912 § 57,964,007
Costs of goods sold - 1,259 416,246 16,224 2,007,749 61,338 46,376 2,549,192 12,368 - 2,561,560
Travel costs 633,056 155,200 29,993 315377 265,270 138,380 150,043 181,872 1,869,191 237,799 192,875 2,299,865
Student services 1,384,531 49,494 20,711 64,103 180,923 52,780 136,341 119,358 2,008,241 66,253 32 2,074,526
Office/administration expenses 1,086,025 60,596 92,452 933,148 425271 689,134 270,396 208,834 3,765,862 659,389 63,494 4,488,745
Services 826,813 356,557 113,823 1,168,367 365,913 1,217,287 23,785 415,534 4,488,079 990,945 27,121 5,506,145
Equipment 305,346 16,551 21,204 84,453 30,175 351,693 33,762 17,939 861,123 383,705 5,242 1,250,070
Promotional 97,248 10,503 32,718 71,005 234,439 3,607 28,466 10,716 488,762 333,873 75,031 897,666
Operations and Maintenance 2,765,459 55,113 254,050 1,021,153 423355 2,989,979 482,713 333310 8,325,132 1,791,894 924 10,117,950
Depreciation 1,820,485 36,371 44,352 607,370 264,414 1,075,147 88,956 152,909 4,090,004 653,930 - 4,743,934
Other (255,761) 42,996 75,739 797,341 106,016 3,179,933 (209,405) 179,648 3,916,507 (585,812) 6,042 3,337,337
Totals $ 36905243 $ 1917322 $§ 1,082,806 $ 13,031,883 $§ 5918715 § 16,394,668 § 3,669266 $ 2535052 § 81955015 § 12032517 § 1,254273  § 95,241,805

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



Andrews University

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended April 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017
Operating Activities
Change in net assets $ 4,560,672 $ 7,450,091
Items not requiring (providing) operating activities cash flows
Depreciation and amortization 4,769,675 4,834,157
Provision for uncollectible accounts (18,290) (110,620)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment 11,099 (21,334)
Change in value of split-interest agreements (360,568) 421,375
Realized and unrealized gains on investments (3,251,115) (4,133,866)
Contributions and property received and payments on
contributions receivable restricted for long-term
investments (3,311,316) (544,834)
Changes in
Accounts receivable (667,680) (1,769,197)
Contributions, grants, notes and other receivables 1,281,466 (843,817)
Inventories 256,926 (38,922)
Prepaid expenses and other 41,146 (50,036)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,529,696 6,199
Deposits and deferred income 941,946 790,379
Annuities payable, trust liabilities and amounts due to other
remainderments 3,860,228 331,652
Funds held for others (66,801) (15,675)
Net cash provided by operating activities 9.577.084 6.305,552
Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of investments 5,768,551 9,715,921
Purchases of investments (12,239,434) (7,578,048)
Net change in restricted cash equivalents and investments 44,584 (728,767)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 41,741 74,500
Purchases of property and equipment (3.368.943) (2.886.150)
Net cash used in investing activities (9.753.501) (1,402.544)
Financing Activities
Proceeds from contributions received and payments on
contributions receivable restricted for long-term investment 3,311,316 544,834
ProceedS from line of credit borrowings 74,039,872 19,256,650
Payments on line of credit borrowings (74,039,872) (24,756,650)
Principal payments on debt (1,404,857) (1,402,275)
Net payments to beneficiaries under split-interest agreements (87.011) (80.712)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,819,448 (6,438.153)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,643,031 (1,535,145)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 1,323,945 2,859,090
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period $ 2,966,976 $ 1,323,945
Supplemental Information
Interest paid $ 886,470 $ 1,014,382
Property and equipment in accounts payable 404,438 22,905

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 6



Andrews University

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
April 30, 2018 and 2017

Note 1: Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

Andrews University (University), organized in 1874, is affiliated with the Seventh-day Adventist
denomination. The University is a coeducational university fully accredited by the North Central
Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools. The University is made up of seven schools and
the University schools (K-12 grades). The University’s revenue and other support are derived
principally from tuition and fees, auxiliary activities and grants and contributions. The University
also operates three wholly-owned subsidiaries: Andrews Broadcasting Corporation, University
Retirement Centers, Inc. and The Center for Youth Evangelism.

e Andrews Broadcasting Corporation is a nonprofit corporation organized for the purpose of
operating WAUS-FM, a radio station located on the campus of the University

e University Retirement Centers, Inc. is a nonprofit corporation formed for the purpose of
constructing and maintaining housing facilities and services specifically designed to service
elderly or handicapped persons

e The Center for Youth Evangelism (Center) has been established as a training and resource
center for claiming, training and reclaiming youth and young adults for Jesus Christ. It is
located on the campus of the University. It was incorporated in 2009 as an independent not-
for-profit organization to help facilitate its vision and mission statement. The Center
provides not only resources to anyone interested in youth ministry, but also serves as a think
tank on how to effectively minister to youth and young adults. It does this by establishing
formal and informal conversations throughout the Christian Community. Using its
collaborative partnership with the Seminary, the Center helps provide both formal classroom
education and a practical laboratory for youth professionals to develop and test out creative
ministries for post-modern youth and young adults

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Andrews University and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, Andrews Broadcasting Corporation, University Retirement Centers, Inc. and
The Center for Youth Evangelism. All material interorganizational accounts and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of the revenue, expenses,

gains, losses and other changes in net assets during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

The University considers all liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to
be cash equivalents. At April 30, 2018 and 2017, cash equivalents consisted primarily of money
market funds and repurchase agreements.

Cash and cash equivalents that are awaiting longer-term investing have been classified as
investments.

At April 30, 2018, the University’s cash accounts exceeded federally insured limits by
approximately $5,476,000.

Investments and Investment Return

Investments in equity securities having a readily determinable fair value, nonexchange-traded
equity and fixed income fund trusts and all debt securities and brokered certificates of deposit are
carried at fair value. Other investments are valued at fair value. Investment return includes
dividend, interest and other investment income and realized and unrealized gains and losses on
investments carried at fair value.

Investment return that is initially restricted by donor stipulation and for which the restriction will
be satisfied in the same year is included in with donor restrictions and reclassified to without donor
restrictions net assets and reported in the consolidated statements of activities as net assets released
from restrictions. Other investment return is reflected in the consolidated statements of activities as
without donor restrictions or with donor restrictions based upon the existence and nature of any
donor or legally imposed restrictions.

The University maintains pooled investment accounts for its endowments. Investment income and
realized and unrealized gains and losses from securities in the pooled investment accounts are
allocated annually to the individual endowments based on the relationship of the fair value of the
interest of each endowment to the total fair value of the pooled investments accounts, as adjusted
for additions to or deductions from those accounts.

Net Assets

Net assets, revenues, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor
imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified and reported as
follows:

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions — Net assets available for use in general operations and not
subject to donor restrictions. The governing Board has designated, from net assets without donor
restrictions, net assets for Board-designated endowment which totaled $8,651,668 and $8,148,285
at April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions — Net assets subject to donor imposed restrictions. Some
donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of
time or other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in
nature, where the donor stipulates that resources be maintained in perpetuity.
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Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of dairy cattle and feed, food service and plant service and various
other supplies and are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value for 2018 and the lower of
cost or market for 2017. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

Income Taxes

The University and its subsidiaries are exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501 of the
U.S. Internal Revenue Code and a similar provision of state law. However, the University and its
subsidiaries are subject to federal income tax on any unrelated business taxable income.

Promises to Give

Unconditional promises to give are recognized as revenue in the period received and as assets,
decreases of liabilities or expenses depending on the form of the benefits received. Conditional
promises to give are recognized as revenue when the conditions on which they depend are
substantially met.

Student Accounts and Notes Receivable

Student accounts receivable are stated at the amount billed to the students less applied scholarships
and loan proceeds. The University provides an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is based
upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection information and existing economic
conditions. Tuition is generally due at the beginning of the semester unless the student has signed
a payment plan. Charges that are past due without payments for three consecutive months, have
had no response to the due diligence process and are assigned to third-party collection agencies are
considered delinquent. Delinquent receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation
and specific circumstances of the student.

Notes receivable consist of amounts due under the Federal Perkins Loan Program and institutional
loan programs and are stated at their outstanding principal amount, net of an allowance for doubtful
notes. Loans are made to students based on demonstrated financial need and satisfaction of federal
eligibility and institutional requirements. Principal and interest payments on loans generally do not
commence until after the borrower graduates or otherwise ceases enrollment. The University
provides an allowance for doubtful notes, which is based upon a review of outstanding loans,
historical collection information and existing economic conditions. Loans that are delinquent
continue to accrue interest. Loans that are past due for at least one payment are considered
delinquent. Delinquent loans are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific
circumstances of the student. The amount of loans delinquent greater than 90 days and accruing
interest was approximately $686,000 and $663,000 at April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Property and Equipment

Expenditures for property and equipment and items which substantially increase the useful lives of
existing assets are capitalized at cost. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
The University provides for depreciation on property and equipment on the straight-line method at
rates designed to depreciate the costs of assets over their estimated useful lives. Assets under
capital lease obligations are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or their respective
estimated useful lives.

Long-lived Asset Impairment

The University evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever
events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a long-lived asset
is tested for recoverability and the undiscounted estimated future cash flows expected to result
from the use and eventual disposition of the asset is less than the carrying amount of the asset, the
asset cost is adjusted to fair value and an impairment loss is recognized as the amount by which the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.

No asset impairment was recognized during the years ended April 30, 2018 and 2017.

Deferred Revenue

Income from tuition and fees is deferred and recognized over the periods to which the tuition and
fees relate.

Support and Revenue

The University reports gifts of cash and other assets as restricted support if they are received with
donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that is,
when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, with donor
restrictions net assets are reclassified to without donor restrictions net assets and reported in the
consolidated statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions. If a restriction is
fulfilled in the same time period in which the contribution is received, the University reports the
support as with donor restrictions and then releases from restriction.

Unconditional gifts expected to be collected within one year are reported at their net realized value.
Unconditional gifts expected to be collected in future years are reported at the present value of
estimated future cash flows. The resulting discount is amortized using the level-yield method and
is reported as contribution revenue.
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Donated Property and Equipment

The University reports gifts of land, buildings and equipment as without donor restriction support
unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived
assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other
assets that must be used to acquire long-lived assets are reported as restricted support. Absent
explicit donor stipulations regarding how long those long-lived assets must be maintained, the
University reports expirations of donor restrictions when the donated or acquired long-lived assets
are placed in service, as instructed by the donor. The University reclassifies with donor restrictions
net assets to without donor restriction net assets at that time.

Government Grants

Support funded by grants is recognized as the University performs the contracted services under
grant agreements. Grant revenue is recognized as earned as the eligible expenses are incurred.
Grant expenditures are subject to audit and acceptance by the granting agency and, as a result of
such audit, adjustments could be required.

Auxiliary Activities

The University operates several auxiliary activities including dining facilities, student lodging and
farm and dairy.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of supporting the various programs and other activities have been summarized on the
functional basis in the consolidated statements of activities. Certain costs have been allocated
among the program services, institutional support and administration and development categories
based on the square footage of occupancy, estimates of time spent by University personnel and
other methods.

Transfers Between Fair Value Hierarchy Levels

Transfers in and out of Level 1 (quoted market prices), Level 2 (other significant observable
inputs) and Level 3 (significant unobservable inputs) are recognized on the period beginning date.

11
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Note 2: Change in Accounting Principle

During 2018, the University adopted the provisions of ASU 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic
958): Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities. This change had no impact
on the 2017 change in net assets. A summary of the changes by financial statement area is as
follows:

Statement of financial position:

e The statement of financial position distinguishes between two new classes of net assets — those
with donor-imposed restrictions and those without. This is a change from the previously required
three classes of net assets — unrestricted, temporarily restricted and permanently restricted.

Statement of activities:

e The standard requires the University to report expenses by both nature and function, either in the
statement of activities, as a separate statement or within the notes.

¢ Investment income is shown net of external and direct internal investment expenses. There is no
longer a requirement to include a disclosure of those netted expenses.

Notes to the financial statements:

e FASB requires enhanced quantitative and qualitative disclosures to provide additional
information useful in assessing liquidity and cash flows, including a description of the time
horizon used to manage its liquidity and near-term availability and demands for cash as of the
reporting date.

e Provide disclosures on amounts and purposes of governing Board or self-imposed designations
and appropriations as of the end of the period.

12
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Note 3: Investments

The University’s investments are as follows:

2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,524583 ' $ 727,977
Equity fund trusts (A)

Large capitalization funds 14,116,708 13,029,538

Small and mid-capitalization funds 6,387,003 5,331,533

International and emerging markets 25,229,147 23,024,320
Commodity fund 152,108 175,968
Common stocks 3,095,942 2,609,376
Fixed income mutual funds and fund trusts (A) 8,370,764 7,251,303
Corporate bonds 860,043 800,659
U.S. Treasury and Government agency securities 1,768,563 1,809,541
Real estate and other 5.342.496 4,365,144

$__ 68,847,357 $__ 59,125,359

(A) This category includes investments in private fund trusts that invest primarily in publicly
traded U.S. Common stocks and bonds and international common stocks. The University
does not have any unfunded commitments to fund these trusts and the investments can be
redeemed at any time.

The amount of assets included in investments that are held for trusts are $7,370,231 and $3,340,927
at April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Note 4: Educational Land, Buildings and Equipment

The cost of educational land, buildings and equipment and depreciable lives are summarized as

follows:
Depreciable
2018 2017 Life — Years
Land $ 6,091,396 $ 6,076,396
Land improvements 11,935,618 11,895,502 20
Buildings 118,661,950 118,043,457 40-175
Equipment 49,353,507 49,040,729 4-10
Construction in progress 2,302,199 686,510
188,344,671 185,742,594
Accumulated depreciation (90,406.070) (86.,456.255)

$__ 97,938,602 $__ 99,286,339

Depreciation expense on educational properties was $4,611,646 and $4,678,701 for the years ended
April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

13
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Note 5: Commercial Land, Buildings and Equipment

Commercial land, buildings and equipment represents assets of University Retirement Centers, Inc.
and the University’s medical facilities. The cost of commercial land, buildings and equipment and
depreciable lives are summarized as follows:

Depreciable
2018 2017 Life — Years
Land $ 115,000 $ 115,000
Land improvements 309,423 309,423 15
Buildings 4,768,886 4,356,402 40-175
Equipment 94,566 88.785 4-10
5,287,875 4,869,610
Accumulated depreciation (3.169.903) (3.053.076)

$ 2,117,972 § 1,816,534

Depreciation expense on commercial properties was $132,289 and $129,716 for the years ended
April 30,2018 and 2017, respectively.

Note 6: Contributions Receivable From Charitable Remainder Trusts

The University has interests in charitable remainder trusts held at an outside trustee in the amount
of $125,516 and $121,051 at April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Contributions are recognized
at the dates the agreements are established and are recorded at the present value of the estimated
future benefits to be received when the assets are distributed to the University. The valuations of
the agreements are calculated using an appropriate discount rate at the time of the gift and
applicable mortality tables, when appropriate. The agreements are revalued annually and any
resulting actuarial gains or losses are reflected in the consolidated statements of activities as a
change in value of split-interest agreements.

Note 7: Beneficial Interest in Perpetual Trust

The University is the beneficiary under a perpetual trust administered by an outside party. Under
the terms of the trust, the University has the irrevocable right to receive income earned on the trust
assets in perpetuity, but never receives the assets held in trust. The estimated value of the expected
future cash flows is $916,997 and $900,454, which represents the fair value of the trust assets at
April 30,2018 and 2017, respectively. The income from this trust for 2018 and 2017 was $46,532
and $43,489, respectively.
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Note 8: Line of Credit

The University has a $10,000,000 revolving line of credit expiring on November 30, 2018. At
April 30,2018 and 2017, there was $0 borrowed against this line. Interest was a fluctuating rate
equal to the bank’s prime rate plus 0.25 percent with the rate not to be less than 4.00 percent (4.00
percent on April 30, 2018 and 2017), and was payable monthly.

Note 9: Derivative Financial Instruments

Variable-to-Fixed Interest Rate Swap

As a strategy to maintain acceptable levels of exposure to the risk of changes in future cash flows
due to interest rate fluctuations, the University entered into an interest rate swap agreement for a
portion of its floating rate debt. The agreement provides for the University to receive interest from
the counterparty at one month LIBOR plus 1.55 percent and to pay interest to the counterparty at a
fixed rate of 3.157 percent on notional amounts of $3,400,000 and $3,700,000 at April 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively. Under the agreement, the University pays or receives the net interest
amount monthly, with the monthly settlements included in interest expense. The fair value of the
swap agreement at April 30, 2018 and 2017, was immaterial.
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Note 10: Debt

Debt obligations consist of the following:

Note payable to PNC Bank, monthly interest payments at rate of
one month LIBOR plus 1.55%, annual principal payments of
$300,000 beginning in May 2016 with a final balloon payment
0f $2,801,113 due in May 2020, secured by gross revenue and
certain property and equipment.

Note payable to Oronoko Township, secured by certain property,
annual payments of $12,500 including interest at 3%.

Note payable to Chemical Bank, secured by certain property,
monthly payments of $11,804 including interest at 3.1% with a
balloon payment of $1,703,857 due in July 2023.

Note payable to Chemical Bank, secured by certain equipment,
monthly payments of $9,027 including interest at a rate of
4.75%. The note matured on March 25, 2018.

Michigan Higher Education Facilities Authority, Revenue Bonds
Series 2010, monthly interest payments at 4.59%. Annual
principal maturities beginning in 2014 and ending in 2031,
secured by property and equipment.

Note payable to Chemical Bank, 3.9%, monthly principal and
interest payments, 4-year amortization.

Less unamortized debt issuance costs

2018 2017
$ 3,400,000 $ 3,700,000
465,272 474272
2,114,440 2,193,553
_ 97,002
10,509,340 11,329,340
199,581 299.322
16,688,632 18,093,489
(48.817) (74.557)
$_ 16,639.815 $__ 18,018,932

The annual maturities of debt obligations at April 30, 2018, are as follows:

Debt

2019 $ 1,312,645
2020 1,300,271
2021 11,759,950
2022 93,338
2023 96,067
Thereafter 2,126,361

$ 16,688,632

Interest expense was $886,470 and $1,014,381 for the years ended April 30, 2018 and 2017,

respectively.
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Note 11: Annuities and Trusts Payable

The University has been the recipient of several gift annuities, which require future payments to the
donor or their named beneficiaries. The assets received from the donor are recorded at fair value.
The University has recorded a liability at April 30, 2018 and 2017, of $491,772 and $486,211,
respectively, which represents the present value of the future annuity obligations. The liability has
been determined using discount rates ranging from 1.4 percent to 10 percent.

The University administers various charitable remainder trusts. A charitable remainder trust
provides for the payment of distributions to the grantor or other designated beneficiaries over the
trust’s term (usually the designated beneficiary’s lifetime). At the end of the trust’s term, the
remaining assets are available for the University’s use. The portion of the trust attributable to the
future interest of the University is recorded in the consolidated statements of activities as with
donor restrictions contributions in the period the trust is established. Assets held in the charitable
remainder trusts are recorded at fair value in the University’s consolidated statements of financial
position. On an annual basis, the University revalues the liability to make distributions to the
designated beneficiaries based on actuarial assumptions. The present value of the estimated future
payments is calculated using discount rates ranging from 3.3 percent to 17.9 percent and applicable
mortality tables.
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Note 12: Net Assets With Donor Restriction

Net assets with donor restrictions at April 30, 2018 and 2017, are restricted for the following

purposes or periods:

Subject to expenditure for specified purpose
Capital and other projects
Departmental expenditures
Other restricted activities
Scholarships and grants

Subject to the passage of time
Beneficial interests in charitable trusts held by others

Endowments
Subject to endowment spending policy or appropriation
Subject to approproriation and expenditure when a
specified event occurs
Restricted by donors for
Educational programs
Scholarships

Not subject to endowment spending policy or appropriation
Interests in perpetual trusts
Annuity and life income funds
Institutional loan funds

Total

Total net assets with donor restrictions

2018 2017
15,165,195  $ 14,536,970
2,553,518 3,071,171
1,601,278 1,025,433
3,244,360 3,475,326
22,564,351 22,108,900
1,401,614 1,109,644
13,407,727 11,221,132
13,303,150 12,286,874
19,635,736 18,253,623
46,346,613 41,761,629
2,400,286 2,337,210
57,980 285,363
519,751 520,270
2,978,017 3,142,843
49,324,630 44,904,472
73,290,595  $ 68,123,016

Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted
purpose or by occurrence of the passage of time or other events specified by the donors as

follows:

Satisfaction of purpose restrictions
Capital
Educational programs
Other projects
Appropriations in accordance with spending policy
Scholarships and grants

2018 2017
1,703,006 $ 205,330
3,010,057 2,211,556
1,091,991 1,052,570
1,821,617 1,687,736
7,626,671 $ 5,157,192
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Note 13: Endowment

The University’s endowment consists of approximately 450 individual funds established for a
variety of purposes. The endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds
designated by the governing body to function as endowments (Board-designated endowment
funds). As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP), net assets associated with endowment funds, including Board-designated endowment
funds, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

The University’s governing body has interpreted the State of Michigan Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act (Michigan UPMIFA) as requiring preservation of the fair value of the
original gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor
stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the University classifies as
permanently restricted net assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment and

(¢) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining
portion of donor-restricted endowment funds is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until
those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the University in a manner consistent with the
standard of prudence prescribed by Michigan UPMIFA. In accordance with Michigan UPMIFA,
the University considers the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or
accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds:

Duration and preservation of the fund
Purposes of the University and the fund
General economic conditions

Possible effect of inflation and deflation

A I S e

Expected total return from investment income and appreciation or depreciation of
investments

a

Other resources of the University

7. Investment policies of the University
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The composition of net assets by type of endowment fund at April 30, 2018 and 2017, was:

2018

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ — $ 46,346,613 $ 46,346,613
Board-designated endowment funds 8,651,668 — 8,651,668
Total endowment funds $ 8,651,668 $ 46,346,613 $_ 54,998,281

2017
Without Donor  With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ — $ 41,761,629 $§ 41,761,629
Board-designated endowment funds 8.148.285 — 8,148,285
Total endowment funds $ 8,148285 $__ 41,761,629 $__ 49,909,914

Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended April 30, 2018 and 2017, were:

2018
Without Donor  With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
Endowment net assets, beginning of year  $ 8,148,285 $§ 41,761,629 $ 49,909,914
Investment return
Investment income 273,878 1,386,513 1,660,391
Net appreciation 711.740 2.605.345 3.317.085
Total investment return 985,618 3,991,858 4,977,476
Contributions — 2,414,743 2,414,743
Appropriation of endowment assets for
expenditure (482,235) (1,821,617) (2,303.852)
Endowment net assets, end of year $ 8,651,668 $ 46,346,613 $_ 54,998,281
2017
Without Donor  With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
Endowment net assets, beginning of year ~ $ 7,586,095 $ 38,521,533 $§ 46,107,628
Investment return
Investment income 199,430 874,266 1,073,696
Net appreciation 650,280 3.480.645 4.130.925
Total investment return 849,710 4,354,911 5,204,621
Contributions — 572,922 572,922
Appropriation of endowment assets for
expenditure (287.520) (1,687.737) (1,975.257)
Endowment net assets, end of year $ 8,148,285 $_ 41,761,629 $__ 49909914
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From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment
funds may fall below the level the University is required to retain as a fund of perpetual duration
pursuant to donor stipulation or Michigan UPMIFA. In accordance with GAAP, deficiencies of
this nature are reported in net assets with donor restrictions. There were no such deficiencies at
April 30,2018 and 2017.

The University has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to
provide a predictable stream of funding to programs and other items supported by its endowment
while seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment. Endowment assets include
those assets of donor-restricted endowment funds the University must hold in perpetuity or for
donor-specified periods, as well as those of Board-designated endowment funds. Under the
University’s policies, endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to produce results
in excess of inflation of 3 percent while assuming a moderate level of investment risk. The
University expects its endowment funds to provide an average rate of return of approximately 6
percent annually over time. Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount.

To satisfy its long-term rate of return objectives, the University relies on a total return strategy in
which investment returns are achieved through both current yield (investment income such as
dividends and interest) and capital appreciation (both realized and unrealized). The University
targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater emphasis on equity-based investments to
achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints.

The University has a policy (the spending policy) of appropriating for expenditure each year up to
5 percent of its endowment fund’s average fair value over the previous three years measured at
fiscal year-end preceding the year in which expenditure is planned. In establishing this policy, the
University considered the long-term expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the long
term, the University expects the current spending policy to allow its endowment to grow at an
average of 3 percent annually. This is consistent with the University’s objective to maintain the
purchasing power of endowment assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term, as well as to
provide additional real growth through new gifts and investment return.
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Note 14: Liquidity and Availability

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions
limiting their use, within one year of April 30, 2018, comprise the following:

2018

Cash and cash equivalents $ (11,647,961)
Accounts receivable 11,123,023
Notes receivable 53,000
Other receivables 89,521
Inventory for resale 1,104,100
Investments 1,580,220
Appropriations from the endowment in accordance

with the spending policy 1,402,995
Distributions from beneficial interests in perpetual trusts 45,000
Financial assets available to meet cash needs for general
expenditures within one year $ 3,749,898

The University’s endowment funds consist of donor-restricted endowments and funds designated
by the Board as endowments. Income from donor-restricted endowments is restricted for specific
purposes, with the exception of the amounts available for general use. Donor-restricted
endowment funds are not available for general expenditure.

The Board-designated endowment of $8,651,668 as of April 30, 2018, is subject to an annual
spending rate of approximately 4 percent as described in Note 13. Although the University does
not intend to spend from this Board-designated endowment (other than amounts appropriated for
general expenditure as part of the Board’s annual budget approval and appropriation), these
amounts could be made available if necessary. To help manage unanticipated liquidity needs, the
University has a committed line of credit in the amount of $10,000,000, which it could draw upon.

The University manages its liquidity and reserves following three guiding principles: operating
within a prudent range of financial soundness and stability, maintaining adequate liquid assets to
fund near-term operating needs and maintaining sufficient reserves to provide reasonable assurance
that long-term obligations will be discharged. The University has a policy to target a year-end
balance of reserves of unrestricted, undesignated net assets to meet 15 to 30 days of expected
expenditures. To achieve these targets, the University forecasts its future cash flows and monitors
its liquidity quarterly, and monitors its reserves annually. During the year ended April 30, 2018,
the level of liquidity and reserves was managed within the policy requirements.

Note 15: Employee Benefit Plans

Prior to January 1, 2000, Andrews University participated in a multiemployer, noncontributory
defined benefit retirement plan known as the “Seventh-day Adventist Retirement Plan for North
America.” In November 1999, the General Conference of Seventh-day Adventists’ North
American Division Committee voted to freeze accumulated service credit under the defined benefit
plan as of December 31, 1999, and approved a new defined contribution plan to be effective
January 1, 2000.

22



Andrews University

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
April 30, 2018 and 2017

As of January 1, 2000, the University participates in a defined contribution retirement plan known
as “The Adventist Retirement Plan.” The Adventist Retirement Plan covers substantially all
nonstudent employees. The plan is administered by the General Conference of Seventh-day
Adventists in Silver Spring, Maryland and is exempt from the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) as a multiple-employer plan of a church-related agency.
Contributions to the plan are based on a stated percentage of each employee’s earnings and a stated
matching percentage of certain employee contributions. Contributions to the plan for the years
ended April 30, 2018 and 2017, were $2,626,612 and $2,600,149, respectively. Investment
management of the accumulated contributions designated for each employee is provided under an
agreement between the General Conference and AIG Retirement.

The University will continue to make contributions (at a reduced rate) to the defined benefit plan
and certain employees will continue to be eligible for future benefits under the old plan. The plan
is administered by the General Conference of Seventh-day Adventists in Silver Spring, Maryland,
and is exempt from ERISA as a multiple-employer plan for a church-related agency. Contributions
to the plan are based on a stipulated percentage of nonstudent employee payroll determined by the
General Conference, effective January 1 of each year. Effective rates as of January 1 and amounts
paid were as follows:

2018 2017

Effective rate 7.45% 7.45%
Total contributions $ 2,674,220  $ 2,651,508

The plan meets the definition of a multiemployer plan as defined by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board. As such, it is not required, nor is it possible, to determine the actuarial present
value of accumulated benefits or plan net asset for employees of Andrews University.

Note 16: Commitments and Contingencies

Self Insurance

The University has elected to act as a self-insurer for certain costs related to employee health and
accident benefit programs. The University has purchased insurance, which limits its exposure per
person to $275,000. In addition, the University has purchased stop-loss insurance with a $265,000
aggregate deductible for all claims exceeding $275,000.

Contributions
Approximately 14 percent of the University’s private contribution revenue for the year ended

April 30, 2018, was from one donor. Approximately 13 percent of the University’s private
contribution revenue for the year ended April 30, 2017, was from one donor.
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Note 17: Related Party Transactions

The University is affiliated with the Seventh-day Adventist denomination. Significant transactions
occur between the University and various other Seventh-day Adventist organizations. Total
revenue and other support received from these related parties amounted to approximately 13
percent and 15 percent of the University’s total revenue in 2018 and 2017, respectively. Revenue
and other support received from related parties for the year ended April 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, are as follows:

2018 2017
General Conference $ 5,555,799 $ 5,551,789
North American Division 3,255,800 3,155,604
Lake Union Conference 3,188,954 3,117,673
Other conferences and organizations 781.065 796,333
Total $ 12,781,618 $ 12,621,399

Included in accounts and notes receivable on the consolidated statements of financial position are
the following amounts due from/(to) related parties at April 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Lake Union Conference $ 260,490 $ 253,957
North American Division Conference 30,921 —
General Conference (938,501) (305,523)
Employees 644,120 745,293

During the year ended 2014, the University extended a promissory note to University Retirement
Centers, Inc. The note had a balance of $2,215,921 and $2,262,839 at April 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Interest on the note is fixed at 4.7 percent with monthly principal and interest
payments due through September 2041. The note is eliminated in consolidation.

The University invests in various equity and fixed income fund trusts of the General Conference of
Seventh-day Adventists. At April 30,2018 and 2017, amounts invested were $44,644,555 and
$40,974,679 in the equity fund trusts and $5,184,708 and $5,362,167 in the fixed income fund
trusts, respectively.

Note 18: Risks and Uncertainties

The University invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to
various risks such as interest rate, market and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with
certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of
investment securities will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the
investment amounts reported in the consolidated statements of financial position.
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General Litigation

The University is subject to claims and lawsuits that arise primarily in the ordinary course of
business. It is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate resolution of such claims
and lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results
of operations and cash flows of the University.

Note 19: Disclosures About Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. There is a
hierarchy of three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2  Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets
or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities

Level 3  Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are
significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities

25



Andrews University

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
April 30, 2018 and 2017

Recurring Measurements

The following tables present the fair value measurements of assets recognized in the accompanying
consolidated statements of financial position measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the
level within the fair value hierarchy in which the fair value measurements fall at April 30, 2018 and
2017:

2018
Fair Value Measurements Using
Quoted Prices  Significant

in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments
Cash equivalents - money
market mutual funds $ 3,524,582 $ 3,524,582  $ — 3 —
Equity fund trusts
Large capitalization
funds 14,116,708 — 14,116,708 —
Small and mid-
capitalization funds 6,387,003 — 6,387,003 —
International and
emerging markets 25,229,146 — 25,229,146 —
Commodity fund 152,108 — 152,108 —
Common stocks 3,095,942 3,095,942 — —
Fixed income mutual
funds and trusts 8,370,764 — 8,370,764 —
Corporate bonds 860,042 — 860,042 —
U.S. Treasury and
Government agency
securities 1,768,562 — 1,768,562 —
Real estate and other 5,342,495 — — 5,342,495
Contributions Receivable
From Remainder Trusts 125,516 — — 125,516
Beneficial Interest in
Perpetual Trust 916,997 — — 916,997
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2017
Fair Value Measurements Using
Quoted Prices  Significant

in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments
Cash equivalents - money
market mutual funds $ 714,666 $ 714,666 $ — 3 —
Equity fund trusts
Large capitalization
funds 13,029,538 — 13,029,538 —
Small and mid-
capitalization funds 5,331,533 — 5,331,533 —
International and
emerging markets 23,024,320 — 23,024,320 —
Commodity fund 175,968 — 175,968 —
Common stocks 2,609,376 2,609,376 — —
Fixed income mutual
funds and trusts 7,251,303 — 7,251,303 —
Corporate bonds 800,659 — 800,659 —
U.S. Treasury and
Government agency
securities 1,809,541 — 1,809,541 —
Real estate and other 4,365,144 — — 4,365,144
Contributions Receivable
From Remainder Trusts 121,051 — — 121,051
Beneficial Interest in
Perpetual Trust 900,454 — — 900,454

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies and inputs used for assets measured at
fair value on a recurring basis and recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of
financial position, as well as the general classification of such assets pursuant to the valuation
hierarchy. There have been no significant changes in the valuation techniques during the year
ended April 30, 2018. For assets classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the process
used to develop fair value is described below. The University has no liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis. Additionally, the University has no assets or liabilities measured at fair
value on a nonrecurring basis.

Investments

Where quoted market prices are available in an active market, securities are classified within
Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. For investments other than nonexchange-traded fund trusts, if
quoted market prices are not available, then fair values are estimated by using quoted prices of
securities with similar characteristics or independent asset pricing services and pricing models, the
inputs of which are market-based or independently sourced market parameters, including, but not
limited to, yield curves, interest rates, volatilities, prepayments, defaults, cumulative loss
projections and cash flows. Such securities are classified in Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.
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For the nonexchange-traded fund trusts that have sufficient activity or liquidity within the fund, fair
value is determined using the net asset value (or its equivalent) provided by the fund and are
classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. In certain cases where Level 1 or Level 2
inputs are not available, securities are classified within Level 3 of the hierarchy and include
primarily investments in real estate. These investments are valued based on an independent third-
party appraisal. See table below for inputs and valuation techniques used for Level 3 securities.

Fair value determinations for Level 3 measurements of securities are the responsibility of the
University. The University uses outside parties to obtain fair value estimates on a monthly or
quarterly basis. The University challenges the reasonableness of the assumptions used and reviews
the methodology to ensure the estimated fair value complies with accounting standards generally
accepted in the United States.

Contributions Receivable From Remainder Trusts

Fair value is estimated at the present value of the future assets expected to be received from the
trust upon dissolution. Due to the nature of the valuation inputs, the interest is classified within
Level 3 of the hierarchy.

Beneficial Interest in Perpetual Trust

Fair value is estimated at the present value of the future distributions expected to be received over
the term of the agreement. Due to the nature of the valuation inputs, the interest is classified within
Level 3 of the hierarchy.

Fair value determinations for Level 3 measurements of interests in trusts are the responsibility of
the University. The University obtains valuation from third parties as needed to generate fair value
estimates. The University reviews the methodology to ensure the estimated fair value complies
with accounting standards generally accepted in the United States.
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Level 3 Reconciliation

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of recurring fair value
measurements recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position using
significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs:

Contributions

Receivable
From Beneficial
Real Estate and Remainder Interest in
Other Trusts Perpetual Trust
Balance, May 1, 2016 $ 4,510,292 112,171  § 853,356
Total realized and unrealized gains
included in change in net assets 16,681 8,880 90,587
Distributions (161,829) — (43.489)
Balance, April 30,2017 4,365,144 121,051 900,454
Total realized and unrealized gains
included in change in net assets 34,034 4,465 63,076
Purchases 1,604,745 — —
Distributions (661.428) — (46.533)
Balance, April 30, 2018 $ 5,342,495 125,516 $ 916,997

All realized and unrealized gains included in change in net assets for 2018 and 2017 are

attributable to assets still held at the reporting date.

Unobservable (Level 3) Inputs

The following tables present quantitative information about unobservable inputs used in recurring

Level 3 fair value measurements:

Fair Value at Valuation Unobservable
April 30,2018 Technique Inputs Range
Discount rates
Contributions receivable Discounted Mortality
from remainder trust $ 125,516 cash flows assumptions (*) 1.2%-3.0%
Beneficial interest in Discounted
perpetual trusts 916,997 cash flows Portfolio returns 3.5%-6.5%
Discount rates 3.5%-6.0%
Market
comparable Comparability
Real estate and other 5,342,495 properties adjustments (%) N/AN
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Fair Value at

Valuation
Technique

Unobservable
Inputs

Range

April 30, 2017
Contributions receivable
from remainder trust $ 121,051
Beneficial interest in
perpetual trusts 900,454
Real estate and other 4,365,144

Discounted
cash flows

Discounted
cash flows

Market
comparable
properties

Discount rates
Mortality
assumptions (*)

Portfolio returns
Discount rates

Comparability
adjustments (%)

* Based on the ages of designated beneficiaries in the trust instruments

1.2%-3.0%

3.5%-6.5%
3.5%-6.0%

N/AN

~ The range is not disclosed because of the varied range of potential values as a result of the

diverse type of investments

Note 20: Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through August 3, 2018, which is the date of the financial

statements were available to be issued.

In June 2018, the Board of Trustees approved the closure of the Andrews University Dairy Farm by

July 2019.
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Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended April 30, 2018

Pass-
Through
Federal Entity Total
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through CFDA Identifying Passed Through Federal
Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Number Number  to Subrecipients Expenditures

U.S. Department of Education
Student Financial Assistance

Cluster
Federal Perkins Loans 84.038 $ — $ 2,630,290
Federal Work-Study Program 84.033 — 245,298

Federal Supplemental
Educational Opportunity

Grants 84.007 — 182,429
Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063 — 2,000,794
Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268 — 23.913,225
Total student financial
assistance cluster — 28,972,036
Other Federal Awards
U.S. Department of Agriculture
Pass through Michigan
Department of Education

Child Nutrition Cluster
National School Lunch

Program 10.555 171960 — 10,154
Total Child Nutrition
Cluster — 10,154
Child and Adult Care Food
Program 10.558 171920 — 8,427
Child and Adult Care Food
Program 10.558 172010 — 1,319
Child and Adult Care Food
Program 10.558 181920 — 11,107
Child and Adult Care Food
Program 10.558 182010 — 1,592
Total Child and Adult
Care Food Program — 22.445
Total Department of
Agriculture — 32,599

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Schedule
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Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year Ended April 30, 2018

Federal
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through CFDA
Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Number

Pass-
Through
Entity
Identifying Passed Through

Total
Federal

Number to Subrecipients Expenditures

National Science Foundation
Research and Development
Cluster
Mathematical and Physical
Sciences 47.049
Pass through Auburn
University

Geosciences 47.050

Summer Undergraduate
Research Fellowship 11.320

Engineering Science 47.041
Pass through Embry-Riddle
Aeronautical University

Science: Ceoss-Scale Wave

Coupling Processes In
Kelvin-Helmholtz
Structures in the
Magnetospheric Boundary
Layer 43.001
Science - Heliosperic
Supporting Research
Program - Living with the
Star 43.001
Science - Heliosperic
Supporting Research
Program - Living with the
Star 43.001
Total Research and
Development Cluster
Total other federal
awards
Total federal
expenditures

DMS-1407040 $ —

14-PHY-
2200499-AU —
70NANB17HO
63 —
CBET-
1706597 —
NASA —
NNX16AR10G 52,272
NNX16AQ87
G 89.871
142,143
142,143
S 142,143

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Schedule

$ 39,761

55,050

9,202

22,382

283

85,994

143,616

356,288

388.887

$_29,360,923

32



Andrews University

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended April 30, 2018

Notes to Schedule

1. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (Schedule) includes the federal
award activity of Andrews University under programs of the federal government for the year
ended April 30, 2018. The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Schedule. The
information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents
only a selected portion of the operations of Andrews University, it is not intended to and does not
present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of Andrews University.

2. Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance,
wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.
Andrews University has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed
under the Uniform Guidance.

3. The federal loan program listed subsequently is administered directly by Andrews University, and
balances and transactions relating to this program are included in Andrews University’s
consolidated financial statements. Loans outstanding at the beginning of the year and loans made
during the year are included in the federal expenditures presented in the Schedule. The balance
of loans outstanding at April 30, 2018, consists of:

Outstanding Balance at
CFDA Number Program Name April 30, 2018

84.038 Federal Perkins Loans $ 2,311,895
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With
Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditor’s Report

Board of Trustees
Andrews University
Berrien Springs, Michigan

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Sandards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial
statements of Andrews University (University), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as of April 30, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional
expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated August 3, 2018. Our report includes a reference
to other auditors who audited the financial statements of University Retirement Centers, Inc. Those
financial statements, which are included in the University’s consolidated financial statements, were
not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. Our report also includes an
emphasis of matter paragraph regarding the adoption of a new accounting standard.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University's
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
University's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
University’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the University's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not
identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Praxity:
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University's consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could
have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Sandards.

Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
University's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in

accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the University's internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

BED Lwp

Fort Wayne, Indiana
August 3, 2018
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Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Independent Auditor's Report

Board of Trustees
Andrews University
Berrien Springs, Michigan

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Andrews University's (University) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material
effect on its major federal program for the year ended April 30, 2018. The University's major federal
program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs.

Management’ s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor’ s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the University's major federal program
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform
Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct
and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence about the University's compliance with those requirements and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the University's
compliance.

Opinion on Major Federal Program
In our opinion, Andrews University complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance

requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal
programs for the year ended April 30, 2018.
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of the University is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning
and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the University's internal control over
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on the major
federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for the major federal program and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control
over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our

testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

BED Lwp

Fort Wayne, Indiana
August 3, 2018
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Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended April 30, 2018

Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Satements

1. The type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements audited were prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP)
was (were):

X] Unmodified [ ] Qualified [ ] Adverse [ ] Disclaimer

2. The independent auditor’s report on internal control over financial reporting disclosed:

Significant deficiency(ies)? []Yes <] None reported
Material weakness(es)? []Yes X No

3.  Noncompliance considered material to the financial statements
was disclosed by the audit? []Yes X] No

Federal Awards

4. The independent auditor’s report on internal control over compliance for major federal awards
programs disclosed:

Significant deficiency(ies)? [] Yes X] None reported
Material weakness(es)? [ Yes X No
5. The opinion(s) expressed in the independent auditor’s report on compliance for major federal awards
was (were):
[X] Unmodified [ ] Qualified [ ] Adverse [ ] Disclaimer
6. The audit disclosed findings required to be reported by 2 CFR 200.516(a)?
|:| Yes |Z No
7.  The University’s major program was:
Cluster/Program CFDA Number
Student Financial Assistance Cluster 84.038, 84.033, 84.007, 84.063
and 84.268
8. The threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs was $750,000.
9.  The University qualified as a low-risk auditee? [ ] Yes X No
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Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
Year Ended April 30, 2018

Findings Required to be Reported by Government Auditing Standards

Reference
Number Finding

No matters are reportable.

Findings Required to be Reported by the Uniform Guidance

Reference
Number Finding

No matters are reportable.
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Summary Schedule of Prior Year Audit Findings
Year Ended April 30, 2018

Reference
Number Summary of Finding Status
2017-001 Federal Program — Department of Education, Student Resolved

Financial Assistance Cluster; Federal Pell Grant Program,
CFDA 84.063; Federal Direct Loan Program, CFDA 84.268,
Federal Perkins Loan Program, CFDA 84.038.

Program Year — May 1, 2016 — April 30, 2017

Criteria or Specific Requirement — Special Tests and
Provisions— Enrollment Reporting — Under the Pell grant
and loan programs, colleges must complete and return within
30 days the Enrollment Reporting roster file. Once received,
the institution must update for changes in student status,
report the date the enrollment status was effective, enter the
new anticipated completion date and submit the changes
electronically through the batch method or the NSLDS web
site. Institutions are responsible for timely reporting,
whether they report directly or via a third-party servicer.
Unless the school expects to complete its next roster within
60 days, the college must notify the lender or the guaranty
agency within 30 days, if it discovers that a student who
received a loan either did not enroll or ceased to be enrolled
on at least a half-time basis. (FPL, 34 CFR Section 674.19;
Pell, 34 CFR Section 690.83(b)(2); Direct Loan, 34 CFR
Section 685.309).

Condition — Notification of the student status change
(graduated, withdrew, less than half-time) did not reach the
NSLDS within the required timeframe.

Questioned Costs — None.

Context — Out of a sample of 25 students from a population of
289 students who had changes in status during the year,
NSLDS was not provided timely notification for four of the
student status changes reviewed. Our sample was not, and
was not intended to be, statistically valid.

Effect — NSLDS did not contain current information with
respect to the student status of some students.

Cause — Information between the Clearinghouse and NSLDS
was not updated timely. This could have been a result of the
University’s data files not including the most recent
information upon submission to the Clearinghouse.
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Andrews University
Board Policies Manual

Section 1.0—Introduction

The Board Policy Manual (the “Manual”) gives trustees an opportunity to define and understand
the way the Board will operate in order to:

provide good governance

make fair and ethical decisions in the best interest of the institution

ensure that its deliberations reflect the priorities of the internal and external
constituencies of the institution

delegate day-to-day management to the president (with faculty participation on academic
matters)

ensure that the institution, its faculty, staff and students seek knowledge honestly and
apply it responsibly.

To facilitate these goals, the Manual contains all of the current, standing policies adopted by the
Board and provides the executive parameters for decision-making in support of the mission of
Andrews University. The trustees have established and approved the Manual to improve
efficiency, promote accountability, provide trustees with easy access to board policies, and
provide clear guidance to University administration. The Manual is expected to promote the
University’s effective service to the Seventh-day Adventist Church.

1.1 Explanation of how the Manual relates to other governing documents

The Manual must be consistent with, and subservient to, applicable law and the
University’s articles of incorporation and bylaws. The Manual supersedes all other
University documents (including the Andrews University Working Policy) and any such
documents must be consistent with, and subservient to, the Manual. The president is
responsible for developing organizational and administrative policies which are
consistent with the Manual.

If any policy adopted by trustees at a previous Board meeting appears to be in conflict
with the Manual, the Manual shall supersede any such policy. Discrete documents
referred to in the Manual should be kept in a board reference book.

1.2 Explanation of how the Manual will be changed/updated

The Manual is meant to be reviewed regularly and revised frequently. It can be revised at
any time, but only by a majority vote of trustees.

Any Board action which would change the Manual must specify that the Manual would
be changed as a result of the action.
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Trustees may wish to refer suggested revisions to the Board’s governance committee, but
revisions are not required to first go through the committee. The Board’s governance
committee, whether or not receiving a reference from trustees, should review the Manual
at least once each calendar year.

Section 2.0—University Essentials
2.1 Statement of University mission and vision
2.1.1 Mission Statement

Andrews University, a distinctive Seventh-day Adventist Christian institution,
transforms its students by educating them to seek knowledge and affirm faith in
order to change the world.

2.1.2 Vision Statement

Andrews University, a distinctive Seventh-day Adventist Christian institution,
stands at the center of Adventist intellectual life as it demonstrates the
transformative power of faith and learning, excellence through diversity,
collaborative scholarship, leadership development, and generous service. As such,
Andrews University aspires to be a great university, which will be the Seventh-
day Adventist university of choice for students, parents and employees alike, as it
educates men and women who will demonstrate their faith by utilizing scholarly
competencies and leadership skills to transform local and global communities.

2.2 Statement of Board goals/priorities

Trustees seek to govern a financially sound university that fulfills its mission. The
University should remain an internationally and domestically diverse institution, which
complements and advances the mission of the Seventh-day Adventist Church. Trustees
are to reflect the institution’s priorities in their deliberations and are to secure human and
financial resources that enable the University’s long-term stability and growth.

Section 3.0—Board Organization
3.1 Explanation of Board structure

The Board is comprised of up to 41 trustees. Up to 20 trustees are officials of the
Seventh-day Adventist Church; and up to another 20 trustees are “lay” trustees (“not
primarily employed by the Seventh-day Adventist Church and representing a wide range
of professional and business interests relevant to the mission of the University”). The sole
trustee who is an employee of the University is the University’s president. Additional
details of the structure of the Board of Trustees can be found in the university’s bylaws.
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3.2 Explanation of processes for Board meetings

The Board typically meets three times per year. The chair, vice chair(s), and secretary
create the agenda. Any trustee who wishes to place a matter on the agenda should contact
one of the Board officers. Materials for reading by the trustees will be sent at least 7 days
before the relevant committee takes place. Minutes from the Board and its sub-
committees will be published within 7 days of the completion of the relevant meeting.

33 Statement of Board’s philosophy of governance

The Board shall emphasize forward-thinking vision and exercise strategic leadership. To
accomplish this, the Board shall:

3.3.1 Enforce upon itself and its trustees discipline to govern with excellence.
Discipline shall include: attendance, respect for clarified roles,' speaking
with one voice, and self-policing any straying from the governance
structure or processes adopted in this Manual;

3.3.2 Monitor and regularly discuss the Board’s own processes and
performance, including revisions to this Manual;

3.3.3 Encourage diversity of viewpoints;

3.3.4 Select, evaluate and, if necessary, terminate the president of Andrews
University and determine the parameters within which the president is
expected to lead;

3.3.5 Monitor the performance of Andrews University relative to the
achievement of its mission and institutional strategic plan;

3.3.6 Ensure financial solvency and integrity through policies and behavior
regarding budget review and approval and investment policies, among
others;

3.3.7 Require periodic financial and other external audits to ensure compliance
with the law and good practices; and

3.3.8 Engage in an annual self-assessment of board effectiveness.

3.4  Board leadership

3.4.1 The Board chair is elected by trustees at the first Board meeting following
a quinquennial meeting of Members. Persons eligible to be elected as
Board chair are the General Conference president, secretary and treasurer,
and the trustees who are appointed by the General Conference executive
officers. The Board chair manages the Board and maintains the integrity of
the Board’s processes. This includes communicating with sub-committee

! This shall include respect for Board officers (chair, vice chair(s), and secretary) and University officers (president,
provost, treasurer, and secretary). The Board should not interfere with the management of the University, which is
accomplished by University administration under the leadership of the president.



34.2

343

AU Board Policies Manual
Board revised ~ March 5, 2017
Page 4 of 12

chairs to ensure the work of the Board is proceeding according to the
expectations outlined in this manual.

The president of the Lake Union Conference of Seventh-day Adventists
shall serve as a Board vice chair. Trustees may elect one or more
additional Board vice chairs at the first Board meeting following a
quinquennial meeting of Members. Any trustee not already holding a
Board office is eligible to be elected as a Board vice chair. A Board vice
chair shall fill the role of the Board chair when the Board chair is not able
to do so and shall otherwise consult with the Board chair and Board
secretary on matters dealing with Board management.

The president of Andrews University shall serve as the Board secretary.
The Board secretary shall issue notices, communicate with trustees, take
minutes of meetings, and maintain Board documents and records,
including this Manual.

3.5  Information on Board meetings

3.5.1

3.5.2

The Board typically meets three times a year (generally October, March
and June). This schedule coincides with times when important time-
sensitive plans, decisions and reviews occur. Although the Board may take
up any matter at any meeting, the Board typically will focus: (a) in
October, on audited financial statements for the previous fiscal year and
budget assumptions for the following fiscal year; (b) in March, approving
the budget and reviewing any proposed changes in the educational
services and programs; and (c) in June, approving new faculty, staff and
administration and reviewing unaudited financial reports.

Each Board meeting shall be evaluated. Typically, this is accomplished
through an instrument furnished by the Board’s governance committee.
The governance committee has the responsibility of reviewing the
evaluation instruments and making recommendations either to
administration or to the Board leadership for more effective meetings.

3.6  Description of Board committees

3.6.1

Annual Board decisions, along with all matters coming before the Board,
are prepared by a series of Board committees. These committees help the
Board to be effective and efficient; they speak to the Board and not for the
Board. Some Board committees are required in the University’s bylaws
whereas other committees are established by the Board for its
convenience. Each Board committee is chaired (or co-chaired) by a trustee
and the membership is composed of trustees and such other individuals
from within or without the campus as appointed by the Board. A relevant
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University administrator serves as secretary and staff support person to the
Board committee.

The responsibility of the Board committees is to review matters on the
Board agenda in detail before the agenda item comes to the Board for
consideration and vote. While trustees may ask questions and engage in
discussion of the agenda items, it will normally hold the Board committee
responsible for detailed analysis and take seriously the recommendation of
the committees and generally approve these recommendations with only
brief summary review of the matter. The purpose of the committees is to
expedite the work of the Board while making certain that each agenda
item has received careful consideration by trustees assigned to do so.

The committees and their assignments are as follows. For current
membership see Appendix A.

3.6.3.1 Executive Committee. The Board’s executive committee has the
authority to act for the Board on all matters so long as the
executive committee determines that it would be beneficial to act
prior to the next Board meeting and so long as the Board has not
reserved to itself the sole authority to act on a given issue. The
executive committee shall report all its actions to the Board and
the Board shall ratify, or undo, all executive committee actions.
This committee is not currently constituted because there are
now ways to accomplish emergency meetings by the full Board.

3.6.3.2  University Operations & Finance Committee (Finance
Committee). The Board’s University operations and finance
committee serves as a strategic budgetary and financial planning
committee with authority to make recommendations to the Board
in the development and implementation of financial policies and
procedures for the University.

3.6.3.3 Audit and Risk Management Committee. The Board’s audit and
risk management committee reviews audit, risk management and
compliance issues involving the University and makes
recommendations to the Board regarding policies and actions
necessary to address any issues identified in an audit. The audit and
risk management committee recommends to the Board which
external auditor to retain.

3.6.3.4 Governance Committee. The Board’s governance committee
provides leadership and oversight relative to governance issues
facing the Board and University. Among other responsibilities,
the committee shall: assist the relevant church executive officers
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and the Members’ nominating committee in identifying and
recruiting qualified persons to be appointed as trustees prior to
the time of the quinquennial meeting and establish and
implement annual performance standards and evaluation tools for
the president, individual trustees, and the full Board of Trustees.
For the current evaluation instruments in use, see Appendix B.

Strategic Planning Committee. The Board’s strategic planning
committee works in partnership with the University’s strategic
planning efforts to determine priorities and processes that
ensures a strategic approach to the University’s future.

Students, Leadership & Spirituality Committee. The Board’s
students, leadership & spirituality committee addresses issues
surrounding the quality and quantity of students and the holistic
student experience with emphasis on their faith development.
The committee receives reports and engages in dialogue with key
student leaders, student life administrators, and faculty and staff
prior to developing recommendations for action to the Board.

Academic Programs & Educational Services Committee. The
Board’s academic programs & educational services committee
develops and recommends to the Board those policies pertaining
to personnel/faculty, academic programs and degrees, and
learning outcome assessment.

Compensation Committee. The purpose of the Board
compensation committee is to provide oversight, monitoring, an
annual audit (to insure compliance with the General Conference
alternative wage plan) and planning for compensation
management at the University for the Board. The committee
reviews management’s compensation goals and plans and
recommends to the University Board support of or changes to the
compensation structure proposed by the University.

Seminary Executive Committee. The seminary executive
committee recommends to the Board matters pertaining to
personnel, programs and degrees, and the budget for the Seventh-
day Adventist Theological Seminary.

President’s Council. The president’s council is comprised of
some trustees and committed University friends and donors. The
council advises the Board, the president and other administrative
and faculty leaders on strategies for the long-term development
of Andrews as it relates to programs, facilities and finance.
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3.7 Conduct of Trustees

3.7.1 The Board expects of itself, and each trustee, ethical and professional
conduct. Trustees must understand, engage in, and support the mission of
the Seventh-day Adventist Church.

3.7.2 Trustees are expected to prepare for Board meetings, to attend Board
meetings and other Board-related obligations, and to champion the
University in the fulfillment of its mission. Trustees must at all times be
loyal to the interests of Andrews University.

3.7.3 Every trustee shall be a donor of record in each calendar year, giving in
accordance with the trustee’s means.

3.7.4 Trustees must avoid any conflict of interest with respect to their fiduciary
responsibility and disclose conflicts as they arise. There must be no self-
dealing or any conduct of private business or personal services between
any trustee and Andrews University except as procedurally controlled to
assure openness, competitive opportunity, and equal access to “inside”
information. Each trustee must annually complete and sign a Conflict of
Interest statement.

3.8  Any Board organizational item that is not addressed specifically in this Manual
shall be left to the Board chair to determine.

Section 4.0—Board Relationships and Parameters
4.1 Explanation of how Board relates to the president
4.1.1 Role of president

4.1.1.1 The president is the chief executive officer. The president is
tasked with leading the University so that it carries out the
strategic vision of the Board. In general, the president supervises
and controls the business and affairs of the University, including
all its academic functions. The president accomplishes the will of
the Board through implementation of Board-approved policies.

4.1.1.2 The president shall keep the Board informed about matters
essential to carrying out trustees’ duties. The President shall:
(a) Inform the Board of relevant trends, anticipated adverse
media coverage, and material external and internal changes,
particularly changes in the assumptions upon which any
Board policy has previously been established;
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(b) Relate to the Board as a whole except when fulfilling
reasonable individual requests for information or responding
to Board officers or committees duly charged by the Board;
and

(c) Promptly report to the Board chair any actual or anticipated
material noncompliance with a policy of the Board.

The president shall ensure that institutional strategic plans are
developed and approved by the Board.

4.1.2 Evaluation of president

Evaluation of the president’s leadership and performance is an ongoing
responsibility of the Board. Annual reviews of the president’s leadership and
performance shall be conducted by the Board and initiated by the Board chair.
More thorough “performance evaluations” of the president shall be conducted at
least every three years. A part of the president’s evaluation shall include
consideration of the achievement of institutional goals and objectives.

4.1.3 Presidential succession/search

4.1.3.1

4.13.2

When a successor president is needed, the Board will establish a
13-person presidential search committee. The search committee
will consist of: the Board chair, the president of the Lake Union
Conference of Seventh-day Adventists, four additional trustees,
one University student, one University alumni representative,
one University staff member, and four University faculty
members.

Although input and involvement from the University faculty and
staff is helpful and desired in the selection of both search
committee members and the president, the appointment of a
search committee, and the selection of a president, is the Board’s
prerogative and responsibility.

4.1.4 Statement of how Board relates to/interacts with University staff

4.1.4.1

As a general principle the Board governs and the University
administration and staff, working through the president,
administer the institution on behalf of the Board. For example,
the Board established the mission of the University, but hires a
president, administration, faculty and staff to carry it out.
Strategies designed to implement that vision are generally
developed by the University administration working with faculty
and staff. These strategies are reviewed and approved by the
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Board, which in turn asks administration to put them in
operation.

4.1.4.2 The president of Andrews University is appointed by the Board
at the first Board meeting following a quinquennial meeting of
Members; at this meeting, upon the recommendation of the
president, the Board also confirms the provost, treasurer, and
secretary of the Corporation. These four officers serve at the
pleasure of the Board. All University administrators, faculty, and
staff are accountable to the president (often through other
administrators/supervisors). Trustees do not direct the work of
University employees other than the president.

Section 5.0—Executive Parameters and Policies

This section contains the policies which the trustees have provided to guide or limit the
administrative authority of the president and the University staff.

5.1 General parameter. The president and the University staff shall do nothing immoral,
illegal or imprudent.

5.2 Student Life policies

5.2.1

522

The president and University staff shall recruit, admit and guide students
in a manner which maintains a campus lifestyle which meets the
expectations of the Seventh-day Adventist Church

The University’s student life program shall promote Adventist/Biblical
values

5.3 Academic policies

53.1

532

533

The Board periodically shall review and approve the educational mission
of the University with special attention to the biblical worldview and
philosophy of Adventist education as it comes to expression through the
variety and complexity of contemporary teaching and research in a
comprehensive university.

The Board shall vote to add or close academic programs, majors and
degrees. The decisions to approve new programs and close existing
programs shall consider the University’s mission and performance
indicators of the programs in question.

The Board shall review and approve major changes to the academic
administration and organization in the University, including establishment
of new schools, departments and or services, as well as the appointment of
academic deans of schools, directors of departments and divisions and the
leaders of the academic support services, e.g. library, records.



534

535

53.6

5.3.7

AU Board Policies Manual
Board revised ~ March 5, 2017
Page 10 of 12

The Board shall approve the appointments, as recommended through the
offices of the deans and provost, of all faculties along with academic
promotions and continuous appointment recommendations for the faculty.
The Board shall review, advise on and approve the academic strategic plan
for the University dealing with teaching effectiveness and learning
outcomes. The Board at regular intervals shall hear and become
acquainted with reports on performance indicators responding to federal
and regional regulations.

The Board shall become informed about regional and national
accreditation standards and their impact on the University. It shall receive
reports on the outcome of the University’s application/re-application for
accreditation, and trustees shall participate in the accreditation site visits
as expected by the accrediting agencies (generally that means attending
meetings with the campus accreditation visitors).

The Board may delegate any of the above noted obligations to the
academic affairs committee, provided it hears and approves a report and
recommendations from that committee.

5.4 Audit policies

54.1

542

Each year, the University’s financial operations shall be audited by an
external auditor.

The Board shall review and select, upon recommendation from the audit
committee, the University’s external auditor at least every five years.

5.5 Financial policies

5.5.1
552

553

554

555

5.5.6

The university fiscal year shall be from May 1 to April 30.

Accurate financial reports, actual to budget, shall be made at each Board
meeting.

The budget process shall include the following: the president works with
campus administrators to prepare a budget that has an appropriate gain,
sets appropriate tuition and fee levels, provides for adequate remuneration
and working capital, manages debt, and capital funds needed to keep the
campus, its facilities and equipment in good order; the president, through
the vice president for financial administration, presents the budget to the
finance and operations committee for approval; the finance and operations
committee recommends the budget to the Board for approval.

The president and University staff shall manage the annual University
operations within the approved budget.

Capital expenditures from $100,000 to $250,000 are to be approved by the
finance committee; capital expenditures exceeding $250,000 are to be
approved by the Board.

The president shall establish and recommend financial goals to the Board
through the vice president for financial administration. The currently-
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established annual goals include: increase net assets by a minimum of $2.5
million, increase cash by $2.5 million, spend any net increase in net assets
for capital expenditures, reduce debt by a minimum of $1 million, and
move toward achieving faculty and staff remuneration levels at the 40th
percentile of comparable universities. The annual University budget shall
provide for an operational gain of a minimum of $2.5 million and should
be based on no more than 98% of current enrollment.

5.6 Investment policies

5.6.1

5.6.2

5.6.3

5.6.4

Eighty-five percent of investment funds shall be invested in equities; 15
percent shall be invested in bonds/fixed investments.

No more than 5 percent of the investments in equities shall be in REITs
and hedge funds.

Distribution of endowment fund proceeds is limited to a maximum of 5
percent of endowment fund principal calculated on a 3-year average.
Investment objective is to obtain investment returns of 9 percent for a 20-
year period (2008-2027).

5.7 Development policies

5.7.1

5.7.2

5.7.3

5.7.4

5.7.5

Any proposed development project, facility, equipment or program for
which funding is proposed by donors must further the University’s
mission.

The minimum amount necessary to activate a new endowment shall be
$15,000.

The first $25,000 of an unrestricted cash bequest shall be committed to the
unrestricted fund. The remainder of an unrestricted bequest, provided that
the bequest is less than $250,000, shall be allocated by the President in
consultation with senior administration. It is expected that most, if not all,
presidential allocations will be to endowed funds or named recognition on
campus. All allocations by the President shall be reported to the Andrews
University Board of Trustees on an annual basis. The allocation of any
bequest of $250,000 or more shall be voted by the Andrews University
Board of Trustees upon the recommendation of the Board’s committee on
University Finance and Operations.

The Board and the president reserve the right to accept (or, in some cases,
to decline) any commitment offered to them. The president reserves the
right to determine how any commitment will be credited and/or how such
commitments will be recognized.

All gifts that will, or may, require expenditure of funds (other than de
minimus funds) either at the time of the gift or at some future date (e.g.,
non-performing assets gifted to fund a charitable trust or charitable gift
annuity, bargain sales, or outright gifts such as real estate that may impose
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obligations on the University) shall require the approval of both the
president and the Board.

5.8 Miscellaneous policies
5.8.1 Litigation, or threatened litigation, which has the potential of

substantially-affecting the University’s finances, shall be reported to the
Board in executive session.
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Introduction

"In His infinite love God chose to make us co-workers with Himself, with Christ and the angels, that
we might share the blessing, the joy, the spiritual uplifting, which results from this unselfish
ministry." (Steps to Christ, p. 79)

Andrews University is a Michigan non-profit educational corporation located in Berrien Springs,
Michigan. The employment practices of the church reflect religious preferences in harmony with the
United States Constitution and controlling laws. Andrews University does not discriminate with
regard to race, national origin, gender, color, age, marital status, veteran status or disability that does
not prohibit performances of essential job functions with or without reasonable accommodation. This
is reflected in Andrews University practices and policies regarding hiring, layoff, discharge, training,
promotions, rates of pay, and other forms of compensation.

In harmony with the above statement, Andrews University complies with the Americans with
Disabilities Act. This act gives civil rights protection and equal opportunity to qualified individuals
with disabilities in all employment practices, including job application procedures, hiring,
advancement, compensation, training, termination and other terms, conditions, and privileges of
employment. An individual is considered to have a disability if the individual has a physical or
mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities, has a record of such an
impairment, or is regarded as having such an impairment.

This staff handbook is intended to acquaint non-faculty salaried and hourly rated employees with the
requirements of employment and the benefits to which they are eligible. Employees are advised that
not all the benefits described in this Handbook are available to all employee classifications. This
handbook does not constitute a contract between the employee and Andrews University. The
Andrews administration reserves the right to institute such changes as it deems necessary without
prior notice.

The employer recognizes the right of any employee to terminate employment at any time and for any
reason, and the employer retains a similar right. No oral or verbal statements, promises or
representations may alter your right and that of the employer to terminate your employment at any

time and for any reason or for no reason.

The University retains the right to reassign employees or to change job duties without prior notice. A
failure on the part of an employee to accept such a change will be considered a resignation.

This edition of the Employee Handbook supersedes all previous Handbooks.

Questions regarding University employment policy should be directed to Human Resources.



The Organization of Andrews University

Andrews University consists of eight schools. The two undergraduate schools are the College of Arts
and Sciences and the College of Technology. The graduate and professional schools include the
School of Graduate Studies, the Seventh-day Adventist Theological Seminary, the School of
Business, and the School of Education. The last two of these operate at both the undergraduate and
graduate levels. The University also operates Andrews Academy and Ruth Murdoch Elementary
School.

Andrews University dates back to 1874 when the Seventh-day Adventist denomination founded
Battle Creek College in Michigan. In 1901, the institution was moved to Berrien Springs and given
the name of Emmanuel Missionary College. The Seventh-day Adventist Theological Seminary was
organized in 1934 as the Advanced Bible School on the campus of Pacific Union College in Angwin,
California; it operated in summer sessions only. Two years later, the General Conference of Seventh-
day Adventists voted to locate the Advanced Bible School on a more permanent basis in Washington,
D.C., and named it the Seventh-day Adventist Theological Seminary. In 1957, the seminary board of
trustees enlarged the scope of the institution's operations by establishing a school of graduate studies.
A new and larger site was sought to facilitate the strengthening and growth of the expanded
programs.

The problems encountered in providing an adequate site for the enlarged institution resulted in a
move, in 1958, to the campus of Emmanuel Missionary College at Berrien Springs, Michigan. In
1960 the College, the Seminary and the School of Graduate Studies were united under one charter
bearing the name of Andrews University. In 1974, the College was reorganized into the College of
Arts and Sciences and the College of Technology. The School of Business was organized in 1980
and the School of Education in 1983.

Ruth Murdoch Elementary School consists of a pre-kindergarten through eighth grade. Andrews
Academy is a senior high school. These schools had their origin in Battle Creek, Michigan in 1874,
and moved with the College to Berrien Springs, Michigan in 1901.

Today the combined enrollments of Andrews University schools are over 3,800 students,
representing over one hundred countries.



Mission Statement for Andrews University

Andrews University was established by the Seventh-day Adventist Church to prepare church leaders,
laity, and other responsible citizens to fulfill the Gospel Commission, and is committed to providing
high-quality Christian education in the context of the Adventist faith. It welcomes students from all
nations and other faiths who meet the qualifications established by the institution and who subscribe
to the ideals of the University.

Andrews University offers a variety of programs leading to vocational certificates and associate,
baccalaureate, masters, and doctoral degrees. These programs are initiated and maintained,
particularly at the graduate level, according to the needs of the church. Along with emphasizing
excellence in teaching, the University encourages research in order to enrich the learning process and
to benefit the Church and society at large.

Because of its commitment to service, the University and its personnel are involved in local, national,
and international programs insofar as expertise and resources allow. The first priority in the
allocation of institutional resources, however, is meeting the needs of on campus students and
programs.

While the scope of the institution has changed since its founding, the distinguishing marks of identity
envisioned by the founders still guide the University. Paramount among these are:

1. An educational program that is balanced in the development of the spiritual, mental, physical
and social life of the student.

2. A hospitable climate wherein faculty and students may pursue excellence, truth, and continuing

relevance.

Programs which encourage Christ-centered service to humanity.

4. A campus environment supportive of Christian character development, social maturation, and
the dignity of labor. The University strives to achieve its goal under Divine guidance, regarding
that only in this way can the maximum potential of its academic community be realized.

(98]



General Information

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 4:1-100

The purpose of the Employee Handbook is to clarify working relationships, and provide information
regarding policies and procedures with reference to employment at Andrews University. If questions
arise they should be discussed with the supervisor, department director, and/or Human Resources
(HR).

CURRENT EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 4:1-105

This edition of the Employee Handbook supersedes all previous editions and shall be adhered to
except as it shall be amended by subsequent actions of HR.

CHANGES IN EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 4:1-110

Andrews University retains authority to modify, add or delete any provisions in the Employee
Handbook. Andrews University reserves the right to change policies and procedures at any time. The
most current policies will be available at HR and you may ask to see them at any time. Updates of
changes will be posted on the employee bulletin board in the Administration Building.

EXCEPTIONS TO POLICIES 4:1-115

Any exceptions to policies, regulations, and procedures are authorized by HR under the advisement
of the administration.

HUMAN RESOURCES ADVISORY COUNCIL 4:1-120

A Human Resource Advisory Council (HRAC) is annually appointed by HR. The members are as
follows: HR Director as Chair, Associate HR Director as Secretary; one member from each of the
Schools, and one member each from Advancement, Student Services, Financial Administration,
Enrollment Services and Information Services. The Advisory Council meets monthly for the purpose
of discussing HR issues.

RECORDS 4:1-125

The HR office maintains a file of the employment records of each employee. These records are
property of Andrews University and may include pre and/or post hiring documentation, service
records, written reports of periodic performance reviews and other documents, all of which are
assembled to form an accurate account of employment experience with Andrews University. To keep
personal records current, the supervisor and the HR office should be notified of any change in name,
marital status, address, telephone number, dependents, or other pertinent information. A Record or
your years of service is kept at the HR office. This is used in calculating retirement benefits. You are
encouraged to periodically request a copy of your service record to verify its accuracy.

SUGGESTIONS 4:1-130

Suggestions to improve office operations, reduce expenses and improve policy are welcomed and
appreciated. Please pass along any suggestions to the HR Director.



Your Employment

HIRING AND SELECTION 4:2-100

Andrews University is an educational institution which holds the philosophy that students benefits
from combining work with a study program. Because many students need to earn part of the funds
required to pay for their education the University endeavors to utilize student labor wherever
possible.

Many students are married and their continuance in school is based on the employment of their
spouses. In jobs that require more continuity, greater skills, or more supervisory demands than
students are able to give, the University attempts to utilize student spouses.

The University has many jobs which are highly skilled and require the continuity of employment. For
these jobs employees are hired who plan to make their home in this community.

Within these priorities the selection of employees is based on the applicant's experience, education,
training, skills, and physical fitness as they relate to the requirements of the job for which he/she has
applied. The selection is made in a non-biased way through interviews, references, and pertinent
tests.

In selection, promotion, training, wages, benefits, termination and any other aspect of employment
there will be fair treatment of all employees without regard to age, sex, race, ethnic background,
color, handicap, height, weight or marital status. The University will employ only those who are
legally employable in the United States.

CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 4:2-105

Andrews University strives to maintain a highly qualified staff. Selection and continued employment
is based on the following qualifications: character, church membership status, aptitude, education,
training, ability, integrity, adaptability and ability to perform job functions (with or without
reasonable accommodation). Minimal qualifications are:

1. Church Membership - Membership in the Seventh-day Adventist Church, through baptism or
by profession of faith, commitment to its objectives, and a personal relationship with Christ.
2. Church Teachings - Careful adherence to Bible based teachings and standards of the church by
exemplifying standards of personal conduct which would preclude:
A. Chemical/substance abuse such as:
o use of alcoholic beverages and tobacco
o illegal possession and/or misuse of drugs

B. Use of profanity
C. Immoral conduct including but not limited to sexual relations outside of a monogamous
heterosexual marriage
2. Lifestyle - Personal conduct demonstrated in a lifestyle which is characteristic of Seventh-day
Adventists and by thoughtful attention to personal example and influence in grooming, dress
and the avoidance of extremes.



3. Work Performance - Ability to successfully perform the work and tasks to which one is
assigned.

4. Professional Standards - Careful adherence to the highest professional and ethical standards in
integrity and confidentiality.

5. Loyalty - Willing and consistent loyalty and cooperation.

6. Stewardship - Exemplary witness in faithful stewardship, as Biblically defined, in personal
finance, tithe, time and talents.

7. Commitment - Unreserved commitment and fidelity to Christian service for all employees and

to ordination vows for ministers.

Conflicting Interests - Avoidance of conflicting interests and enterprises.

9. Prescribed Procedures - Compliance with prescribed procedures for resolving conflicts,
disputes, complaints and grievances.

10. Employee Handbook - Compliance with the regulations of Andrews University as set forth in
the Employee Handbook and policies of the Seventh-day Adventist Church.

oo

SABBATH OBSERVANCE AND WORK 4:2-106

Andrews University as an entity of the Seventh-day Adventist Church values the importance of a
Sabbath day of rest. According to the SDA Church’s official website, “the Sabbath is God’s gift to
us, a time of rest and restoration of our connection to God and others. It reminds us of God’s
creation and Jesus’ grace.” The Seventh-day Adventist church honors the Sabbath from sundown
Friday evening to sundown Saturday evening. These hours are considered to be holy hours and
should be treated as such.

As Seventh-day Adventists we value the fourth commandment and the importance it has in setting
apart a special day each week to commune with our Creator (Genesis 2:1-3, Exodus 20: 8-11,
Deuteronomy 5:12-15, Isaiah 58:13,14, Matthew 12:1-12, Hebrews 4:1-11). Setting apart a day of
rest and worship allows individuals to re-focus and reconnect, while not needing to concentrate on
their daily responsibilities and work. Recent studies have found physical benefits for individuals that
regularly practice a day of rest consistent with the biblical principles that are accepted by the
Seventh-day Adventist Church.

While the University respects each individual’s personal journey, the standard for Sabbath keeping
remains consistent with the doctrine of the Seventh-day Adventist Church. The way in which each
individual honors the Sabbath will be in accordance with their personal relationship with

God. Andrews University values this individuality. Consequently, we are able to grow stronger
collectively in a better understanding of God’s will. At the same time, we learn to respect differences
within our colleagues in the way that they celebrate this important day of rest.

Andrews University is a full-time operation hosting students, employees, and visitors on its campus
year around, including the Sabbath hours. Some students are also dependent on housing and meals
throughout the year. This requires a support staff that is available 24/7 to assist in sustenance, health
and safety, emergencies, and other operational functions. Some areas that regularly (or

frequently?) require Sabbath work include food services, transportation, plant services, custodial,
campus safety, and others. It is the expectation of the University that all efforts are made to assist in
an employee’s ability to celebrate the Sabbath day of rest. To accomplish this, the University
recommends that events that impact the Sabbath hours be kept to a minimum, whenever

possible. All affected departments must explicitly identify the potential of Sabbath work in the
applicable job description and should include discussion about potential Sabbath work in the
interview process to clarify what type of work or expectations are held in the given area. Other



suggestions towards minimizing Sabbath work is that departments that need to provide weekend
coverage, rotate their staff to ensure that the same staff are not on duty every weekend. In addition,
departments should limit their work to what is absolutely necessary to be completed on the Sabbath
day, such as essential food preparation and clean up, Life Safety, imminent loss of infrastructure, or
other actions as may be needed to prevent injury or damage to persons or property. Departments can
also deliberately limit the work that needs to be done on Sabbath by fulfilling certain tasks prior to
the Sabbath hours (i.e., cooking for Sabbath meals on a previous day, setting up for a Sabbath
evening concert prior to the Sabbath hours). Other tasks may be left to be accomplished after the
Sabbath hours.

In the event that an employee feels that their Sabbath convictions have been compromised, they
should work with their supervisor, or the director of their area to resolve the issue. If no solution can
be found, the employee is encouraged to visit the Office of Human Resources, and as a final option
one of our campus ombudspersons.

OUTSTANDING BALANCE 4:2-110

A potential employee with an outstanding balance at Andrews University may be hired only after a
payment plan for that account has been agreed upon. Documentation of the plan should be filed with
the HR office prior to employment. Employees may request that payment be taken as an automatic
deduction from their pay check. In the event that there has been default on a previously agreed
payment plan made with the University, a lump payment may be required prior to employment.
Under no circumstances will additional charges to the balance at time of hire be acceptable. This
would exclude applicable finance charges. Any employee account that is over 180 days in arrears
will be charged 1% interest per month.

HANDICAPPED ACCOMMODATION 4:2-115

State and Federal laws require employers to make reasonable accommodations to employees with
disabilities/handicaps where the accommodation does not impose an undue hardship on the
employer.

If you have any physical, medical or mental impairment or disability which would interfere with your
ability to do the job to which you have been assigned, the University will attempt to reasonably
accommodate your disability. The accommodation may be a modification to your current working
environment or transfer to another job within your capabilities and may be either permanent or
temporary, depending on the situation.

The University must be notified in writing of the needs to provide an accommodation as soon as
possible but not later than within 182 days from the date you knew, or should have known, that an
accommodation is needed.

A "Request for Handicapper Accommodation" form is available at Human Resources.

EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE 4:2-120

1. Application - All prospective employees desiring Andrews University employment must
complete a formal application for employment. Andrews University reserves the right to request
a post-offer physical examination as allowed by the law; and if it does so, is responsible for the
expense. Applicants may be required to take an office skills test. Applications are accepted by
HR based on current job postings and are retained on file.



2. New Employee Orientation - A general orientation program for employees is conducted by HR
to give new employees an introduction to Andrews University and its procedures. Departmental
orientation is the responsibility of the hiring department director and/or supervisor.

3. Orientation Period - There is a 90-day review period for the new employee. This period is
established to benefit both the employee and Andrews University. It is a period of adjustment
and adaptation, both personally and in terms of learning the job requirements and work rules. If,
during this period, the employee is unable to adapt successfully to the requirements of the
position, the department, or the organization as a whole, employment may be terminated
immediately. Advance notice may be given but is not required. The employee is free to resign at
any time during this orientation period just as Andrews University is free to terminate
employment at any time during the same period.

At the end of your 90-day review period one of the following will take place:

A. Your employment will be continued.

B. Your review period may be extended. (Should you not agree to the extended review
period, your employment will be terminated immediately.)

C. You or your supervisor will decide to terminate your employment immediately.

Your review period referred to above could be extended at the discretion of your department
head if it is felt an additional period of time is needed to determine your suitability for the job to
which you have been assigned. At the close of the extended review period your future
employment with the University will be reviewed with you by your supervisor.

At the end of the review period, if the employee's over-all work record has been satisfactory,
employment will be continued, however there is not any guarantee of future employment for any
specific time period. Should the work performance, aptitude, attendance or conduct not meet the
requirements of the position, employment may be terminated. Employees terminating during this
period will be paid for all hours worked and accrued paid leave time.

BASIS FOR PROBATION 4:2-125

Probation - Probation is assigned to an employee for inadequate performance or improper behavior at
any time during employment. The employee may be placed on probation for a designated period to
correct recognized performance shortcomings. After having successfully completed a probationary
period, the employee will continue to be subject to the conditions of employment and performance
requirements discussed elsewhere in the handbook. The employee can be discharged during the
probationary period if it appears the employee is unable or unwilling to correct a problem or if
continued employment would be contrary to the best interest of Andrews University or the welfare
and safety of other employees. An employee cannot be put on disciplinary probation for more than a
rolling three calendar year period for the same or similar disciplinary reason. An employee will be
terminated if subject to more than two probation periods.

Discipline, Termination and Appeal Procedures - A probationary employee may be terminated at any
time for any reason and shall not be entitled to the protections concerning discipline, termination, and
appeal procedures contained in this Employee Handbook. See the policies under Section VII for
further information on this subject.

PROMOTIONS 4:2-130



Andrews University desires to make your period of employment challenging and satisfying, and
wishes to make the best possible use of the skills and potential of employees. Whenever possible,
promotions to positions of greater responsibility are made from among our employees. The basis for
such a promotion is that an employee demonstrates the ability and possesses the qualifications
necessary.

1. Evaluation Criteria - Promotions and/or transfers will be based on performance evaluation,
education, prior experience, applicable job skills, test results (if applicable) and/or
recommendations. Seniority may be given special consideration where ability and other
principal factors are comparatively equal.

2. Review Provision - All promotions and/or transfers will be subject to a review at the end of
three months at which time the employee's performance will be evaluated based on the job
description. A reasonable effort will be made to make the new assignment a success. If for some
reason the new assignment is unsuccessful, efforts will be made to search for another available
position.

TRANSFERS 4:2-135

The happiest and most productive employee is that employee experiencing a high level of personal
job satisfaction. It is the policy as far as possible, that employees be assigned positions where this
high level of personal job satisfaction can be realized, in keeping with ability, knowledge, and
experience. Therefore, as a general guideline, an employee may request a transfer to another position
after one year of employment with the University. For information regarding eligibility requirements,
procedure, and qualifications necessary for the job transfer, contact Human Resources.

While the University will seek to take employees wishes into account, the University does retain the
right to reassign employees or to change job duties without prior notice at any time. The University
will seek to find a position that accommodates an individual's job skills. The University will give an
employee a minimum of two weeks’ notice of a transfer. A failure on the part of an employee to
accept such a change will be considered a resignation.

1. HR Role - Employees are encouraged to contact the HR Director or the Associate Director if
they would like to change jobs. The HR Director may contact such employees when there is
another offer. HR or the employee will inform the Department Head or immediate Supervisor
of possible changes.

2. Supervisor's Role - Supervisors are urged to be considerate of the job desires of their employees
and to facilitate transfer if they are offered other jobs that they are interested in accepting.

NEPOTISM 4:2-140

It is the policy of Andrews University that not more than one member of a family be employed in the
same department or in an employment situation where there are not at least two supervisors between
relatives. Broadly this means that relatives do not work with or for one another or in a relationship
where one might have direct authority over the other in matters of remuneration, promotion, etc.

For the purpose of this policy "family" includes: spouse, child (natural, adopted, step), grandchild,
parent, grandparent, uncle, aunt, niece, nephew, or siblings.

For the purpose of this policy "department" refers to the divisions of activities within the University
which are shown as entities on the organizational structure or chart of the University, the chart of



accounts in the University accounting system, or is an activity which is distinguished by the area of
responsibility assigned to a recognized department head. A department may be academic, support, or
service.

Exceptions to this policy may be considered for good reason if presented in writing and addressed to
Human Resources.

If by marriage a violation of this nepotism policy occurs, employees will be given 30 days to develop
an alternative to their current position.

VERIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT - CURRENT AND FORMER EMPLOYEES 4:2-145

Andrews University employees, including staff, supervisors and department administrators,
frequently are requested by current and former employees to share a work reference with prospective
employers. All such requests are to be referred to HR for appropriate follow up and response.

Additionally, HR also receives requests from lending and other credit institutions to provide
employee - related information. Despite any employment information that Andrews University sends
to a lender, Andrews University does not make, and is not making, any promise, prediction or
guarantee of future employment for any period of time. Employment is terminable at will at any
time, for any reason, by either the employee or the organization.

In response to requests for information, HR will confirm dates of employment, positions held and re-
employment eligibility. No information is provided regarding performance of employees. A signed
waiver and release from liability is required from current and former employees prior to the release
of any information. In the event telephone calls are received for employment verification, the
employee will be called and asked to sign an authorization to release information if one is not
provided by the caller. If it is not possible to contact the employee immediately, there may be a delay
in verifying information to the caller.

AVAILABILITY OF PERSONNEL FILES 4:2-150

You have the right to review your personnel files upon written request and 48 hours’ notice. A copy
of your file will be made available to you upon your request. You may enter a written response to
any record with which you take issue. For more information regarding the contents of the Personnel
File contact the Human Resources Office.

ORIENTATION 4:2-155

Human Resources conducts an orientation program that you will be required to attend when you
begin employment at the University. This orientation will acquaint you with the philosophy of
operation and the objectives of the University.

CLASSIFICATION 4:2-160

Your job is classified as one of the following:

o HF Class - Full time regular hour time staff. Working at least 35 hours per week in a regular
job. By this definition, the hours of employment are at least 1820 for the year. "Regular" is
defined as a job, which is regularly provided for in the University's budget and shows prospects
of indefinite employment.



e HP Class - Part time regular hour time staff. Working at least 30 hours but less than 35 hours
per week in a regular job. By this definition, the hours of employment are at least 1560 for the
year. "Regular" is defined as a job, which is regularly provided for in the University's budget
and shows prospects of indefinite employment.

o HH Class - Part time regular hour time staff. Working at least 20 hours but less than 30 hours
per week in a regular job. By this definition, the hours of employment are at least 1040 for the
year. "Regular" is defined as a job, which is regularly provided for in the University's budget
and shows prospects of indefinite employment.

e HU Class - Part time regular hour time staff. Working less than 20 hours per week in a regular
job. By this definition, the hours of employment are less than 1040 for the year. "Regular” is
defined as a job, which is regularly provided for in the University's budget and shows prospects
of indefinite employment.

e SF Class - Full time staff and administrative assistants. Working at least 40 hours per week in a
regular exempt job. "Regular" is defined as a job, which is regularly provided for in the
University's budget and shows prospects of indefinite employment.

o SP Class - Half time staff and administrative assistants. Working at least halftime in a regular
exempt job. "Regular" is defined as a job, which is regularly provided for in the University's
budget and shows prospects of indefinite employment.

e SC Class - Part time staff contract. No benefits.

e AF Class - Full time administrators and associates. Working at least 40 hours per week in a
regular exempt job. "Regular" is defined as a job, which is regularly provided for in the
University's budget and shows prospects of indefinite employment.

e AP Class - Half time administrators and associates. Working at least halftime in a regular
exempt job. "Regular" is defined as a job, which is regularly provided for in the University's
budget and shows prospects of indefinite employment.

JOB DESCRIPTIONS 4:2-165

There is a job description for each salaried and hourly rated job. A copy of your job description will
be given to you at the time of employment. The range of pay for each job is determined by the
requirements of the job.

WORK WEEK- SALARIED EMPLOYEES 4:2-170

As an exempt salaried employee you are paid to carry on the duties of your job description which
may exceed the hours of a normal work week.

The recording of the time you work is not required, however you may be asked to keep a record and
report the time for which you have been paid when you did not work. An example of this would be
vacations, holidays and sick leave.

WORK WEEK - HOURLY EMPLOYEES 4:2-175

Your daily work schedule depends upon your particular job assignment or position. Various
departments require different work weeks and different work days. Your supervisor will inform you
of your particular schedule.

The work week starts at 12:01 a.m. on Sunday and ends at 12:00 midnight Saturday. Any shift that
begins one day and carries over to the next is considered as a shift for the day in which it begins.

RECORDING TIME - HOURLY EMPLOYEES 4:2-180



In those departments that use time clocks or other mechanical or electronic time devices to record
work time, all time must be clocked in and out by the employee. No one is permitted to punch time
for another employee under any circumstances.

In departments that do not use clocks or other mechanical or electronic time devices the employee
will be responsible for recording his/her time worked each day on a time card and reporting their
time to their time manager each week. Any false, misleading or misrepresented entries on a time card
will result in discipline. All overtime must be authorized by your department director, or someone to
whom he/she might delegate responsibility, before the overtime is incurred.

All of the hours you work in a week must be reported during that week. Federal and State laws
prohibit the banking of hours (i.e. not reporting hours worked in one week with the intention of
reporting the hours in a later week) or volunteering some of the hours you actually worked. (There
are limited circumstances under which employees can volunteer their services, but it must be outside
of the type of work they are normally employed to do. If an employee wants to volunteer his/her
services to the University, he/she should call the Human Resources office for instructions before
beginning the volunteer service.)

BALANCED LIFESTYLE 4:2-185

Each employee is encouraged to plan his/her daily program to include a balance between work, time
for the family, and spiritual and physical refreshment.

MOONLIGHTING 4:2-190

Full-time employees are expected to consider their employment with Andrews University as being
primary. If you have other employment, or are self-employed, it must not infringe on the time and
efficiency of the work to which you have been assigned. Other work should not compete or conflict
with that of Andrews University.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 4:2-195

1. Statement of Policy - All employees of Andrews University have a duty to be free from the
influence of any conflict of interest when they represent the University in negotiations or make
representations with respect to dealings with third parties.

2. Definition of Conflict - A conflict of interest arises when an employee has such a substantial
personal interest in a transaction or is a party to a transaction that reasonably might affect the
judgement the employee exercises on behalf of the University. The employee is to consider
only the interests of the University, always avoid questionable practices, and faithfully follow
the established policies of the organization.

3. Conditions Constituting Conflict - Although it is not feasible in a policy statement to describe
all the circumstances and conditions that might be considered conflicts of interest, the following
situations are some examples which may bring conflict and therefore are to be avoided. The
following is not a complete list, other examples may constitute a conflict.

A. Engaging in outside business or employment that encroaches on Andrews University’s
call for the full services of its employees even though there may be no conflict.

B. Engaging in business or employment that is in any way competitive or in conflict with
any transaction, activity, policy, or objective of the University.

C. Engaging in any business with or employment by an employer who is a supplier of
goods or services to Andrews University.



K.

Making use of the fact of employment by Andrews University to further outside
business or employment, association the University or its prestige with an outside
business or employment, or using one’s connection to the denomination to further
personal or partisan political interests.

Owning or leasing any property with knowledge that the University has an active or
potential interest therein.

Lending money to or borrowing money from any third party, excluding financial
institutions, who is a supplier of goods or services or lending to/borrowing from a
trustor or anyone who is in any fiduciary relationship to Andrews University or is
otherwise regularly involved in business transactions with the University.

Accepting or offering of any gratuity, favor, benefit, gift or of any commission or
payment, monetary or non-monetary, of greater than usual and customary, in connection
with work for Andrews University other than the compensation agreed upon between
the University and/ or the employer and the employee.

Making use of or disseminating, including by electronic means, any confidential
information acquired through employment by the University for personal profit or
advantage, directly or indirectly.

Using Andrews University personnel, property, equipment, supplies, or goodwill for
other than approved activities, programs, and purposes.

Expending unreasonable time, during normal business hours, for personal affairs or for
other organizations, to the detriment of work performance for the University.

Using one’s connections within Andrews University to secure favors for one’s family or
relatives.

4. Statement of Acceptance -

A.

By Employees — At the time of initial employment an employee shall sign a statement
indicating acceptance of the conditions of employment as outlined in the organization’s
employee handbook. This acceptance shall constitute the employee’s declaration of
compliance and resolve to remain in compliance with the conflict of interest policy

By Administrators, Department Directors and Trustees — The concerned organizational
designee shall receive annually a statement of acceptance and compliance with the
policy on conflict of interest and/or commitment from each administrator, department
director, member of the board/executive committee, and any other person authorized to
handle resources of the organization.

DRESS REQUIREMENTS 4:2-200

1. The Andrews University Image

Whatever is associated with Andrews University contributes to the institution's image.
Appearance is a basic element of image. For that reason, the personal appearance of Andrews
staff makes a significant statement about the University itself.

Andrews University, a Seventh-day Adventist institution, reflects the conservative values of the
church in matters of dress and appearance. Its regulations concerning dress are based on the
principles of neatness, modesty, and appropriateness. Specific interpretations of these principles
must be made within the cultural context of the University and in harmony with its mission.

2. Neatness



In keeping with their occupational status and Christian identity, Andrews University staff will be
well-groomed and neatly dressed.

Examples of a failure to maintain an appropriate standard of neatness and grooming are unkempt
clothing, clothing designed to appear sloppy, and careless personal hygiene and hairstyles.

3. Modesty

Attire which accentuates the sexual characteristics or which is designed to draw attention to
oneself by bizarre or ostentatious style violates the principle of modesty. It would be inconsistent
with Andrews' philosophy of staff role modeling if less were expected of staff than is expected of
students.

4. Appropriateness

Time, place and the occasion determine appropriateness.

While sweatshirts, jeans and shorts may be appropriate for sports, recreational activities, and
certain work environments, they would be inappropriate for campus offices.

Jewelry should be chosen in harmony with the Christian principles of simplicity, modesty, and
economy. Some forms of adornment, such as necklaces, earrings, bracelets and rings (except
wedding bands) are not considered appropriate.

Some departments of the University may have particular requirements for dress, such as
professional attire, uniforms, or safety equipment that may be expected of its workers. Those
requirements are explained by the Supervisor at the time you are hired.

5. Personal Appearance Policy Implementation

It is the responsibility of the individual department/service director as well as the HR Director to
implement the Personal Appearance Policy. Should it be determined that within a
department/service an individual is not in compliance with the policy, the following steps will be
taken:

A. The department/service director and/or the HR Director shall consult with the immediate
supervisor urging implementation.

B. A memo documenting the verbal counsel shall be directed to the employee by the
department/service director/supervisor.

C. The department/service director shall inform the HR Director if an employee refuses to
comply with the personal appearance requirements. The HR Director and
department/service director shall then meet jointly with the employee in order to resolve
the situation. A second memo shall be directed to the employee by the HR Director
requiring a written response as to the employee's intentions with respect to the personal
appearance requirements.

D. If the employee still refuses to comply with the personal appearance requirements after
being counseled by the HR Director and department/service director, the matter shall be
referred to HR for disciplinary action.

USE OF TELEPHONES 4:2-205



1. Guidelines - While the telephone is a very convenient and economical method of
communication, it is also a major expense for Andrews University. Employees are encouraged
to make business calls brief.

2. Personal Calls - Personal telephone calls should be kept to a minimum and of limited time
duration; calls should be made during an employee's lunch hour and/or morning/afternoon
break time. All toll calls made during working hours should be processed using the employee’s
personal PAC code or charged to the employee's home telephone or credit card.

3. Personal Business - Employees shall not publish Andrews University telephone numbers in
connection with secondary jobs or non-related activities.

4. Charges - Telephone calls are charged to the expense of the department. All monthly
department telephone bills are subject to review at any time; this review may result in a request
for employee reimbursement relating to personal charges.

5. Overseas Calls - Officers and departmental directors are authorized to make overseas phone
calls. Such phone calls by associate departmental directors are to be authorized by the director
or designee.

6. Limitations - Overseas phone calls should be kept to a minimum and be limited to situations
where FAX or e-mail is inadequate.

7. Conference Calls - Operator assisted conference calls should be authorized by the department
director.

8. Telephone Courtesy

Care and courtesy in using the telephone not only creates a good impression for Andrews
University but also makes the contact more pleasant for those who are calling. In using the
telephone:

Answer promptly and pleasantly

Identify yourself by name

Give accurate and careful answers

Display a helpful attitude

Maintain a pleasant tone of voice

Take careful notes and pass on information to persons concerned

Transfer calls tactfully

Hang up gently

Be sure to arrange for telephone coverage or call forwarding when away from work
station

Ensure that your voice mail message is regularly updated and shares pertinent
information to the caller

Respond to voice mail messages within a reasonable length of time

Voice mail is for University business and should not be used for personal business: i.e. -
selling, campaigning
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RELATIONSHIP TO STUDENTS 4:2-210

As we work with our students, our Christian witness to them can have a life-long influence, which in
some cases may be even greater than the influence carried from the classroom.

The University encourages you to befriend its students--particularly those living in the residence
halls--in every way possible. Please recognize residence hall protocols when involving residence hall
students.



SOLICITATION AND VENDING 4:2-215

Solicitation of Andrews University employees by co-workers and non-employees is distracting and
may be annoying or embarrassing for the employees who are approached. For this reason Andrews
University maintains a solicitation and vending policy as outlined below.

1. Solicitation by Employees - Employees of Andrews University are expected to maintain a
proper professional image and to avoid business activities for personal benefit during office
hours. Therefore, employees shall not engage in any solicitation of other employees during
working time. Solicitation permitted by law must be conducted on authorized non-working
time, e.g., meal breaks.

2. Solicitation/Vending by Non-Employees - Non-employees shall not engage in any solicitation
of or vending to employees during working hours. Advertising/promotional material, brochures,
etc., may be placed in the building with the approval of HR. Material of this nature is not
permitted for display on the employee bulletin board in the Administration Building.

3. Andrews University Sponsored Collections - Permission for collections/solicitations pertaining
to specific authorized projects may be granted by HR, upon request.

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 4:2-220

Many times within the University setting there are strictly confidential disclosures of a personal or
organizational nature. Employees will protect themselves and the organization by not allowing the
dissemination of such information to family, friends, or strangers unless authorized to do so by the
appropriate individual.

CHILDREN AT THE WORK PLACE 4:2-225

Children visiting their parents during working hours can be a disruption to the normal work activity
of both the parent and others in the work environment. They may also be exposed to dangerous
equipment or materials. For that reason children should be cared for away from the work place and in
such a way as to not interfere with the activities of the University. This includes after school hours as
well as vacations and holidays. In the event the arrangements for the care of your child(ren) should
fail, you should notify your supervisor so that you can be released from your duties to care for their
needs.

JOB POSTING AND HIRING PROCEDURE 4:2-230

1. Procedure - Non-administrative, non-faculty positions that become available at Andrews
University will be posted for a period of five working days (72 hrs) in order to alert interested
employees of available jobs. This posting will be placed on the bulletin board at the entrance to
the Administration Building and in the HR web page. Job openings that are to be filled by intra-
department transfers or by individuals that HR need to relocate or place may be excluded from
this posting plan.

2. Service Requirement - Employees with at least one year of service in the same position at
Andrews University will be given preference for the posted jobs.

3. Job Information - Notices for available jobs will give the following information: The job title; a
brief description of the job; education, experience and skills required; the remuneration level;
time of posting and expiration date. Additional information regarding job openings may be
obtained from HR.



4. Eligible Candidates - Adequately qualified employees who apply for posted jobs will be
considered. If the available position is not filled by a current qualified Andrews University
employee, the position will be made available to other SDA applicants.

DRUG-FREE WORK PLACE 4:2-235

The University is committed to an environment of learning that supports the fullest possible human
development. To achieve this goal, the University holds that a drug-free lifestyle is essential and thus
maintains policies that seek an alcohol, tobacco, and drug-free campus environment. This is
consistent with the teachings of the Church.

The University intends to maintain a drug-free workplace in harmony with the laws of the land. The
unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing or use of controlled substances, or illegal drugs by its
employees, whether faculty, staff, or students, is prohibited. The University so certifies as an
institution to the federal government in its external funding contracts and grants. Further, the
University expects any person employed by the University who receives federal or state funding as
an individual to certify that he or she will not engage in the unlawful manufacture, distribution,
dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance while associated with the University.

The University believes it also has a responsibility to offer and provide assistance to employees who
are chemically addicted and wish to live a drug-free life. To discharge its responsibility it has
instituted an Employee Assistance Program which provides a substance abuse counselor qualified to
do assessments, individual counseling, and to make referrals for more in-depth therapy and
rehabilitation on an outpatient or inpatient basis to approved/licensed programs. The University also
encourages or provides access to support networks which can assist the employee in maintaining
sobriety following therapy.

An employee who believes he or she is having a problem with tobacco, alcohol or the illegal use of
drugs is encouraged to voluntarily seek the available assistance. Appointments with a counselor may
be arranged individually. Employees who show evidence of the use of tobacco, alcohol or illegal
drugs, may be referred for counseling as a condition of continued employment.

Each employee is provided the full text of the University's Drug-Free Workplace Policy and
Procedures, which is incorporated by reference as a part of this Employee Handbook. Additional
copies are available from Human Resources.

COURTESY 4:2-240

In the parking lot, in the office, on the street and wherever people meet, the employee should be
recognized for refined, courteous conduct. This standard will be reflected in telephone conversations,
correspondence, business dealings and relationships with fellow employees. The employee is
responsible for maintaining high professional standards of conduct in harmony with the Golden Rule.
It is inappropriate to defame the character of co-workers by spreading malicious gossip or to act in a
discourteous manner.

SAFETY 4:2-245

Andrews University seeks to provide a safe environment for its employees, students and guests. As
an employee, your role in maintaining this safe environment is critical. You must follow all safety
practices required by OSHA and by the University. You must:



Follow all safety procedures that are outlined in this handbook, and those procedures that are
brought to your attention by your supervisor or by the University administration.

Notify Loss Control or HR if there are any unsafe conditions or practices that come to your
attention. A Safety Suggestion Box is located in HR for this purpose.

Immediately remedy any unsafe situation you may encounter, if it is safe and appropriate for
you to do so.

Response to the fire alarm. When the fire alarm sounds:

A. Evacuate the building completely using the nearest clear exit. Remember, going through

smoke is dangerous. Avoid it if you can.

B. Call Campus Safety at 3321.

C. If fire and/or smoke is evident, call 911.

D. Remain clear of the building until notified by Campus Safety that it is safe to reenter.
Travel Safety. The US State Department's recommendations will be followed for all University-
sponsored trips outside the United States. These recommendations may be accessed on the
world-wide web at http://www.travel.state.gov. Any University sponsored trips that involve
students must receive risk management approval at least 30 days before departure. Risk
management approval may be obtained from the Loss Control Office in Human Resources.
Personal property on University premises. If you should choose to bring your personal property
to the campus, you must do so at your own risk. In general, the University seeks to provide the
tools necessary for the performance of your job. If, however, there is personal property that is
mandatory to fulfill your job responsibilities, you may file an insurance application with the
Treasurer's Office.

Keys. When you begin working at the University, you will be issued any keys you may need to
fulfill your job responsibilities. If your duties should change such that you no longer need those
keys, please return them to the Plant Administration Office immediately. At the conclusion of
your employment, please return all University keys to the Key Office.

WEATHER CLOSURE 4:2-250

I.

Essential Workers

Essential workers are certain employees who have been notified by their department head that
they required to work during a weather closure involving the entire campus. This could be any
worker, but most frequently would be from the Plant Services, the Library, Public Safety, Dining
Services, and/or residence halls. If you were not informed that you need to remain at work and
you choose to continue working during a weather closure, you are not considered an essential
worker. Under certain circumstances the University may provide transportation, if needed, to
essential workers. Essential workers who work during a weather closure will be paid for hours
worked and will be given paid leave time equivalent to time worked during a weather closure.

Remuneration

Hourly rated employees may be paid for up to two days during the period of an announced
closure.

The first day will be from the announced time through the remainder of the day, or until the
closure is ended on that day. (A closure may begin and end on the same day.)
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B. The second day will be from the announced time until the closure is ended or to the end of the
employee's workday.

C. Inthe case of a Friday closure, employees will report one-half day or only the hours the
employee would normally have worked.

Employees should report only the hours they would have worked during the closure period.
Those hours should be recorded on the clock, or by such other manner as may be used in the
employee's department.

If a closure is extended beyond two days, subsequent hours may be reported as paid leave, up to
the accrued hours in the employee's paid leave bank.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY AND SECURITY 4:2-255

1. Personal Computers

Personal computers (desktop or portable) are provided by the University for many employees as
a part of their work environment. The following guidelines for the care and use of these
computers should be observed by all employees:

A.

All possible measures should be taken to preserve the physical security of personal
computers, for example maintaining a physical locking device and locking access doors
(where applicable). Portable computers should always be under personal supervision, in a
locked space, or secured with a locking device -- especially when traveling.

Hardware and software maintenance for personal computers is generally provided by
Information Technology Services personnel and is charged to the user's department.
Information Technology Services sets standards for computer and communications
equipment on the campus and policies for service of equipment that does or does not
meet these standards.

Connections to the campus data network should be made and changed only by personnel
from Information Technology Services.

Each user is responsible for the security of data on their personal computer. Where
sensitive information is stored on a personal computer, access to internal storage should
be limited by a password. Centralized backup may be implemented for some personal
computers; for all other machines, the user should carry out regular backups by means of
some removable storage medium such as disks or tapes. Storage media containing
sensitive information (backup or otherwise) should be kept in a locked space. A personal
computer connected to sensitive information (local or through the network) should not be
left unattended.

University-owned personal computers are to be used for University business. Limited
personal use is permitted outside of work hours for communications such as email and
Web browsing. Permission of a supervisor should be obtained for other personal uses.
Use of University computers for personal commercial activities is prohibited.

Personal computers must not be used to store or transmit any illegal documents, such as
copyrighted documents without permission. This includes pornography and sexually
explicit material.

Employees' use of games on University-owned personal computers is prohibited during
work hours, except for special cases where there is a clear academic or administrative
objective.



H. University work should generally be done on computer or communications equipment
provided by the University. Where personally-owned equipment is used for University
business, the University assumes no liability for the maintenance or replacement of this
equipment unless arrangements are made in advance.

2. Software

Licenses are to be purchased for all copies of software on University computers and users are
responsible for observing license and copyright restrictions of all software and documentation.
Usually this means that commercial software may not be copied to other machines and
documentation should not be copied. "Site licenses" will be purchased by the University for some
widely used programs. Information Technology Services personnel must install these programs
and users should not copy or move them to other machines. Other copyrighted programs may be
installed on personal computers by users provided that an appropriate license has been
purchased.

Information Technology Services (ITS) sets campus standards for widely used software such as
operating systems, word processing, etc. ITS also sets policies for the installation and
maintenance of standard and non-standard software packages on University computers.

3. Administrative Computing System

Academic and other information about students and employees is stored in a central
administrative computer system. The following policies apply to this system:

A. Employees who need access to some or all of this information as part of their job
responsibilities are given a password for access. This password should be carefully
guarded, changed frequently, and treated as a signature, i.e. not shared with anyone else
including fellow employees or family members. It is a responsibility of the employee to
help preserve the confidentiality of personal information in the system mandated by law.

B. Unauthorized access to data and improper use of data in the administrative system is
strictly prohibited and may result in termination.

C. The administrative computing system is not to be used for personal purposes (the one
exception being employees who receive email or access the Internet through accounts on
this system).

4. Data Communications

The University provides a data network connection for virtually all personal computers giving
access to other computers and services both within and outside the campus. Every employee and
student is also given an account on at least one central computer to permit access to email, the
World Wide Web, and other local and national/international services. The following policies
apply to such accounts and communications services:

The contents of electronic messages, documents and graphic images must conform to University
ethical and business standards. Employees are not permitted to use the University's electronic
systems for activities such as stating political views, communicating inappropriate, sexually
explicit or offensive comments, soliciting employees, communicating destructive (virus)
programs or conducting personal business. The use of profanity, derogatory epithets, innuendos



or sexual, threatening or abusive language on the University's electronic systems is also
prohibited.

If employees receive an inappropriate or offensive electronic communications via the
University's electronic systems, they should immediately notify their supervisor or the Human
Resources Department.

A.

The access password should be carefully guarded, changed frequently, and treated as a
signature, i.e. not shared with anyone else including fellow employees or family
members.
The following are prohibited and some may constitute criminal activity:

1. Unauthorized access to other users' accounts, system software, University
data, or remote computer systems.
Unauthorized decryption of coded information such as passwords.
Attempts to "crash" computers or network services.
Storage or transmission of copyrighted materials without permission.
Willful introduction of viruses or other disruptive/destructive programs.
Attempts to evade or bypass resource quotas.
Forgery or attempted forgery of documents or email.
Excessive use of resources, such as network bandwidth or disk storage.

9. Unsolicited "broadcasting" of email (electronic junk mail).

10. Harassment or intimidation of other users.
Unauthorized access to other users' accounts, system software, University data, or remote
computer systems.
Widely accepted etiquette for the Internet should always be observed. For example, email
should not be sent to users, lists, or news groups where the subject is not appropriate,
where the user is not welcome, or the document size is excessive. Language should
always be appropriate and representative of a Christian.
University employees and students may set up a home page on the World Wide Web
containing personal as well as University information. Such pages must follow guidelines
established by the Web Page Committee.
All electronic information systems and date (including e-mail, computer data, tele faxes
and voice mail) are considered University property and records. Electronic
communications should not be considered private communications.
A limited number of telephone connections is provided by the University for employees
to access campus information resources from their homes or while traveling on
University business. All information technology policies apply to these connections as
well as to computers on campus.
Limited personal use of University data communication facilities is permitted outside of
work hours, for example for email or Web browsing. The available resources may
sometimes restrict such personal use.
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Philosophy of Remuneration

YOUR WAGES 4:3-100

1. Objectives - The Seventh-day Adventist Church has accepted the commission given by Jesus
Christ to His disciples to proclaim the gospel to all the world. The church employs many
agencies to accomplish its spiritual task, but all of its organizations (conferences, schools,
health care institutions, food factories, publishing houses, radio and television ministries,
Adventist Book Centers, etc.) have one central objective - the salvation of humanity. Because of
this, every denominational employee has a responsibility to participate in the mission of the
church.

2. Philosophy - To provide a basis for the remuneration of various classifications of employees, a
denominational remuneration scale has been adopted. The philosophy of this remuneration scale
is predicated upon the fact that a spirit of sacrifice and dedication should mark God's workers
irrespective of the position they hold or of the department they represent. The work of the
church, including every denominational organization, is a mission to which lives are dedicated
rather than a business or commercial venture. The church remuneration scale does not always
compensate its dedicated employees in monetary units commensurate with their talents,
accomplishments and contributions, but does provide employees with a modest living income,
which gives recognition of responsibilities borne, preparation undertaken, professional
attainment, previous experience and years of service. In addition to basic remuneration, the
church has also made provision for various types of fringe benefits.

3. Spirit of Sacrifice - The church believes that modesty and good taste with reasonable comfort
will govern the lives of Christian workers. It recognizes that some areas of its work are more
directly affected by economic factors outside of the church organization than are others, and by
local economic conditions prevailing in different geographical areas. The spirit of sacrifice on
the part of Adventist employees will be manifest not only by the level of their financial
remuneration, but also by the dedication of time, talents and energy to the cause of God and
humanity. Men and women called to labor in the cause of the Adventist Church are to be
workers of single purpose and allegiance. With Paul, the great missionary of the early Christian
Church, they say, "This one thing I do."

4. Commitment - The Church's philosophy of remuneration was developed on the scriptural and
spiritual imperative, "Give us this day our daily bread." It is a plan which provides a salary
covering the needs of individuals who believe that God blesses the spirit of selfless service and
who believe that the Seventh-day Adventist Church has a worldwide mission. This philosophy,
from its inception, has anticipated that, in addition to the contribution of time and talent,
Seventh-day Adventist employees will also, from their modest remuneration, return a faithful
tithe and make voluntary gifts to accelerate the proclamation of the gospel, and thus exhibit a
further demonstration of faith and commitment. Because of this philosophy, all denominational
employees in the Seventh day Adventist Church are regarded as church workers and are called
to commitment and sacrifice.

5. Non-Discrimination -When considered in the light of the previous principles, the remuneration
scale of the University reflects the spirit of non-discrimination, and equal pay, as well as being
in conformity with the teachings and beliefs of the church.



WAGES-HOURLY EMPLOYEES 4:3-105

It is the goal of Andrews University to employ and retain the most qualified personnel in harmony
with its priorities of hiring as stated under the section entitled Hiring and Selection. The University
has endeavored to establish a wage and salary system that will be consistent with this goal.

Every non-student hour time position in the University has been assigned a wage range determined
by an analysis of the responsibilities, knowledge, judgment, working conditions of the job, and
several other factors. Each wage range is structured with a minimum and maximum rate, and all
employee rates of pay will be within the range for each job.

The University is primarily concerned with equity in rates of pay relative to jobs at Andrews
University. However, in order to be equitable the University endeavors to be aware of community
rates and rates of other comparable institutions.

REMUNERATION SCALES 4:3-110

1. Specifications - A remuneration scale based on such considerations as education, experience,
and responsibility, provides minimums and maximums expressed in percentages of the
remuneration factor. It incorporates basic income rates for various categories of services, with
recognition of the responsibility inherent in each position or category.

2. Categories - A spread between minimum and maximum rates in the various categories from
fifteen to forty percent has been incorporated in the remuneration scale. In setting rates within
this spread, Human Resources may take into consideration the following factors in setting rates
within the spread with respect to each employee:

Education and training

Previous experience and achievement
Skills and abilities

Years of service
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PERFORMANCE AND EVALUATIONS 4:3-115

All employees will participate in annual performance reviews. New hourly employees of Andrews
University will be evaluated at the end of a 90-day period. Benefits will be activated if the 90-day
evaluation meets job expectations. Performance evaluation reports are filed with employee records in
HR.

ANNUAL INCREMENTS 4:3-120

An employee may receive a remuneration increment if the maximum for the remuneration category
has not been reached. Increases are set by the administration and are also based in part on
performance evaluations. Annual increases are implemented in July.

COST OF LIVING INCREASES 4:3-125
There is no cost of living percentage increase.

OVERTIME PAY-HOURLY EMPLOYEES 4:3-130



Overtime pay is computed for hours actually worked by non-exempt employees over forty hours in one week. The rate over time
pay is 1.5 times the normal hourly wage. Any overtime worked must have advance approval by your supervisor. Overtime pay is
required by law only on time actually worked (exclusive of sick time, vacations, holidays, etc.).

In no situation are you to work without reporting the time, even if the time is in excess of 40 hours in one week. Working "off the
clock" (i.e., working without reporting the time) is not legal and must not be done.

PAY DAYS 4:3-135

Employees are paid on a biweekly basis every other Friday. The payroll check is for the two-week period ending on the Saturday
prior to the Friday that the check is issued.

A schedule of paydays and payroll periods are posted at the HR website.
YOUR PAYCHECK 4:3-140

Paychecks normally include the following items (wherever applicable):

EARNINGS DEDUCTIONS

a[Salary or hourly [a|Applicable taxes
wages

blSpecial blHealth insurance, accidental death
Adjustments insurance, voluntary donations, tax

sheltered annuities, etc.
c|Other forms of  [c|Other deductions
compensation

PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS 4:3-145

Federal and state laws require the withholding of income tax as well as Social Security and Medicare
(FICA) tax. All deductions, including personal deductions are listed on the paycheck stub. Voluntary
deductions to employee account, church, or University contributions are subject to authorization by
you.

Any questions regarding deductions should be directed to the payroll office.

Any changes in the tax exemptions you claim, or employee status, must be made through the payroll
office.

DIRECT DEPOSIT 4:3-150

Direct deposit is the automatic deposit of your paycheck into the financial institution of your choice. Your paycheck is your
earnings (less deductions) which may be applied to your checking, savings, or loan accounts according to your arrangements with
the financial institution.

Once you have established an account at the financial institution, please complete the online direct

deposit authorization.

Employees are strongly encouraged to have direct deposit set up for their paycheck to avoid missing
checks and the inconvenience of manually depositing the paycheck in person.


https://www.andrews.edu/services/hr/mgrs_supv_tools/schedule.html
https://www.andrews.edu/go/mydirectdeposit
https://www.andrews.edu/go/mydirectdeposit

Your Benefits: Time Off Work

PAID LEAVE PLAN-HOURLY EMPLOYEES 4:4-100

1. Purpose - The Andrews University Paid Leave Plan is available to workers who are of an HH,
HP, or HF classification.

The purpose of the plan is to provide a continuity of income during specific periods of absence
which includes vacation, personal time, holidays and short-term sick leave and
medical/vision/dental appointments.

2. Accrual Rate - Time begins to accrue on the first day of employment at the following rate, as
determined by total denominational employment: (The leave bank illustration is based on a 40-
hour workweek.)

LEAVE BANK ILLUSTRATION

Total Hours | Equivalent Maximum Annual Hourly Rate of
Days Accrual Accrual
One through four years 0-7,488 25 200 hours 0.0961538
Five through nine years |7,489 to 16,848 30 240 hours| 0.1153846,
Starting tenth year Begin 16,849 35 280 hours 0.1346153

For the purpose of determining the hourly rate of accrual the first 1,820 hours in a calendar year
will constitute one year. Less than full-time will be prorated, providing the service was at least
1,000 hours for the year. For denominational employment prior to Andrews University, the
years of employment will be determined from the Employee Service Record. The appropriate
hours will be added to the Paid Leave Bank after the Record is received.

Except for holidays and sick leave, the Paid Leave Bank may be used at the discretion of the
employee upon prior arrangement with the department head.

Time in the Paid Leave Bank may be paid only when the employee is off duty during his/her
normal working hours, except at the time of termination or retirement.

Time in the Paid Leave Bank accrues only on the first 80 hours of paid time in a two-week pay
period.

4. Holiday Time - The University designates holidays when its normal activities are halted. Please
see policy # 4:4-125 for a list of holidays. Employees will be expected to take their holidays at
those times. Employees required to work on holidays may take equivalent time off at another
time acceptable to their department head.

5. Short-Term Sick Leave - The first three work days of any illness are paid from the Paid Leave
Bank. Sick time for any illness of the employee which exceeds three work days may be charged
to available time in the Long-Term Sick Leave Time Bank. Sick Leave will be paid only if



notification of the illness is given at the beginning of the workday on the first day of absence.

6. Time Limitations - Time may not be charged to the Paid Leave Bank in excess of its balance.
For that reason, employees are advised to maintain a reserve for emergencies. Not more than
four of the standard or average (whichever is less) workweeks may be charged to this bank at
any one time.

The maximum paid leave that can be accumulated during the fiscal year is 320 hours or eight
standard or personal average workweeks, whichever is less. When the maximum hours are
reached no further hours may be added to the bank.

At the beginning of the fiscal year (July 1) any hours in the Paid Leave Bank which exceed 280
hours or seven of your standard or average workweeks, whichever is less, will be transferred to
the Long-Term Sick Time Bank, but the hours in that bank may not exceed the maximum
permissible. Time which cannot be transferred to this Long-Term Sick Bank will be lost.

The net amount of accrued time in both the Paid Leave and Long-Term Sick Leave Banks will
appear on the check stub of qualified employees. No more leave time may be claimed than
appeared on the most recent past check stub.

LONG-TERM SICK LEAVE-HOURLY WORKERS 4:4-105

The Long-term Sick Leave Bank provides paid time off for employees who experience an extended
illness, are hospitalized/have out-patient surgery requiring a period of recovery. This bank accrues at
the rate of .0153846 hours for each hour worked up to 80 hours per pay period, which is four of the
regular or average workdays, whichever is less, per year. The maximum that may be accrued in this
bank is 26 average workweeks, but in no case more than 1,040 hours.

This bank may be used as follows:

1. Starting with the fourth day of an illness (requires three consecutive workdays of absence due to
the illness, to be claimed as short-term sick hours from the paid leave bank; in the absence of
sufficient paid leave hours, some or all of the three days may be unpaid), or

2. Starting with the first day of hospitalization or out-patient surgery (where a period of recovery
beyond three days is necessary).

To qualify for Long-Term Sick Leave the first "Application for Long-Term Sick Leave" for each
absence must be accompanied by a physician's statement which indicates the nature of the illness,
disability or incapacity and should indicate the anticipated period of absence from work. Subsequent
applications within that period will not require the physician's statement.

Employees are expected to return to work as soon as they can resume their duties. In some instances
this may require reasonable accommodation on the part of the University to a temporary incapacity
of the employee. This will be arranged, where possible, by department heads. The date of return to
work may be set on the advice of the attending physician whose counsel may be sought at any time
with consent of the employee while the Long-Term Sick Leave Bank is being used. Time may not be
charged to this bank after the physician has given approval to return to work.



Long-Term Sick Leave may not be used when incarceration is the cause for absence from work.

Payments may not be made out of the Long-Term Sick Leave Bank after the date of termination of
work nor may the credit remaining in the bank be paid in cash at any time. Time in the Long-Term
Sick Leave Bank may not be transferred to the Paid Leave Bank under any circumstances.

LONG TERM SICK LEAVE-SALARIED EMPLOYEES 4:4-110

Purpose

To provide paid leave for its regular half-time and above salaried staff and faculty who become ill
while employed by the University. This policy provides definition and application for the
administration of this policy.

Definition
Short-term Sick Leave: occasional short-term illness of less than a week; this time is not monitored
or counted against the extended sick leave time.

Extended Sick Leave: a 90-day period of paid sick leave time available when the employee is unable
to work due to illness for an extended period of time of more than one week. Frequent intermittent
time away from the office due to illness should be reviewed by the supervisor and the Office of
Human Resources to determine if it falls under this extended sick leave policy.

Extended sick leave could turn into long-term disability depending on the nature of the illness. This
90-day extended sick leave period may also constitute as the elimination period for long-term
disability, where the employee must experience a loss of function or salary reduction before the long-
term disability benefits would be available.

Long-term Disability Period: a medical event which lasts for more than 90 days. Partial salary may
be provided by an external commercial policy, the University, or some combination of these two, as
applicable.

Application

An employee is eligible to access the extended sick leave provision of the benefit policy as needed
for up to 90 days. No notification is required other than to the chair or supervisor for the first five
days. If the event goes beyond five days, the employee must provide medical certification and
complete an FMLA form (which will include doctor’s certification of the medical event) with the
Office of Human Resources. It will then be considered a formal family medical leave and will be
tracked accordingly.

After 60 days of extended sick leave, the employee will be required to complete a long-term
disability application in anticipation of the medical event extending beyond 90 days, qualifying it for
long-term disability coverage.

During the extended sick leave, days 1-90, the employee will be paid 100% of their salary. Should
the medical event continue, the employee will receive 80% of their bi-weekly salary for days 91-180,
paid by the University until the point where the long-term disability application is approved. Once
the application is approved, 66 2/3% of bi-weekly salary is paid by the long-term disability provider
with the University supplementing the remaining 13 1/3%, thus 80% of salary is continued through
day 180. After 180 days, the University will no longer supplement 13 1/3% of bi-weekly salary; the
employee will only receive the 66 2/3% payment from long-term disability.

GIFT OF TIME 4:4-111



Andrews University recognizes that from time to time employees may have a medical event or be
affected by a major disaster, resulting in a need for additional time off in excess of their available
applicable leave time. To address this need, eligible employees will be allowed to gift accrued paid
leave/vacation time from their unused balance to their eligible co-workers in need of additional paid
time off, in accordance with the policy outlined below. This program is strictly voluntary.

Eligibility to Participate

Individuals must be employed by Andrews University in an employee class eligible to accrue leave,
in order to be able to gift or receive time. Faculty are not eligible to participate in this program (gift
or receive) as their vacation time is not tracked per policy. Salaried staff, while eligible to gift time,
will not be eligible to receive gifted time for medical events; FMLA events will be fully covered by
the extended sick leave policy. In addition, as salaried staff by policy are allowed to overdraw their
vacation time by 10 days, gifted time may only be used for major disasters necessitating a negative
vacation balance in excess of 10 days.

Eligible Events
Employees who would like to receive gifted leave time from their co-workers must have a situation
that meets the following criteria:

o Medical event (FMLA), defined as a medical condition covered by the Family and Medical
Leave Act (FMLA), whereby the employee or an immediate family member requires a
prolonged/extended absence of the employee from work and will result in a substantial loss of
income to the employee due to the exhaustion of all leave time available. An immediate family
member is defined as a spouse, child or parent.

e Major disaster, defined as a disaster that has otherwise not created a medical event, whereby an
employee is considered to be adversely affected by the severe hardship to the employee or to an
immediate family member of the employee that requires the employee to be absent from work
and will result in a substantial loss of income to the employee due to the exhaustion of all paid
leave/vacation time available.

Gifting Time Guidelines (Donor)

e Gifted time will be withdrawn from the paid leave/vacation bank and not from the long-term
sick leave bank.

o The gifting and receipt of paid time off is on an hourly basis, converted by taking into account
the differences in pay. (For example, one employee earns $20 an hour and gifts one hour of
time to an employee that earns $10 an hour. The receiving employee would receive two hours
of gifted time.)

e The maximum time that an employee may gift in a benefit year (July — June) is 40 hours in total
(prorated for less than full-time/100% appointment employees)

o At the time that the gift is processed, the withdrawal may not cause the paid-leave/vacation
bank to fall below 56 hours.

e Employees cannot borrow against future or the accrual on the current pay period’s paid
leave/vacation time to gift time.

e Employees who are currently on an approved leave of absence cannot gift time.

e All prior months’ leave reports, for salaried employees, must be approved.

e Gifts of time are received on a first come, first give basis. Gifts will be declined when the
receiving employee reaches the lower of the total time necessary to cover the unpaid portion of



their time off for the eligible event, or their maximum receipt amount for the benefit year (see
below).
e (Gifted time is not considered charitable contributions for income tax purposes.

Receiving Gifted Time Guidelines (Recipient)

e Gifted time will go into a separate leave bank that may not be used until all other appropriate
leave banks are exhausted.

e Gifted time may only be used for time off related to the approved request and its usage will not
accrue additional leave time.

e The maximum time that an employee may receive in a benefit year (July — June) is 80 hours in
total (prorated for less than full-time/100% appointment employees).

o Gifted time can be used either on a continuous or an intermittent basis, as long as it is for the
same approved event.

e Gifted time cannot be cashed out or converted to other types of leave.

e Employees covered by or eligible for long-term disability or worker’s compensation are not
eligible to receive gifted time.

e Nothing in this policy will be construed to limit or extend the maximum allowable absence
under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

REPORTING OF TIME 4:4-115

Payments for any time to be charged to the Long-Term Sick Leave Bank must be reported on the
appropriate forms at the end of the week in which the time is taken.

VACATION 4:4-120

Your vacation is a time intended for rest and relaxation; for this reason you may not receive pay in
lieu of vacation. Unused vacation time, with the approval of your supervisor may be carried over to
the following year, but not more than six weeks may be taken in any one calendar year or upon
termination. Exceptions may be made if your superior has been unable to grant you vacation at the
time you reached your maximum. You are encouraged to take the vacation at one or two times per
year.

The number of weeks of vacation you are entitled to is determined by your years of denominational
employment as shown on your Employee Service Record.

On the basis of your years of denominational employment, as reflected on your service record, you
are entitled to the following weeks of vacation each year:

First four years - 2 weeks
Next five years - 3 weeks

After nine years - 4 weeks
HOLIDAYS 4:4-125

The University recognizes eight holidays, two of which are a day-and-a-half for a total of nine days
annually. The holidays are:



e New Year's Day

Martin Luther King's Birthday

Presidents' Day

Memorial Day - when it does not fall within exam week
Independence Day

Labor Day

Thanksgiving (1.5)

Christmas (1.5)

Employees will be expected to take their holidays at those times. Employees required to work on
holidays may take equivalent time off at another time acceptable to their department head.

HOLIDAYS THAT FALL DURING THE ORIENTATION PERIOD 4:4-130

Time off may not be charged to the Paid Leave Bank during the orientation period. For holidays that
fall during the orientation period the employee has the option of reporting the time when he/she is
placed on a regular classification providing he/she did not work on the holiday.

An employee wishing to be paid for the holidays which occurred before the completion of the
orientation period may report the holiday time on the Application for Paid Leave form. A separate
form must be turned in for each holiday. Each form must show the week-ending date for the week in
which the holiday fell. The forms should not be turned in until the employee is placed on a regular
classification.

Time in excess of that which has been accrued may not be reported for pay. Time not charged to the
bank may be used at a later date. This exception does not apply to absences from work during the
orientation period for any reason other than holidays. Work absences other than holidays that occur
during the orientation period may not be charged to the paid leave bank.

PERSONAL LEAVE 4:4-135

Leaves of absence are to be considered as an exception. A personal leave of absence is authorized
time off without pay or salary. After you have worked as a regular full-time employee for at least one
year, a request for a personal leave of absence may be granted upon the recommendation of the
department head and the appropriate vice president.

Personal leaves of absence of up to one month for a staff member may be granted by the department
head or supervisor, and the appropriate vice president. Leaves of absence in excess of one month
must be approved by the above and HR.

You must complete a leave of absence application and submit it to the Human Resource Director.

The Human Resource Director will determine your eligibility prior to approval, and administer the
leave of absence once it has been approved. You should plan to request a personal leave of absence
only under very unusual circumstances, and, when possible, four months before the leave is to begin.

University policies regarding a personal leave of absence are as follows:
1. Wages are not paid during the employee's absence.

2. Vacation and sick time will not accrue.
3. No other benefits or subsidies will be paid, nor will service credit accrue.



4. Hospital insurance may be continued at the employee's cost for a maximum of one year if
arrangements are made with Human Resources in advance and payments are made before the
employee's leave of absence begins.

5. The staff employee may be reinstated to his/her former position if it is available at the time of

the reinstatement request. If the employee's department is not able to keep the position

available, effort will be made to place the employee in a similar position. The University cannot
guarantee the same duties or rate of pay. If no such position is available, or if the employee
declines the alternate position or is not selected as the most qualified candidate, then the
employee will be subject to dismissal of employment.

Accrued vacation time must be used before a leave of absence begins.

7. Extensions of a leave of absence must be approved in writing prior to the end of the employee's
original leave. These will be granted in the same manner as the original leave. Failure to return
after the expiration of the leave of absence will be treated as a resignation.

o

FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FLMA) 4:4-140

Employees are eligible for FMLA if they have worked for at least 12 months and at least 1,250 hours
during that 12-month period. Under the Act, the leave period will be up to 12 weeks per year or up to
26 weeks for Military Caregiver. The Act may entitle you to take the leave for the following reasons:

The birth and care of your child;

The placement of a child with you for adoption or foster care;

The care of your spouse, child, or parent suffering from a "serious health condition";

Your inability to perform the functions of your job duties because of your serious health
condition.

5. For qualifying exigencies arising out of the fact that the employee’s spouse, son, daughter, or
parent is on active duty or call to active duty status as a member of the National Guard or
Reserves in support of a contingency operation.

=

Your Family Medical Leave will be unpaid. Employees may request accrued paid leave or long term
sick leave under the policies of the University during their family medical leave. The use of paid
benefits will not extend the duration of family medical leave.

Under condition 4 above you may use your accrued paid leave time and your long term sick time
during your Family Medical Leave. Please see policy on use of long term sick bank.

Where both spouses are employed by the University the leave will be a total of 12 weeks for both
spouses, unless the leave is for the serious illness of the employee or a child.

The request for planned medical treatment must be made at least 30 days before it is to begin, unless
circumstances would not permit, in which case the request must be made as soon as it is practical--
usually 1-2 business days. No advance notice is required when the reason for the leave is unforeseen.

The employee requesting leave is required to submit a timely, complete, and sufficient medical
certification to support a request for FMLA leave due to their own serious health condition. The
employee's response is required to obtain or retain the benefit of FMLA protections. Failure to
provide a complete and sufficient medical certification within 15 calendar days may result in a denial
of your FMLA request.

Leaves that are taken on an intermittent basis should be planned so as to result in the least possible
disruption to your work schedule.



During the term of your leave you will be entitled to your regular benefits, except service credit
which will not accrue during the unpaid portion. You will be required to pay the contribution to your
health care assistance that falls due during your absence.

Upon your return to work following the leave you will be reinstated to your job, or if that is not
possible, to an equivalent job.

The full policy under the Family and Medical Leave Act is available to all employees and by
reference is a part of this policy. That policy and application for the leave is available in Human
Resources and at the website(s) listed below.

US Dept of Labor main FMLA website.
US Dept of Labor FMLA Fact Sheet #28.
FMLA Poster.

BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 4:4-145

Andrews believes in the value of family and the importance of taking time to grieve together. Under
this policy, benefit eligible employees will be allowed to take time off due to the death of a family
member. In addition to bereavement leave, an employee may, with his/her supervisors’ approval, use
any available paid leave/vacation time for supplementary time off. Hourly rated employees should
request bereavement (funeral) leave on the timeclock.

Paid bereavement leave will be granted as follows:

e Three days in the event of the death of your spouse, (step)child, (step)parent,
(step)brother/sister, mother/father-in-law, son/daughter-in-law, or grandchild.

e One and a half day in the event of the death of your brother/sister-in-law, niece, nephew, aunt,
uncle, or grandparent.

VOTING 4:4-150

All eligible voters are urged to vote on Election Day. Voting after working hours is suggested in
order to have minimal impact on your work area and job duties.

JURY DUTY 4:4-155

You will be paid for the hours lost during your regular work-week while you serve on jury duty or
during jury selection. For hourly employees such time should be reported on the Time Manager's
Website.


http://www.dol.gov/whd/fmla/
http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/whdfs28.pdf
http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/posters/fmla.htm
https://www.andrews.edu/admsvs/timeclocks/
https://www.andrews.edu/admsvs/timeclocks/

Your Benefits: Medical, Disability and
Retirement

HEALTH CARE EXPENSE ASSISTANCE PLAN 4:5-100

The University provides a comprehensive health care assistance program for eligible regular
employees. A policy summary briefly outlining the benefits available under this Plan is available
from Human Resources. Your certificate of coverage will be mailed to you directly from the
insurance companies following enrollment. Those documents, by reference, are a part of this
Handbook.

LONG TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE COVERAGE 4:5-105

The University provides an insurance policy to replace a portion of wages lost by a full-time
employee due to a long-term disability. For this purpose full-time is defined as an average of at least
35 hours per week. This policy is secondary to Worker's Compensation and coordinates with any
other employer-provided wage replacement program.

If you become disabled while employed by the University, information about the policy and the
application is available from the University's Human Resources.

RETIREMENT PROGRAM 4:5-110

The University participates in the Seventh-day Adventist retirement plan. Minimum benefits are
available to workers who have ten full years of denominational service credit.

Since January 1, 1981, service credit may accrue on employment which averages at least 20 hours
per week and amounts to at least 1000 hours a calendar year if followed by a year of full-time
employment.

Service credit accrues to a total of 40 years. There are specified conditions which must be met to
receive benefits. The program is non-contributory, which means you do not pay any premiums. You
will receive a brochure at the time you are hired. A copy of the complete retirement plan is available
for your inspection in Human Resources.

The Service Record on which your employment with the denomination is recorded is kept in Human
Resources. Should you later obtain employment with another denominational organization your
record will be sent there. Otherwise it will be held by the University until you apply for retirement.
You will be provided a copy of your service record every two years. You may request a copy of your
Service Record at any time.

SOCIAL SECURITY 4:5-115

The University participates in the Social Security program of the United States Government and is
required by law to deduct the prescribed taxes from eligible employees' paychecks. This is a
government program entitling you and your family to benefits upon retirement or disability.

WORKER'S COMPENSATION 4:5-120



1. If you are injured. Any injuries or illnesses sustained on the job, no matter how minor, must be
reported immediately to your supervisor. If the injury or illness is job related and creates
temporary or permanent disability, you may qualify for workers' compensation and allowable
medical expenses may be paid by the University. Lost time from work for a covered disability
may also qualify you for benefits from workers' compensation. The compensation you receive
will be determined under State law. To establish benefits from worker's compensation, contact
Human Resources.

2. Physicians to use. Michigan workers' compensation provides that the employer may designate a
physician to treat work-related injuries or illnesses. Andrews University has designated
University Medical Specialties for this purpose. Employees who sustain work related injuries or
illnesses may not be treated by any provider except University Medical Specialties or providers
they designate. The law provides two exceptions to this rule:

A. Emergency medical treatment where a hospital emergency room is required.

B. Ten days or more after the injury or illness was reported, an employee may seek
treatment from the medical provider of his or her choice. This request for exception
must be submitted in writing to the HR director prior to obtaining the desired treatment.

3. Health care assistance. Your University health care assistance will be continued up to three
months while you are not working because of a work-related injury sustained by you in the
course of the performance of your employment at Andrews University. The University may, at
its discretion, continue your medical coverage beyond the three-month period, taking into
consideration your physician's diagnosis and any agreement it may reach with you concerning
your employment status. Neither paid leave nor long term sick-time will accrue while you are
on workers' compensation leave. Earned sick pay may be used to supplement your income to
equal regular pay when lost time occurs because of a work-related injury.

4. Your recovery and return to work. Your speedy recovery and return to work are of paramount
importance. To facilitate this, the University may guide your medical treatment within the scope
permitted by law. If you are released to work with medical restrictions, your supervisor will
attempt to make accommodations for you to continue your regular job. If that is not possible,
you may be given other responsibilities within your department or elsewhere in the University.

TAX ANNUITY PROGRAM 4:5-125

As an employee of the University, you may take advantage of the tax sheltered annuity program.
Briefly, this plan allows you to authorize the University to withhold an amount you specify from
your paycheck and deposit it in an Individual Retirement Account (IRA). You will not be taxed on
the amount of the deposit until such time as you may withdraw it. Full information regarding the
program is available at the payroll office.

UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION INSURANCE 4:5-130

As an employee of the University you may be eligible for unemployment compensation should you
become unemployed for certain specified reasons. Your eligibility would be determined by the
Michigan Employment Security Commission. The University reimburses the State of Michigan for
actual claims paid and there is never any cost to you. The amount and duration of payment during
periods of unemployment is determined by state law.



An exception is that student spouses who are hired by the University are not eligible for
Unemployment Compensation benefits. Employment is provided for student spouses as a part of the
financial assistance to the student and will not be covered by a program of unemployment
compensation based on such employment. This exclusion is provided for in the Michigan
Employment Security Act C.P.A. 1936, Ex. Sess., No. 1, Sec. 43, as amended; MCLA 421.43.



Your Benefits: Tuition Assistance

The University encourages you to develop your work abilities in a skill or profession. Through on-
the-job instruction and part-time schooling, you may achieve real personal and/or professional
growth while employed at Andrews University.

EMPLOYEE & SPOUSE 4:6-100
EMPLOYEES

A full-time regular employee may apply for admission to a school within the University. If you
qualify for this benefit and wish to take a class, you will need both the approval of your supervisor
and acceptance into the school of your choice. You may then take one class for up four credits each
semester without tuition cost to you. This does not include private lessons or individual instruction
with labs (online classes may be included if they meet the other criteria for the class). You will be
admitted to a class with limited enrollment only after tuition-paying students have been
accommodated. A course will not be offered unless there are enough tuition-paying students to
justify it.

You will be expected to pay the application, late registration, general, or any other applicable fees.
Continuing education courses offered by the University's lifelong learning program may be taken in
lieu of courses in one of the colleges. You will be responsible for course fees that are in excess of
normal tuition charges in order to provide special materials and trips.

You must apply for the tuition assistance each semester for the course(s) you are taking. Your free
class(es) should be taken outside of regular scheduled work hours. Exceptions may be made with the
approval of the department head, when it can be accommodated without disruption of the work
routine, particularly where the class work taken is directly applicable to the work of the department.
Normally, an hourly rated worker will not be paid for the time spent in class.

Benefits under this policy are concurrent with your employment. The entitlement from semesters
when no class work was taken does not accrue for future semesters. The tuition for class work begun
before or continued after you are entitled to this benefit will be prorated from or to the date of
entitlement. This program is a waiver of tuition and has no cash value.

To accommodate summer class schedules, the tuition waiver under the free class policy will be
determined by the employee's hire or termination date in relation to the official class schedule (begin
and end date). Tuition waiver will be applied fully to classes that are scheduled within the
employment period of the employee, and prorated for classes that fall outside of the employment
period. Class schedule is based on the official class dates and not completion of the coursework.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) considers employer-provided graduate tuition assistance as part
of your wage package and the assistance is subject to tax withholding. In 2007, the University elected
to apply IRS code section 127 which excludes from taxation graduate-level courses to employees
(excludes free tuition to spouses) up to a maximum of $5,250 per calendar year.

This tuition assistance policy does not apply when financial assistance is received for payment of the
tuition costs from sources outside the University. You are encouraged to avail yourself of financial
assistance for which you may qualify.

SPOUSE



A regular full-time faculty/salaried employee's spouse may apply for admission to a school within the
University for non-doctoral study. A spouse who qualifies for admission is eligible for up to 4 (four)
credits free plus 50% discount for the remainder of credits taken each semester (except some
discounted classes, private lessons, individual instructions, and doctoral work). He/she may be
admitted to a course to which enrollment is limited only if there is room after tuition paying students
have been first accommodated. A course shall not be offered for an employees’ spouse when the
number of tuition-paying students does not justify offering the course. Spouses admitted to courses
on this basis shall pay the regular application fee, general, or late registration fee.

The tuition waiver is a forgiveness of tuition that is available to qualified employee's spouses who
occupy available positions in a regularly scheduled class and thus does not include independent
study, directed reading, private music lessons, practicums, clinical experiences, or any instruction
outside of the normal classroom setting. (Online classes may be included if they meet the other
criteria for the class)

All graduate level tuition assistance for employee's spouses provided by the University must be
included as taxable income by the employee, as required by the IRS.

DEPENDENT CHILDREN 4:6-105

If you are a full-time regular employee and have unmarried, dependent children who are less than
twenty-four years of age attending school, educational scholarship assistance in the form of tuition
grants is available upon application. (Exceptions may be made to the age requirement if education
has been interrupted due to compulsory military service, volunteer service for the church, or a
documented medical condition). Dependent children enrolled in the Adventist Colleges Abroad are
eligible for tuition assistance benefit. Employees eligible for dependent tuition assistance whose
spouse is denominationally employed and also eligible for tuition benefits will receive half of the
computed benefits.

Scholarship Grants are computed as follows:

1. For hourly employees: 35% of basic tuition costs for the child(ren) attending a Lake Union
Conference SDA elementary or day academy, or in an undergraduate program of Andrews
University as a day/village student.

2. For approved salaried employees: 35% of basic tuition costs for the child(ren) attending a Lake
Union Conference SDA elementary or day academy, or in an undergraduate program of
Andrews University as a day student, or in an undergraduate program at other North American
Division SDA schools.

3. For all employees: 60% of basic tuition costs for child(ren) enrolled as boarding student(s) at a
Lake Union Conference SDA academy or in an undergraduate program at Andrews University.

4. Tuition assistance shall be provided for credits that are earned through the College Level
Examination Program (CLEP). The assistance is 35% whether or not the student is residing in a
school dormitory.

5. The amount of the grant will be based on the actual tuition costs and general fees when charged
separately, and does not include charges for special music lessons. Fees for required music
lessons may be included for music majors or minors.

6. Assistance may continue for a maximum of ten semesters of undergraduate or graduate study;
graduate study must occur at Andrews University in order to be eligible. The number of
semesters eligible for assistance is prorated, based on prior university enrollment, when
eligibility begins. Enrollment in summer semesters count against the ten semester total.



Assistance may be available for the child(ren) who enters a professional program in medicine or
dentistry prior to completing undergraduate degree requirements. The assistance will not be
available for a period longer than that which would have been required to complete the
undergraduate degree nor for more dollars than would have been allowed as a full-time
undergraduate student at Andrews University.

Grants shall be available for the child(ren) of the employee who is employed at the beginning of
the child(rens') school year and scholarships will be prorated if the individual is employed after
the beginning of the school year. It is understood that the child(ren) must be in school at the
time for which the scholarship is paid. The scholarship shall be credited to the student's account
each semester when bills are presented.

The payment of the scholarship will be made directly to the school involved.



Your Benefits: Other Personal Benefits

ADOPTION EXPENSE 4:7-100

Should you, as a full-time, full time hourly and salaried employee (Class HF, SF), adopt a child, the
University will assist you with up to 75 percent of the medical and legal expenses associated with the
adoption. The maximum expenses on which assistance is granted is the equivalent of up to three
times the current monthly remuneration factor. Please see Human Resources for details of this
benefit. This is in lieu of any other assistance associated with the adoption.

EMPLOYEE SURVIVOR BENEFIT PLAN 4:7-105

This plan will provide a benefit which will be paid to your survivor(s), beneficiary or estate in the
event of your death, providing you have been a full-time regular employee. This benefit will be paid
to the survivors of your spouse or dependent should he/she also die.

This benefit is also available during the first year you receive retirement benefits provided you go
directly into the retirement plan from active denominational service.

The purpose of this benefit is to provide for financial assistance in meeting a share of the expenses of
the final illness and funeral, as well as the temporary needs of the survivors. The benefit will be paid
to the survivor(s) by the General Conference upon proper certification by the University. The
benefits under the plan are as follows:

1. To the surviving spouse/dependent of the employee or to the employee whose spouse is

deceased:
IAge under 30 27500.00
Age 30 - 34 25000.00
|Age 35 - 39 22500.00
Age 40 - 44 20000.00
Age 45 - 49 17500.00]
Age 50 - 54 15000.00]
Age 55 -59 12500.00
Age 60 - 64 10000.00]
Age over 64 7500.00

2. To the named beneficiary or estate of the employee without surviving spouse/dependent:

[Flat Amount [ $7,500.00]

3. To the employee whose dependent has deceased:

Stillborn $750.00
Others $5,000.00]
This benefit is fully paid for by the University and all eligible employees are covered.

Employees who discontinue employment as a result of illness or injury but who do not have enough



years of denominational service to qualify for retirement benefits, and who are not otherwise
employed, shall be eligible for the benefit for a period of six months after they go off the payroll.
Spouses of such employees, as well as their eligible dependents, are also covered under this plan
during the six-month period.

If more than one family member is denominationally employed, only one benefit per death will be
paid.

Additional amounts may be purchased on a voluntary basis for a small charge and will become
effective when approved by Adventist Risk Management Services at the General Conference. You
may apply for these additional benefits in HR.

ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT 4:7-110

An optional personal accident insurance plan is available to full-time employees. Coverage under this
insurance program may include the employee and his/her family. The premium is deducted from the
paycheck monthly. If you wish to take advantage of this program, a descriptive brochure is available
from Human Resources.

DINING SERVICE 4:7-115

Cafeteria Meals

With your faculty/staff ID card you are entitled to a 25% discount on cafeteria meals. If you have
arranged for charge privileges, you may use your ID card to charge at the cafeteria and the amount
will be automatically deducted from your paycheck. There is no discount at the Gazebo snack shop.
You may arrange with the food service secretary for special rooms and facilities.

PARKING PERMITS 4:7-120

Parking decals for staff vehicles must be obtained from the Office of Campus Safety located at the
end of Garland Avenue. There is no charge for the decal.

PERSONAL PURCHASING 4:7-125

The University will issue a courtesy purchase order to an employee for selected items that we have
available provided this is not abused by indiscriminate use. Please check with the purchasing office
to see what types of goods are available and procedures to follow. Any purchase made for personal
use is subject to the appropriate tax, which will be added to that purchase.

All paper work for any purchase should be presented to the purchasing office for processing.
Purchases made under this plan are to be paid in full when the paper work is submitted.
TRAVEL ADVANCES 4:7-130

When you are asked to travel on University business, you may request an advance from the

Treasurer's Office against your personal expense account. The expense report, which is submitted to
that office upon your return, should offset the advance.

UNIVERSITY HOUSING 4:7-135



The University has very limited housing available for its employees. You may obtain information
about the available housing through the office of University Housing.



Your Termination & Appeal Procedures

We hope your employment with Andrews University will be enjoyable and rewarding. If you find it
necessary to consider resignation or retirement, we ask that you discuss your plans with your
supervisor as early as possible.

PERIOD OF EMPLOYMENT 4:8-100

The University recognizes the right of any employee to terminate employment at any time and for
any reason, and the employer retains a similar right. No oral or verbal statements, promises or
representations made at any time before, during or after the publication of this handbook may alter
your right and that of the employer to terminate your employment at any time and for any reason
with or without cause.

RESIGNATION 4:8-105

If you terminate, you are requested to give a two-week written notice with the date of termination to
your Department Head. This time is necessary to find and train a replacement for the position. You
must follow the termination procedure (see Terminal Interview) and be cleared of all financial
obligations to the University. Your accrued vacation time will be included in your final check. Your
termination date is the end of any vacation time accrued. Your final paycheck will be sent to you at
your forwarding address after the next regular payday.

RETIREMENT 4:8-110
The recommended age for retirement is 65, but this is not a mandatory retirement age.
LAYOFF, REDUCTION IN FORCE AND TERMINATION 4:8-115

The University's Board of Trustees has delegated to the University Administration the authority for
hiring, promotion, demotion or removal of all employees covered by this handbook. Class SC, SP,
SF, HF, HP employees are hired at will. That means you have the right to terminate your
employment at any time and for any reason, or for no reason, and the employer has a similar right.

It is sometimes necessary to discontinue a job for economic reasons, because of reorganization,
technological developments or for any other reason. When that is done, the affected employee will be
given the courtesy of as much notice as possible. In no case will a salaried Class SF or SP worker be
given less than four weeks’ notice or four weeks’ pay in lieu of notice or a combination of notice and
pay to total four weeks. Hourly employees will be given two weeks’ notice or two weeks’ pay in lieu
of notice or a combination of notice and pay to total two weeks.

Human Resources will attempt to place a laid off employee in another available job for which he/she
is qualified. To accomplish this, the University retains the right to reassign an employee or change
job duties. An effort will be made to match an employee's skill with a position. Failure on the part of
an employee to accept the reassignment or change in duties will be considered a resignation.

TERMINATIONS 4:8-120

Andrews University wants to affirm the value of each individual by providing opportunities for
growth and development of employees. As an employer, Andrews University seeks to develop the
talents and abilities of employees through in-service and on-the-job training. It is the goal of the
institution to develop the people who are part of the organization through positive



employee/employer interaction.

Michigan is an "At Will Employment" state and therefore the employee recognizes that an
employment at will relationship exists and the employee may terminate employment at any time for
any reason subject to the notice requested in the Resignation Policy #4:8-105. The employer has the
same rights as the employee for terminating the employment of the employee. The provisions of the
Employee Handbook do not constitute a contract of employment nor are they covenants.

The following are broad guidelines that may be applied to circumstances where the termination of
employment or discipline of an employee appears necessary.

1. The following are among the reasons for legitimate, impartial and nondiscriminatory termination:

A. Misconduct - may include but is not limited to - gross misconduct, stealing, rape, insubordination, dishonesty,
unethical or dangerous behavior.

B. Job Elimination - reduction in force, economic conditions, retrenchment, merger, shutdown.

C. Poor Performance - incompetence, missing key goals, causing problems that have negative influences on total
performance of the unit or University. Failure to meet any condition of the Conditions of Employment Policy
#4:2-105.

2. The following is the procedure for terminations:

A. Opportunity to Resign - If disciplinary or corrective measures have failed to remedy the situation and if
termination seems to be necessary, the employee may be given the opportunity to initiate resignation.

B. Termination

1. Ifthe employee feels that written conditions of employment or published regulations, policies, or
procedures have been inequitably applied in the impending dismissal, the employee may use the
established grievance procedure. If the employee wishes to use this procedure, intent must be stated in
writing to HR within five working days of receipt of written notice of dismissal. HR will examine the
request and then determine whether a grievance procedure is appropriate. Notice of this decision shall
be delivered in person or by registered mail with return receipt requested.

2. Gross Misconduct - In the case of a serious violation of conditions of employment or major infraction
of policies and regulations, such as gross misconduct, the action to terminate the employee's services
is final. In such cases an employee may not be given an opportunity to resign. Prior notice and
warnings need not be given. Gross misconduct includes, but is not necessarily limited to, the following

acts:
a. Vandalism
b. Act of immorality or indiscretion
C. Disorderly conduct and profanity
d. Gross neglect of duty
€. Dishonesty
f.

Use, possession, or distribution of tobacco, alcohol, unprescribed drugs, or controlled
substances.

g. Permitting or requiring hourly employees to work without clocking or otherwise recording
all hours worked. (Applies to supervisory employees and requires a written warning before
termination.)

3. Other violations which may result in termination include, but are not limited to:

Falsification of personnel and/or other records, including the application for employment
Excessive absences and/or irregular work habits, regardless of the reason
Insubordination

po o

Theft of or unauthorized possession or use of property belonging to the University or its
employees, students, customers or guests, or willful destruction of same

Neglect of duty or the care and use of University property

o

Disregard of safety regulations



Disorderly or unprofessional conduct, or physical assault upon or harassment of fellow
employee, student or guest of the University

Act of immorality or sexual indiscretion

Soliciting or accepting gratuity or accepting kickbacks of any kind

Unauthorized release of confidential information

Language or conduct unbecoming to a Christian

Undermining the objectives of the University and/or the Seventh-day Adventist Church.
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. Three consecutive absences from work without proper notification or four non-consecutive
absences without notification in a rolling 12 month period.

C. Final Remuneration - Andrews University, at its own discretion, may pay the dismissed employee in lieu of
notice. An employee who is dismissed will receive the full remuneration that he or she has earned up to the time
of discharge.

Employees who have concerns regarding the termination process may address those concerns
through the appeal procedure in section 4:8-140.

TERMINATION INTERVIEW 4:8-125

Upon terminating for any reason, you may arrange for a termination interview with Human Resources. That interview should be
on your last day of employment. Prior to the interview you will need to obtain a Termination Procedure form from your
department head and follow the steps outlined. Your stop at Human Resources will be the last of those steps. At that time you
will need to return your University identification card, telephone credit card, your employee handbook, and keys. During the
interview, reasons for terminating and other matters of mutual interest will be discussed. We also want to make certain that any
accrued benefits to which you are entitled are provided to you.

REEMPLOYMENT 4:8-130

Consideration for reemployment will be given if you left Andrews University in good standing. If
there is no immediate position, you may apply to be considered for openings for which you may be
qualified.

OMBUDSPERSON 4:8-135

The ombudsperson is an intervention agent and impartial person available to help students, staff, and
faculty resolve any complex problems which remain unsolved after the student, staff or faculty
member has followed normal channels for handling such matters or has encountered an obstacle.
The ombudsperson will advise the student, staff or faculty member on further steps to take, negotiate
a solution, or find out the reasons why the problem is insoluble and help the concerned individual to
understand and relate better. No student, staff or faculty member shall suffer any penalty because of
seeking assistance from the ombudsperson. All information presented to him/her by persons seeking
assistance shall be considered confidential. The ombudsperson is not intended to participate in the
employee appeal process.

The ombudsperson is alert to the causes for students and staff and faculty concerns and is expected to
make recommendations, consistent with the fundamental purposes of the University, to the president
for elimination of these causes.

The basic working principles of the University ombudsperson are independence, impartiality and
confidentiality. Ombudspersons are appointed by the President and reports to the Human Resources
Director and the President.

EMPLOYEE'S APPEAL PROCEDURE 4:8-140



In any work situation employee complaints and grievances may occur. Employee-supervisor
problems can arise in any work environment and grievances that cannot be solved at that level do not
automatically cast reflection on the ability of the supervisor. By providing a system for the resolution
of grievances, the efficiency and morale of the employee and the success of the organization will be
enhanced. Appeals must be filed within 30 days of the incident which is being appealed.

Procedure to Follow
Step 1:
A. You should discuss the complaint or problem with your immediate supervisor.

B. Ifyou are not satisfied with the resolution of the issue and wish to appeal further, you should
request that your supervisor arrange for an appointment with the department head or supervisor,
within three working days, unless due to absence or unusual circumstances requiring additional
time.

The supervisor has the responsibility to carry out your request, normally, within twenty-four hours. If you are not satisfied
with the resolution of the issue and wish to appeal further, you should request that your supervisor arrange for an
appointment with the department head or supervisor, within three working days, unless absence or unusual circumstances
requires additional time. Within three working days from the time the department head receives the request he/she should
meet with you.

C. Ifyou are not satisfied with that resolution, you should request that the department head arrange
for a convenient time to go to Human Resources as outlined in Step 2.

Step 2:

e As soon as possible, normally within twenty-four hours, if you are not satisfied with the
resolution of the issue and wish to appeal further, you should request that your supervisor
arrange for an appointment with the department head or supervisor, within three working days,
unless absence or unusual circumstances requires additional time. The arrangements should be
made for you to contact the Human Resources Director or Associate. The Human Resource
Director or Associate will assist you in putting the problem in writing. The written form will be
sent to your supervisor, with copies to the department head. The supervisor's answer will be
referred to the department head.

e  Generally, Step Two should be completed within three working days. If you are not satisfied with the answer received,
Human Resources should be informed by the department head and the problem will then be referred to the appropriate
vice president.

Step 3:

o Within three working days, unless due to absence or unusual circumstances requiring additional
time, the appropriate vice president will call a meeting of those concerned to discuss the
problem. You will be present at the meeting with your supervisor along with the Human
Resource Director or Associate and the department head. You may also bring one other
employee to this meeting to help explain the problem.

Step 4:



o Ifyou still have not received a satisfactory resolution to the problem, you may so notify the
Human Resource Director or Associate who will then confer with the President for an
appropriate resolution. The decision made by HR and administration in this step will be final.

Naturally, there will be variations in the number of supervisory levels involved in the above
procedure. The four steps involved will cover most cases. The procedure will be modified, when
necessary, to fit specific situations.

The purpose of the University's appeal procedure is to provide an established method of bringing to
the attention of management such injustices as may exist and to allow a prompt redress of grievances.
The University will make every effort to comply with the above time frames within reasonable
working limits.

DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT 4:8-145

Andrews University is committed to providing a harassment free workplace for its employees.
Sexual harassment and harassment on account of age, race, ethnicity or disability are prohibited.

Definitions

SEXUAL HARASSMENT

Sexual harassment by the employer, supervisors, co-workers and, in some instances, non-employees
includes, but is not limited to, the following:

1. Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other verbal, visual or physical
conduct of a sexual nature which affects an individual's employment status or the terms,
conditions or benefits of his or her employment. Such conduct constitutes sexual harassment
when:

A. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of
an individual's employment; or

B. Submission or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for
employment decisions affecting an individual; or

C. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's
work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working
environment; or

D. Where threats or suggestions are made that an individual's employment, future
promotions, wages, etc., depend on whether or not the individual submits to sexual
demands or tolerates harassment.

2. Unwelcome sexually oriented statements (e.g., kidding, teasing, jokes, degrading or offensive

sexual comments, sexual tricks, etc,);

Requests or pressure for sexual activity;

4. Unnecessary or inappropriate touching of a sexual or abusive nature (e.g., patting, pinching,
hugging, repeated brushing against another person's body, etc.);

5. Inappropriate visual conduct which creates embarrassment or suggests an interest in sexual
activity; or

6. Suggestions, threats or demands for sexual favors.
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OTHER HARASSMENT

Harassment on account of age, race, ethnicity or disability includes, but is not limited to, the
following:

1. Subjecting employees to derogatory remarks, insults, slurs, jokes or tricks based on age, race
ethnicity or disability;

2. Denying employees' opportunities for promotion, transfer or advancement on account of age,
race, ethnicity or disability;

3. Limiting opportunities for promotion, transfer or advancement on account of age, race, ethnicity
or disability;

4. Requiring employees to perform physically more difficult tasks or less desirable work
assignments in order to force them to retire or resign from employment.

WORKING ENVIRONMENT

Andrews University strives to maintain a working environment free from harassment. It endeavors to
achieve this environment through educating employees that harassment violates the law and
Christian values upheld by the University, and is expressly prohibited. Andrews endeavors to prevent
such harassment by adopting a strong policy against harassment, communicating the policy to all
employees, including, but not limited to informing all employees of their right to complain of such
harassment, and training the appropriate parties in the proper procedures to follow for handling
incidents of harassment, and enforcing the policy through appropriate sanctions for misconduct.

To maintain a work environment free of harassment and to help prevent inappropriate workplace
conduct, Andrews University's Harassment Policy includes the following actions:

1. Each employee shall receive a copy of this harassment policy and complaint procedure.

Each employee shall acknowledge receipt of this policy and complaint procedure, and the
acknowledgment will be maintained in the employee's personnel file.

3. Andrews University has designated the HR Director and Associate HR Director, as well as the
Sexual Harassment Compliance Officer (see Working Policy), as the persons to whom
complaints of sexual harassment, and other forms of harassment may be made, in addition to
supervisory staff.

4. Employees who complain of harassment will not be subjected to retaliation by supervisors or
co-workers.

5. Human Resources shall conduct periodic training sessions for employees who are in a
supervisory position in order to ensure that the policy against unlawful harassment is
implemented.

REPORTING INCIDENTS

Andrews University will not tolerate any kind of unlawful harassment. Employees who believe that
they have been harassed by supervisors, fellow employees, clients, or non-employees should
immediately take the following steps:

1. Make it clear to the one harassing that such conduct is offensive and should be stopped
immediately;



2. Report the incident to one of the following: a) the immediate department director, b) the HR
Director, ¢) Associate Director, d) the sexual harassment officer or e) other supervisory staff.
The initial report shall be followed by a written statement describing the incident and
identifying potential witnesses.

3. The employee filing a complaint should not discuss the incident and should maintain the
harassment complaint in confidence. The person to whom the complaint is made shall keep
information received in confidence, except as necessary to investigate or rectify the matter.

4. Any supervisory staff member upon receiving a complaint alleging unlawful harassment shall
contact HR immediately.

THIRD-PARTY REPORTS

Employees who are aware of incidents of potential sexual harassment are to report such incidents to
their department director or to the HR Director or Associate Director immediately for investigation.

INVESTIGATION

Complaints of any kind of harassment based on gender, age, race, ethnicity or disability should be
investigated promptly. The investigation should be a genuine attempt to identify and remedy the
problem. The HR Director or Associate Director (or designee) should direct the investigation of all
harassment complaints. The investigation conducted by HR should include, at a minimum,
confidential interviews with all involved persons and procurement, if possible, of written statements
regarding the incident(s). The investigation and results should be documented in writing.

The determination of whether or not a particular action constitutes sexual harassment, or another
form of unlawful harassment, shall be made from the facts on a case-by-case basis. In determining
whether alleged conduct constitutes unlawful harassment, the investigating body should look at the
record as a whole and the totality of the circumstances, including the nature of the conduct and the
context in which it occurred. The HR Director or Associate Director should review the results of the
investigation with the employee making the complaint and the accused employee and explain any
corrective action taken or to be taken. Individuals involved should be cautioned to maintain the
investigation results in confidence.

CORRECTIVE ACTION

If the investigation indicates that harassment has not occurred, the complainant and accused
employee should be notified of the results and cautioned regarding future compliance with Andrews
University's Harassment Policy.

If the investigation indicates that harassment has occurred, Andrews University should take prompt
corrective action. Depending on the severity of the conduct, the corrective action may range from a
written warning which will be placed in the accused employee's personnel file to immediate
dismissal.

NO RETALIATION

Andrews University prohibits supervisors and co-workers from retaliating, intimidating, or harassing
employees complaining of any form of unlawful harassment.



REPORTING OF VIOLATIONS OF LAW (WHISTLE BLOWING) 4:8-150

As an employee you have the right, which is protected by state and federal laws, to report a violation
or suspected violation of state, local or federal laws to an appropriate authority. You will not be
discharged, threatened, or otherwise discriminated against regarding your compensation, terms,
conditions, location, or privileges of employment. This protection also extends to you if you
participate in a hearing, investigation, legislative inquiry or court action or if someone acts on your
behalf in any of the above activities. This protection does not extend to you if you know the charges
being made are false.



Appendix

HIRING PROCEDURES UNDER THE AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PROGRAM

Andrews University, by policy, does not discriminate in hiring, placement, promotion, remuneration or benefits on the basis of
race, color, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, age, sex, height, weight, marital status, or prior military service. The
University, as a church owned and operated institution, reserves the right to select for the filling of its positions from among
candidates who are members in good standing of the Seventh-day Adventist Church.

Andrews University has entered into a voluntary Affirmative Action Program whereby it will use
whatever means are available to recruit and hire qualified women, minorities and handicapped.

These procedures are designed to accomplish that goal.

JOB OPENING NOTIFICATION

Job openings will be processed through the following office for approval:

Salaried, Non-Faculty--the appropriate vice-president. Approval to fill vacancies will be reported to
Human Resources for the maintaining of job logs, posting of job notices and assisting the department
head in advertising the job opening.

JOB POSTING AND ADVERTISING

Upon receipt of the approval to fill the vacancy, Human Resources will post the job opening on the
designated bulletin board in the Administration Building. Positions will be advertised for a minimum
of 5 days before the job is filled. During this period current employees will be encouraged to apply.

When appropriate, Human Resources will assist in selecting the advertising media, writing the copy,
and placing the advertisement. To the extent possible, a record will be kept for a reasonable time of
the advertisements placed. Special attention will be given to the placement of advertisements in
publications that will attract applicants from among women, minorities and the handicapped.

APPLICANT RECORD-HOURLY EMPLOYEES

Applications for hourly-rated jobs will be directed to Human Resources.

Pertinent information regarding each applicant will be forwarded to Human Resources so that
applicant logs may be maintained. At a minimum, the information will include the name of the
applicant and whether the applicant is a woman, minority or handicapped.

The purpose of the logs is to give evidence of the effectiveness of the job posting and advertising
practices, to demonstrate compliance with this policy, and to allow objective reporting of the
compliance.

SELECTION PROCESS

Without illegally discriminating, preference will be given to qualified candidates who are the spouses
of students, faculty of staff members.

The names of successful candidates will be given to Human Resources along with the date the job



offer was made and the date employment is to begin.

QUESTIONS REGARDING POLICY AND PROCEDURES

Questions regarding the University's Affirmative Action Policy and its implementation procedures
should be directed to Human Resources. The full policy is available from that office.
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SEEK KNOWLEDGE

as they

= Engage in intellectual
discovery and inquiry

= Demonstrate the ability to
think clearly and critically

= Communicate effectively

= Understand life, learning,
and civic responsibility from
a Christian point of view

= Demonstrate competence in their
chosen disciplines and professions

AFFIRM FAITH

as they

= Develop a personal relationship
with Jesus Christ

= Deepen their faith
commitment and practice

= Demonstrate personal
and moral integrity

= Embrace a balanced
lifestyle, including time for
intellectual, social, spiritual,
and physical development

= Apply understanding of cultural
differences in diverse environments

CHANGE THE WORLD

as they go forth to

= Engage in creative problem-
solving and innovation

= Engage in generous service
to meet human needs

= Apply collaborative leadership to
foster growth and promote change
= Engage in activities consistent

with the worldwide mission of the
Seventh-day Adventist Church
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Campus &
Student Life
Mission
Statement

Campus & Student Life assumes an integral role
in the development of Christian character and
critical thinking consistent with the philosophy
of Seventh-day Adventist education, which is
designed to guide students to the Redeemer.

We support the mission of the University
by nurturing students for:

= Continuing growth in Christ

= Developing positive and rewarding relationships

» Embracing and appreciating diversity and inclusion

= Developing personal integrity reflected in a
balanced spiritual, mental and physical lifestyle




Letter from the Vice President for Campus & Student Life

Dear Students:

On behalf of dedicated administrators,
faculty and staff, it is my pleasure to
welcome you to Andrews University.
As an amazing child of God, you will
greatly enrich our campus community.

By selecting Andrews you have
chosen to be part of a campus culture
that is shaped by the Christian
faith and values of the Seventh-day
Adventist Church. Whether or not you
share our particular faith perspective,
we invite you to live within the values
that make Andrews a welcoming and
supportive environment for all who
seek a faith-based education.

Andrews University is more than
brick and mortar—it’s a community.
Whether you are a graduate student
or an undergraduate student, we
want Andrews University to feel like
home. As a residential university,
many students live on campus,
housed in one of our residence halls
or University apartments.

Students learn not only in the

classroom but through a wide

variety of out-of-class faith and
learning opportunities—on campus,
in the community and around the
world. Andrews University offers a
transformative educational experience
designed to motivate you to reach your
God-given potential in all aspects of
your life—body, mind and spirit—and
to inspire you to serve others.

In this “Handbook,” you will find
the Community Values and Code
of Student Conduct to which each
student agrees. I also personally call
you to embrace four great cares. (1)
Care for yourself as a unique creation
of God. (2) Care for each other, for all
are precious in His sight. (3) Care for
the University—its mission, values and
property. (4) And, most importantly,
care for your Creator, in whom we live
and have our being.

We are steadfast in our support
of you and your journey at Andrews
University as together we “Seek
Knowledge, Affirm Faith and
Change the World.”

Sincerely,

%Mv‘é&w

Frances Faehner, PhD
Vice President for Campus & Student Life
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TO SERVE: University Services
Admission Services

Academic Information and Student
Success Center

Andrews University Bookstore
Campus Safety Services and Information
Counseling & Testing Services
Crayon Box

Dining Services

Health Services

Howard Performing Arts Center
International Student Services
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Responsibilities

Self-Discipline and Institutional
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Student Conduct Intervention
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Thank You for Choosing Andrews
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The Four Hallmarks
of Campus & Student Life

Andrews University is a Christian community where Christ is celebrated
and reflected in the academic, social, physical and spiritual experiences
of its members. As a Seventh-day Adventist institution, we seek to
integrate faith, learning and living, while each of us matures in our
relationships with God and each other.

By enrolling in classes on the main campus of Andrews University,
students choose to be part of this uniquely Christian atmosphere, set
apart by four hallmarks.

1. AFaith-Based University. Andrews is a Seventh-day Adventist
university with a unique, global perspective. We welcome students
of all faiths and backgrounds, inviting them into a life of hope and
wholeness. See A Faith-Based University.

2. AHealthy Lifestyle. Faculty, staff and students agree to uphold the
community’s shared commitment to a healthy lifestyle guided by
the principles of honesty, modesty, sexual purity, respect for others,
healthful living and safety. See A Healthy Lifestyle.

3. AResidential Campus. Graduate and undergraduate students benefit
from living and learning together on campus, either in one of our
residence halls or the University apartments. Undergraduates under
the age of 22 (unless married or staying with an approved family
member or Andrews employee) agree to live in a residence hall and
participate in a meal plan at the University’s vegetarian cafeteria.
See A Residential Campus.

4. AWhole-Person Approach. Students engage in faith and learning
outside the classroom as part of a comprehensive educational
experience, developing skills and dispositions that complement their
academic degrees. Undergraduate students and Seminary students
agree (and all graduate students are encouraged) to participate in a
minimum number of co-curricular experiences each semester.

See A Whole-Person Approach.



A Faith-Based University

SEVENTH-DAY ADVENTIST
FAITH AND VALUES

Students attending Andrews University soon learn
that our Seventh-day Adventist faith and values
set us apart. Our distinctive Christian perspective,
guided by our understanding of Scripture, informs
our faith as well as our practice.

Relationship with God

We understand God is present and desires to have
a relationship with His creation. Students are en-
couraged to grow in their relationship with God by
communing with Him in daily prayer, meditating
on His word, singing His praises and gathering
together for worship.

Salvation through Jesus Christ

We believe Jesus Christ is the Son of God, the Savior
of all who place their faith in Him. In His life we are
offered a holy example, in His death the forgiveness
of sin and in His resurrection the hope of a new
beginning. In times of temptation, trial and failure
students are directed to the grace of Christ as a
source of strength, healing and restoration.

The Sabbath: A Day of Rest and Worship

The Bible describes the seventh day as the one day
God set aside for focused fellowship with His peo-
ple. The seventh-day Sabbath (from Friday sunset
to Saturday sunset) is a special part of the rela-
tionship between God and His creation. To foster
this focused fellowship with God, non-essential
business operations and activities at Andrews

are closed. Students are encouraged to welcome
and delight in the Sabbath as a day of special
rest, worship and communion with God, ministry
to others, and celebration of God’s creative and
redemptive acts.

Sabbath Observance

As a distinctly Seventh-day Adventist Christian
institution, Andrews University promotes the
observance of the seventh-day Sabbath, Friday
evening at sundown to Saturday evening at
sundown. As God rested and made the Sabbath a
holy day, the Sabbath is observed as a memorial
of creation to the Creator. We withdraw from work
and play that can be created during the regular
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six days of the week. The Sabbath is a time to
be in communion with the Creator, away from
the activities, music and reading that are not
focused on worshiping the Lord. Andrews Uni-
versity requests that all on our campus—faculty,
staff, students and visitors—respect the sacred
observance of this day. Our community includes
diverse perspectives on Sabbath observance.
However, no personal or unregistered group
activity should detract from the sacred Sabbath
observance for others in the community. This
means all our communal spaces, including
residence hall lounges and other common areas
in our facilities, are reserved for the observance
of Sabbath, including worship, meditation and
God-centered fellowship. Any faculty, staff or
student staff member may request that activities
that detract from Sabbath observance cease or
be modified to accommodate the right for any
member of our community to observe Sabbath
freely and without malice. One of the “Andrews
Advantages” is for students to study and rest in a
Sabbath-affirming environment.

Present and Future Hope in Jesus Christ
Seventh-day Adventists look forward to the
imminent second coming of Christ. Until then we
are God’s stewards, entrusted by Him to use our
time, gifts, abilities, resources and opportunities
to serve Him and our fellowmen.

Wholesome Lifestyle

Seventh-day Adventists are encouraged to
engage in whatever fosters the optimum
development of the body, mind and spirit. This
includes a healthful diet along with adequate
exercise and rest.

Life Purpose

Every human being, created in the image of
God, is endowed with a God-given purpose for
their life. At the core of an educational journey
at Andrews University is our desire to help each
student discover their life’s calling.

Concern for Others

As Christians, we are called to follow after Christ.
In response to witnessing His grace and mercy in
our own lives, we are compelled to likewise give
ourselves in loving service, locally and globally.



Learn More

To learn more about the fundamental beliefs

of Seventh-day Adventists go to adventist.org/
beliefs. To read official statements issued by the
Seventh-day Adventist Church on important con-
temporary issues go to adventist.org/information/
official-statements.

CAMPUS MINISTRIES

Located in the Campus Center, the Office of Cam-
pus Ministries is the hub for faith development
of graduate and undergraduate students and
offers additional support for faculty and staff. We
exist to enrich the spiritual and intellectual life of
the campus by providing a variety of ministries
appropriate to a spiritually, culturally and socially
diverse student and professional body and to
collaborate with other faith development leaders
of the University community. We wish to ignite the
passion of those who have been transformed by
or are considering a relationship with Jesus Christ
from the unique perspective of the Seventh-day
Adventist Church.

The essential connection for us is embraced in
the transformative verse of James 4:8, “Draw near
to God and He will draw near to you,” NKJV.

It is from this call to “draw near to God”
that Campus Ministries receives its vision. God
desires to be close to us and asks us to draw
close to Him. Our PROXIMITY to God matters
to Him and is life-changing for us! We believe
and see evidenced in the Word of God that an
ever-increasing proximity to our Creator results
in clarity received, closeness perceived and
cleanliness achieved. As our proximity to God
grows our proximity to man also grows, and
we experience increased community within the
body of Christ.

Campus Ministries seeks to encourage close
proximity with God through the following
means:

Bible Study & Discipleship—Come by CM and visit
with any of the chaplains or student chaplains.
We also have trained peer Bible counselors who
provide Bible studies.

TRIADS—Groups of three growing deeper with
God, closer with each other and further than
ourselves.

Chapel—Each Thursday the campus gathers at
PMC to explore the values that inform an Adven-
tist education—the harmonious development of
body, mind and spirit for service to the world.

A Faith-Based University 11



Sabbath Worship Services—Andrews University
collaborates with our campus church, Pioneer Me-
morial Church led by Pastor Dwight Nelson, and
our two campus fellowships, New Life and One
Place, to offer vibrant Sabbath worship services
and Sabbath Schools.

University Vespers—Once a week on Friday night
we gather as a community to welcome Sabbath
and seek to worship God and draw close to Him.

Weeks of Prayer—Weeks of Prayer are the perfect
way to start a new semester and actively seek the
will of God in our lives.

Training and Teaching—We support a holistic
approach to following Jesus and periodically offer
workshops and retreats throughout the year. Come
by Campus Ministries for more information.

Outreach—Are you ready to let the love of God
flow through you to a world in need? We have
identified needs which are waiting for you to
reach out and fill.

Missions—Whether you want to serve for ten days
or ten months we have many options for you to
consider. Come by the Campus Ministries office
and explore your options.

Prayer Ministry—A ministry that focuses on the
power of intercessory prayer. This ministry orches-
trates prayer groups across campus; seeks God’s
protection, direction and revelation prior to all
worship services; and organizes prayer initiatives
that draw our campus close to God.

Visitation—You are important. We would be
honored to intersect with your life story. So come
by or set an appointment time for us to come and
visit you. Let’s increase our PROXIMITY to the
King together.

So Much More...

In addition, there are countless departments and
clubs on campus that offer multiple worship and
training opportunities throughout the year. You
will find deans, faculty and staff who are eager to
share their own walk with Jesus and are actively
engaged in seeking close proximity to God. Stay
connected. Let’s walk together in pursuing Him.

Contact a Chaplain:

June Price, University chaplain:
juneprice@andrews.edu

José Bourget, associate chaplain:
pastorjose@andrews.edu

Michael Polite, associate chaplain:
politem@andrews.edu

Visit andrews.edu/cm for more information.

Campus Ministries exists to engage you in
a transformational relationship with Jesus
Christ. This transformation only comes in
PROXIMITY to Him.

Phone: 269-471-3211
Email: cm@andrews.edu
Web: andrews.edu/cm

Joseph Mayor and Gabriela Wicaksono, Zambia
- -



A Healthy Lifestyle

CORE CHRISTIAN VALUES

When choosing to attend Andrews University,
students agree to adopt a healthy lifestyle and to
maintain high standards of conduct. These stan-
dards are part of the unique mission and spiritual
heritage of Andrews University and reflect core val-
ues that are grounded in biblical principles. These
values include honesty, modesty, sexual purity,
respect for others, and healthful living and safety.

Admission to the University is not a right. It is
a privilege that entails acceptance of individual
responsibility and exercising self-discipline to
uphold our academic standards and community
values. The University can ask any student to
leave whose conduct is in violation of the mission
and function of the institution or who persistently
violates the University’s core values and the Code
of Student Conduct.

CODE OF STUDENT CONDUCT

The Code of Student Conduct is detailed in
this “Student Handbook” (see Code of Student
Conduct) and provides examples of violations that
may result in serious consequences. Any expecta-
tion adopted and published by the administration
in more informal written communication or online
requires the same respect and compliance as
expectations printed in official publications.
Students may obtain a copy of the “Handbook”
at the Student Life office or online at andrews.
edu/life.

ACADEMIC INTEGRITY

Academic Integrity

University learning thrives on the rigor of individ-
ual investigation, the authentic exchange of ideas,
and a corporate commitment to integrity and
mutual respect. It requires all members of the ac-
ademic community to behave honestly—speaking
truthfully to colleagues, co-learners and teachers
and completing all homework, tests, papers

and projects with integrity. Andrews University

anchors its practices in the teachings of the Bible
as well as in widely-established and honorable
academic traditions. Much as the apostle Paul
calls us to authenticity in our Christian walk, so
the educational institution demands of its par-
ticipant’s true and accurate self-representation.
In Ephesians, Paul invites believers “to be re-
newed in the spirit of your minds, and to clothe
yourselves with the new self, created according
to the likeness of God in true righteousness

and holiness” (Ephesians 4:23-24, NRSV). As
scholars and as Christ’s servants, we build His
living body through our honesty in all things,
both small and great. To that end, Andrews
University’s students pledge to learn and grow
together, committing to the following standards
and affirming honesty as a core component of an
Andrews University education.

Integrity Standards
Students promise to:

1. Present assignments, lab reports and
research findings that are not falsified in
any way

2. Respect copyrighted and/or licensed
material (whether it be directly quoted or
paraphrased) by citing print or electronic
sources as appropriate

3. Follow the source citation guidelines
outlined by the course professor

4. Submit work that is solely created by the
person to whom it is assigned

5. Contribute equitably when participating in
group work

6. Prepare for quizzes and examinations by
study and review without stealing, accepting
or using unauthorized quizzes or examina-
tion materials

7. Follow the professor’s instructions regarding
allowable aids during a quiz or examination

8. Complete quizzes and tests without seeking
answers from or sharing answers with other
students or unauthorized sources

9. Encourage others to high standards of integ-
rity by refusing to assist in acts of academic
dishonesty

A Healthy Lifestyle 13



Integrity Pledge

Because academic honesty is central to who we
are and what we do at Andrews University, the fol-
lowing pledge is required of every student scholar
that agrees to join this community:

I promise on my honor as a member of the
learning community at Andrews University that I
will faithfully adhere to these Integrity Standards
in the completion of all coursework requirements
and scholarly projects.

Academic Integrity Policy

The following is a synopsis of the University’s
Academic Integrity Policy for all students. This
synopsis is not exhaustive, and students are re-
ferred to “Academic Integrity” online at andrews.
edu/academics/academic_integrity.html to view
the policy in its entirety.

Andrews University has adopted a policy that
aims to create an environment in which academic
integrity is considered by all members of the commu-
nity to be the expected norm. Two councils have been
established to administrate and lead in this area.

Student Academic Integrity Council (SAIC)
This council consists of 11 students chosen from
undergraduate and graduate schools in the
spring to be representatives for the following year.
Students interested in serving on the SAIC should
apply to the chairs of their departments by March
15 to be chosen for the following year.

Among the council’s responsibilities are the
following:

1. Educating the Andrews campus regarding the
Academic Integrity Policy through activities
such as:

1. Educating new students at orientation and
new faculty at faculty orientation

2. Working with ITS to provide web-based
resources aimed at enriching academic
integrity on campus

3. Organizing and initiating a yearly chapel
focused on academic integrity
2. Provide members to serve on Integrity Panels
as required
1. The panels consist of three students,
two faculty and one non-voting faculty
moderator

2. These panels meet to determine whether
a student is to be considered responsible
for a breach of the Integrity Policy and to
determine the appropriate consequence of

any breach when:
1. A student accumulates multiple
violations
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2. A student disputes a charge of having
violated the Integrity Policy

3. Consider requests from students to have
records cleared of violations of the Academic
Integrity Policy

4. Give annual reports to the University commu-
nity on all actions taken by the SAIC that year

5. Give an annual report to the provost of the
University on any recommended changes to
the Integrity Policy they feel are needed

Faculty Academic Integrity Council (FAIC)
This council also consists of 11 members chosen
from programs across the University.

Among the council’s responsibilities are the
following:

1. Provide two members to act as advisors to
the SAIC
2. Provide members to serve on Integrity Panels
as required
1. The panels consist of three students,
two faculty and one non-voting faculty
moderator

While the intent of the policy is to educate the
campus in ways to avoid breaches of integrity and
to bring us together in a community of honest
academic effort, the consequences of intentionally
breaking a pledge to the University community are
also spelled out and should be considered carefully.

What happens when a student is accused

of violating the Academic Integrity Policy?

o A faculty member that believes a student is
responsible for violating the Academic Integrity
Policy will:

» Discuss the matter with the student, asking
for a response
» Should the faculty member believe there
has been a violation, they will determine
the level of violation committed and assign
a sanction
o There are five levels of violation described
in the Integrity Policy
» The faculty member will file a report of the
violation electronically
¢ The student will have the opportunity to
respond to this report, either accepting or
rejecting the allegation
o The student has FIVE DAYS to return the
completed document
o If the student does not return the docu-
ment in the five-day period, it will be as-
sumed that the student has accepted both
the charge and the sanction and they will
be applied to the student’s record



¢ The only persons with access to this
electronic record are the student, the
student’s advisor and the chair of the
student’s department
e An overall record of all a student’s
reported violations across campus is
maintained
¢ In most situations where the student agrees
that they are responsible for the violation and
accepts the recommended sanction, no further
action is taken
¢ In cases where the student denies the charges,
disputes the recommended sanction, or where
the record alerts the SAIC that multiple viola-
tions have occurred, an Integrity Panel is formed
» The number of violations that will trigger
the formation of an Integrity Panel depends
on the level of the violations
o Three level 1 violations (or two level 1 and
one level 2)
e Two level 2 violations
e Alevel 3 violation and any violation at
any other level
e One level 4 violation
e Level o violations are considered to be
those committed without any intent on the
part of the student and are not considered
toward the formation of an Integrity Panel
¢ Integrity Panels consist of three students, two
faculty and one non-voting faculty member
acting as a moderator
» Integrity Panels are responsible for
¢ Determining whether a student is respon-
sible for committing a violation
¢ And, when responsibility is assigned to
the student, determining the appropriate
sanction

The “XF” Grade
In cases where an Integrity Panel has determined
that a student is responsible for violating the
Integrity Policy, they will then determine the
sanction to be applied. The Integrity Panel has the
authority to apply the sanction recommended by
the faculty member or to render a different sanc-
tion in cases where the majority feels the original
sanction was too harsh or too lenient. Any sanc-
tion, from minor ones through expulsion from the
University, which is considered appropriate by the
Integrity Panel may be applied.

One possible sanction is the application of the
“XF” grade to the student’s record for the class
in question. The “XF” indicates that the student
received an “F” in the class for violation of
academic integrity policies and is recorded on the
student’s transcript with the notation “failure due
to academic dishonesty.”

The following applies to the “XF” grade:

e Itis treated in the same way as an “F” for
the purposes of grade point average, course
repeatability and determination of academic
standing

¢ No student with an “XF” notation on his or her
transcript shall be permitted to represent the
University in any extracurricular activity or to
run for or hold office in any student organiza-
tion that is allowed to use University facilities
or receives University funds

A student may apply to the SAIC to have the “X”
portion of the “XF” removed if

¢ 12 months have passed since the violation was
imposed

e The student has not been found in violation of
any other academic integrity policies in that
12-month period

e The SAIC makes all decisions regarding
removal of the “X.” For breaches of integrity
committed with significant planning and
intent, the “X” will not typically be removed.

A Last Word on Integrity

The SAIC and the FAIC encourage all students to
become acquainted with the University Academic
Integrity website when it becomes available. There
you will find information on the policy itself, ways
to avoid plagiarism, correct methods of utilizing
media from outside sources, etc.

STUDENT LEADERSHIP

Andrews University values student leaders

and is committed to developing the leadership
abilities of all students. Holding a formal student
leadership position, however, is a responsibility
and privilege granted to students who meet min-
imum qualifications. Formal student leadership
positions include officers of the AUGSA, AUSA,
presidents of student clubs, and resident advisors.

Candidates for formal student leadership posi-
tions must:

e Have a current semester and cumulative grade
point average of at least 2.25 (3.00 for AUSA
and AUGSA officers). Students who have been
on academic probation in the past or current
semester to an election or appointment are not
eligible to hold leadership positions.
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¢ Have a satisfactory citizenship or student
conduct record. Serious citizenship concerns,
regardless of when or where they occurred,
may impact a student’s leadership eligibility.
Students who have been suspended and/or
are on citizenship probation in the current
semester to an election or appointment are
not eligible to hold leadership positions.
Formal leadership candidates who are part of a
current student conduct inquiry may lose their
eligibility as well.

e Have a demonstrated commitment to the values
and mission of Andrews University.

A formal student leader who is suspended or
placed on citizenship probation, or academic pro-
bation, or whose current or cumulative grade point
average falls below 2.25 (3.00 for AUSA and AUGSA
officers) will be required to resign his/her position.

STUDENT ORGANIZATIONS

The Right to Associate

Students have the right to organize and join
registered student organizations to promote their
common interests consistent with the values,
mission and policies of the University and the
Seventh-day Adventist Church. The University

reserves the right to determine which pursuits
are suited to student-led organizations and which
may be carried out only within the context of an
institutional department or program.

Student organizations should exist:

¢ To encourage students to engage in activities
which complement classroom instruction

¢ To broaden and strengthen students’ abilities
and interests

e To enrich the campus culture and promote an
ethic of service

¢ To offer students opportunities to develop
leadership skills

Recognition of Student Organizations

All student groups must be recognized by the
University in order to function on- or off-campus
or online. Affiliation with an external organiza-
tion will not of itself guarantee the recognition

of a student organization. Recognition is granted
solely by the University. In order to be recognized,
student organizations must:

o Register annually with the Office of Student
Activities & Involvement

e Be overseen by an approved faculty or staff
advisor/sponsor




¢ Have a minimum of ten currently enrolled
students as members, including three who
serve as officers

¢ Have a constitution on file in the Office of
Student Activities & Involvement

¢ Be open to all Andrews University students

¢ Be in conformity with University policies and
values

e Send an advisor/sponsor and at least one
officer to a student organization orientation
session or its equivalent

The failure of a registered student organization to
meet the policies and expectations of the University
could result in the revoking of University approval.

Unauthorized Student Organizations

Student groups that do not meet the criteria above
are not permitted to function, recruit or otherwise
have an influence on the Andrews University
campus. Students belonging to organizations that
exist without the approval of the University will be
found in violation of the Code of Student Conduct
and will jeopardize their student status. Unautho-
rized organizations that have attempted to recruit
University students in the past include Raw Dogs,
Rubies, Fam One and O.M.E.G.A. Students who are
uncertain of an organization’s legitimacy should
call the Office of Student Activities & Involvement
for more information.

Protection of Individual Student Rights

The right to associate must be practiced with
respect to the individual rights of students who
are either a part of the organization or seeking
membership within it, as well as those outside of
the organization. These rights include, but may
not be limited to, the right to learn; the right to

be free from discrimination and harassment; the
right to discuss, inquire, express and petition; and
the right to appeal/grievance. On this basis:

¢ Admission to organizations must be open to
all students without respect to race, color,
sex (except residence hall clubs), national
origin, religion, age, disability or any protected
characteristic.

¢ Organizations may establish membership
requirements as long as these are made
public and do not (1) discriminate against any
protected characteristic, (2) deny a student’s
rights as outlined in this “Handbook,” or (3)
place an undue hardship on a student’s ability
to maintain academic success and progress.

e Membership is the right of any student
who meets an organization’s membership
requirements and may not be determined by

organizational vote or come solely at the invita-
tion of an organization. Officers, however, may
be elected by an organization, as outlined in an
organization’s constitution and bylaws.

e Membership is to be granted only to currently
enrolled students. Former students and
alumni may maintain a connection to a student
organization (as they would to the University)
but may not participate as members or hold
voting privileges.

¢ Students have the right to full disclosure of an
organization’s existence, purpose, policies and
procedures so as to make an informed choice for
or against membership. Likewise, organizations
must conduct their business and activities in a
transparent fashion, with the full knowledge
and participation of their advisor/sponsor.

¢ Students seeking to resolve differences within
a student organization should do so through
the established channels of the organization.
However, a student always has the right to seek
assistance from University personnel, especially
in cases of misconduct, threatening or harassing
behavior, etc. (see Right to Appeal/Grievance).

e Commitment to membership in a student
organization is voluntary in nature and may
be withdrawn by a student at any time without
consequence. Refunds of paid organizational
dues, however, are at the discretion of the
charging organization.

Advisors/Sponsors

All student organizations are required to have a
University-approved faculty or staff advisor/spon-
sor. Each organization is free to recruit and present
a faculty or staff nominee to the Office of Student
Activities & Involvement for approval. Large orga-
nizations or those with multiple functions may be
required to select a second advisor/sponsor.

Members of the Andrews faculty and staff
perform an important educational role when
they accept the responsibility to advise student
organizations. They will guide the student officers
and units, but they will not arbitrarily seek to
control the policies and decisions of the student
organizations.

The advisor/sponsor or the vice president for
Campus & Student Life may exercise the right to
suspend or reverse a decision by the student offi-
cers or organization when that decision is found
to be contrary to the values or operational pro-
cesses of the University. An advisor’s/sponsor’s
decision to suspend or reverse a decision may be
appealed to the assistant director of Student Activ-
ities & Involvement and eventually to the assistant
vice president for Campus & Student Life.
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Activity Approval

All student activities must be sponsored by a
University department, registered student orga-
nization, or student association (AUSA, AUGSA)
and be approved by the Office of Student Activities
& Involvement. On rare occasions the Office of
Student Activities & Involvement may deem it
necessary to deny activities when the activities are
not in harmony with University values and objec-
tives. All activities and trips must be supervised by
the presence of a full-time faculty or staff member
for the full duration of the activity or trip, or part-
time staff/adjunct faculty as approved by Student
Life. Activity Approval Forms are available in the
Office of Student Activities & Involvement.

1. On- or Off-Campus Day Activities. Student
activities held on- or off-campus without an
overnight stay must be approved by the Office
of Student Activities & Involvement at least
two weeks prior to the activity.

2. Overnight Off-Campus Trips. Student trips
to off-campus locations involving at least
one overnight stay must be approved by the
Office of Student Activities & Involvement and
require completion of the Tour Application
and Risk Management Approval Process.

3. Fund-raising. Individuals may not solicit
funds or fund-raise on-campus. Student orga-
nizations may engage in certain fund-raising
activities with the approval of the Office of
Student Activities & Involvement based on the
following stipulations:

1. Fund-raising promotional materials must
clearly identify the recipient(s) of the funds
and the purpose for which they will be
used.

2. All funds must be deposited into the
student organization’s account.

3. Funds may be disbursed to non-profit
organizations holding 501c3 status and
whose mission, values and practices do
not conflict with those of the University.

4. Loose cash collections may be taken up on
behalf of charities; however, donors wish-
ing to receive a tax deduction must donate
directly to the benefiting organization.

5. Donations made to University student
organizations will not be tax deductible.

6. Student organizations may disburse cash
payments to individuals or families in
need but only after a disbursement plan
has been approved by the Office of Student
Activities & Involvement.
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7. Student organizations are prohibited
from soliciting funds from University
departments or entities. University
departments are also prohibited from
using University funds to support
student organizations.

Financial Accountability

The University requires financial accountabil-
ity of student organization officers, including
statements of an organization’s income, income
sources and expenses.

Dues. Each organization is responsible for the
collection and management of its own dues.
Club dues may be charged to students’ ac-
counts within the first monthly billing cycle of
the semester with the submission of the proper
charge forms. Yearly dues may not exceed $50.

Deposits. All student organization funds must
be deposited with the University cashier into an
organizational account to reduce the loss from
misappropriation or the lack of proper custodi-
anship when there is an officer turnover.

Use of funds. Dues or funds collected from the
membership may not be used by the executive
officers for gifts or activities that are restricted
to the executive officers or any other select
group within the club.

All club and organization expenditures over
$100 must have prior approval of the advisor/
sponsor. Expenditures that do not receive
authorization may not be reimbursed by the
club/organization. In addition, all contracts/
agreements with outside vendors shall only be
signed (authorized) for the club by the advisor/
sponsor.

Accounts. The advisor/sponsor is responsi-

ble for the proper auditing of club accounts.
Notices will be sent to the advisor/sponsor

or assistant director for Student Activities &
Involvement when an organizational account
has reached a minimum balance and is in
danger of being overspent. Major charges made
to an organization’s account by a University
department may require a balance verification
before business can be transacted.

Tax status. The University’s tax-exempt status
does not extend to student organizations, and
therefore purchases made by organizations are
not tax-exempt.



STUDENT ASSOCIATIONS

Andrews University Student Association (AUSA)
The AUSA is the hub of undergraduate campus
activity. All undergraduate students taking at
least five credits are automatically members of the
Andrews University Student Association.

The purposes of the AUSA are to:

¢ Serve the University community and contribute
to the fuller unfolding of the Adventist program
of education

e Serve as a channel for organizing student
activities

¢ Provide a vehicle for the expression of student
opinion

¢ Provide opportunity for leadership experience
and the development of skills in organization
and administration

The AUSA source of authority is provided through
the policies voted by the University faculty

and the Board of Trustees as interpreted by the
president through the vice president for Campus &
Student Life and the AUSA advisors.

The AUSA may vote its own constitution, by-
laws and working policies, and elect officers. The
constitution, bylaws and working policies shall
be consistent with the University policies. The
AUSA constitution and bylaws shall provide that
all legislation be processed through standing com-
mittees, comprised of Student Senate members
with the right to vote.

AUSA Elections

Candidates for Student Association offices, ap-
pointees for offices and editors of the Student
Association communications media shall be
approved by the vice president for Campus &
Student Life. This is done after consultation
with the Student Life Council, taking into
consideration the standards published in the
“Student Handbook” and the qualifications in-
cluded in the Student Association constitution,
bylaws and working policies.

The Student Life Council may elect to advise
the vice president by secret ballot. The vice
president’s decisions are final and reasons will
not be made public. Candidate names will not
be announced publicly nor will the candidates
campaign until they have been approved by the
vice president for Campus & Student Life.

e Candidates for AUSA elections will be
members of the AUSA.

¢ Candidates must meet the formal student
leadership requirements with the increased
expectation that in order to be eligible to
run for AUSA office, candidates must have
a current semester and cumulative grade
point average of at least 3.00. A 3.00 current
or cumulative grade point average must
be maintained in order for an AUSA officer
to continue holding office. Students who
have been on academic probation in the 12
months prior to an election or appointment
are not eligible to hold leadership positions.
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Candidates must have a demonstrated com-
mitment to the values and mission of Andrews
University and a respect for the beliefs of the
Seventh-day Adventist Church.

Candidates must have a satisfactory citizenship
record. Serious citizenship concerns, regardless
of when or where they occurred, may impact a
student’s leadership eligibility. Students who
have been suspended and/or on citizenship
probation in the current semester to an election
or appointment are not eligible to hold leader-
ship positions. Formal leadership candidates
who are part of a current citizenship inquiry
may lose their eligibility as well.

Those who wish to run for office should submit
an application to the Office of Student Activities
& Involvement.

Candidates will have presented a platform to
the vice president for Campus & Student Life
for approval. Platforms will be in harmony with
the standards and objectives of the University.
All posters for campaigns will conform to the
regular University policy regarding posters. In
the Campus Center during elections, exceptions
to the policy may be authorized by the vice
president for Campus & Student Life.

A student who is suspended or placed on citizen-
ship probation, or academic probation or whose
current or cumulative grade point average falls
below 3.00 will be required to resign his/her office.

Andrews University Graduate

Student Association (AUGSA)

All graduate students registered in regular or
provisional status in all the schools and colleges
of the Berrien Springs campus of the University
shall be voting members of the AUGSA.

The purposes of the AUGSA are:

1. To work together more diligently for the
common good within the University’s working
policies

2. To maintain and uphold the objectives and
purposes of the University and its sponsoring
denomination

3. To promote awareness of the skills, capa-
bilities and services available to graduate
students in all disciplines

To maintain academic integrity, research,
responsibility and privileges

To promote a clear understanding of the pecu-
liar needs, challenges and responsibilities of
graduate students

To provide a means of training for leadership
and service to God and humanity
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The AUGSA source of authority is provided
through the policies voted by the University facul-
ty and the Board of Trustees as interpreted by the
president through the vice president for Campus &
Student Life and the AUGSA advisors.

The AUGSA may vote its own constitution,
bylaws and working policies. The constitution,
bylaws and working policies shall be consistent
with the University policies. The AUGSA constitu-
tion and bylaws shall provide that all legislation
be processed through standing committees and
processes including membership votes.

AUGSA Officer Selection

All AUGSA candidates must maintain a 3.00 cu-
mulative GPA to be eligible for and to hold office.
Candidates must exemplify good citizenship and
receive endorsement from a faculty advisor and
the dean of the school they represent.

¢ Candidates must have a demonstrated com-
mitment to the values and mission of Andrews
University and a respect for the beliefs of the
Seventh-day Adventist Church.

¢ Candidates must have a satisfactory citizenship
record. Serious citizenship concerns, regardless
of when or where they occurred, may impact a
student’s leadership eligibility. Students who
have been on citizenship probation or sus-
pended in the 12 months prior to an election or
appointment are not eligible to hold leadership
positions. Leadership candidates who are part
of a current citizenship inquiry may lose their
eligibility as well.

¢ Those who wish to nominate themselves as
a candidate for office should submit an applica-
tion to the AUGSA within the time period
announced each spring semester.

STUDENT ACTIVITIES
& INVOLVEMENT

The Office of Student Activities & Involvement
exists to create and maintain a Christian envi-
ronment of social and recreational activities that
foster healthy and rewarding relationships within
a diverse student body.

Student Activities coordinates social events
such as Almost Anything Goes, Splash for Cash
and the Dodgeball Tournament. Student Activities
often plans events in collaboration with the
Andrews University Student Association (AUSA),
Andrews University Graduate Student Association
(AUGSA) and other clubs and organizations. In
addition, Student Activities facilitates the creation
and renewal of campus clubs and organizations.



Campus Center

The Campus Center is a gathering place

where students can both socialize and study.

In order to provide a welcoming environ-

ment for all students, please adhere to the

following guidelines:

¢ Each student is responsible for throwing
away his/her trash in the receptacles
provided.

e Furnishings should be left clean and in
order. Tables and chairs, if moved, must be
returned to their proper place.

e Use of personal equipment for playing music
or for viewing videos, etc., is permitted only
with the use of headphones. Material viewed
must be in harmony with Christian values.

e Appropriate decorum is expected and
should not include public displays of
affection such as kissing, sitting on laps,
etc. Please also be aware that stairwells and
stairs are unoccupied areas—students found
in these areas will be asked to vacate.

e Groups wishing to rehearse or practice
must first reserve space with the Student
Life office.

¢ Meat and caffeinated beverages may not be
served or sold on campus.

Students wishing to set up a booth in the Cam-
pus Center hallway should reserve a table with
the Student Life office manager. The Student
Life & Leadership Lab may be reserved through
the Student Life office.

William Mutch Recreation Center

The William Mutch Recreation Center, located on
the lower level of the Campus Center, is a meeting
place for students to socialize, study and gather.
Various games and recreation equipment are avail-
able to check out and use. Student workers are on
duty to facilitate and help to maintain the facilities.
The recreation center is open during evenings and
weekends and for special events.
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The Office of Athletics supports the Cardinal athletic
program that consists of men’s and women’s soccer
teams, men’s and women’s basketball teams, and a
club ice hockey team. The Cardinal athletic program
(soccer and basketball) is a Division II member of the
United States Collegiate Athletic Association.

The Gymnics program is also part of the Office
of Athletics. The Gymnics, a dynamic acrosport
gymnastics team, share positive lifestyle messages
as they showcase their skills.

Students participating as active members of
intercollegiate teams must meet eligibility expec-
tations for the USCAA. Additionally, to be eligible
for participation intercollegiate and gymnastic
athletes cannot be on academic probation or
citizenship probation.

In addition, the Office of Athletics offers a wide
variety of intramural sports and open recreation ac-
tivities. For more information or to register online,
visit andrews.edu/intramurals.




PHILOSOPHY AND
PRINCIPLES OF DRESS

Andrews University’s philosophy of dress is
grounded in biblical ideals and the professional
standards expected of a university. As members
of a Christian community, we aspire to glorify our
Creator and to show respect for self and others in
our dress.

The specifics of the “Andrews Look” illustrate
the fundamental principles of modesty, simplicity
and appropriateness.

e Modesty—Appropriately covering the body,
avoiding styles that are revealing or suggestive.

¢ Simplicity—Accentuating God-given grace
and natural beauty rather than the ostentation
encouraged by the fashion industry.

¢ Appropriateness—Wearing clothing that is
clean, neat and suitable to occasion, activity
and place.

As a Seventh-day Adventist university, we inter-
pret these principles in accordance with our faith
tradition. While respecting individuals who may
view them differently, we ask all who study, work
or play on our campus to abide by our dress code
while here.

Specifics of the Andrews Look:

e Men’s Attire—Pants or jeans with shirts or
sweaters are the most appropriate dress for
everyday campus wear. Examples of inappro-
priate attire are tank tops, bare midriffs and un-
buttoned shirts. Modest shorts are acceptable;
however, athletic shorts are appropriate only
for sporting activities.

e Women’s Attire—Dresses, skirts, pants or jeans
with shirts, blouses, sweaters and/or jackets
are appropriate for most occasions. Examples
of inappropriate attire are sheer blouses, tube
tops, low necklines, bare midriffs, spaghetti
straps or no straps, tank tops, short skirts
and two-piece bathing suits. Modest shorts
are acceptable; however, athletic shorts are
appropriate only for sporting activities.

e Accessories—These should be minimal and
carefully chosen after considering the principle
of simplicity above. Examples of jewelry and
accessories that are not appropriate at Andrews
University are ornamental rings and bracelets,
necklaces and chains, earrings and piercings of
all kinds. Modest symbols of a marital commit-
ment, such as wedding and engagement rings,
are acceptable.
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Students not conforming to these standards of
dress should anticipate being asked to come into
compliance. This is especially true in the work-
place, in leadership positions and when taking a
role in activities representing Andrews University.

ROMANTIC AND MARRIAGE
RELATIONSHIPS

As a Christian institution of higher learning,
Andrews University believes that healthy roman-
tic, marriage and sexual relationships must be
built on biblical principles. Therefore, we expect
students to refrain from all premarital and extra-
marital sexual relationships and inappropriate
displays of affection.

While relationships and appropriate demonstra-
tions of intimacy are an important part of college
student development, couples should respect the
rights and interests of their companions and others
by limiting displays of affection in public. In the in-
terest of safety and propriety, couples should avoid
lingering in parked vehicles, vacant rooms and
secluded campus locations. Likewise, unmarried or
unrelated students of the opposite sex or students
who are in a romantic relationship may not live or
stay overnight in the same shared dwelling.

For a detailed statement on the University’s
position, policies and protections regarding
differences in sexual orientation, please refer
to Appendix 1 (see Appendix 1: A Seventh-day
Adventist Framework for Relating to Sexual Ori-
entation Differences on the Campus of Andrews
University).

SUBSTANCE ABUSE

Andrews University is committed to providing a
drug-free environment for learning and working.
Such a commitment led the University to establish
a Drug-Free Policy, which outlines clearly the
University’s zero-tolerance position and strives to
educate the student body on the advantages of a
drug-free lifestyle. The University also helps chem-
ically dependent students find resources to aid in
their recovery.

Students are expected to remain drug-free.
Drug-free means abstaining from the use of alco-
hol, tobacco and other mind-altering drugs. It also
means refraining from the misuse and/or abuse of
prescription drugs. The University also upholds all
laws which prohibit the possession, use, manufac-
turing or distribution of controlled substances.
The possession of drug paraphernalia and use of



“look alike” or designer drugs including any or all
parts of e-cigarettes, hookahs, vapor and hookah
pens, etc., regardless of the substance delivered,
are also prohibited and considered an offense of
the Drug-Free Policy.

A K-9 handler team is authorized by the Uni-
versity to conduct searches of campus facilities
(see Campus Safety Services and Information).
Prohibited substances, materials and equipment
will be confiscated.

Students who have reportedly used alcohol,
tobacco or illegal substances or who were found to
be in close proximity to alcohol, tobacco or illegal
substances or drug paraphernalia may be required
to participate in random, on-demand alcohol, to-
bacco and drug screenings as well as to engage in
an educational course. In cases where there is not
confirmed usage, costs related to tests required for
students will be covered by the University if the
results are negative and will be the responsibility
of the student if the results are positive.

Voluntary Referral
All students can choose to voluntarily seek assis-
tance in remaining drug- and alcohol-free. Faculty
members, Counseling & Testing or Student Life
professionals are available for consultations. No
disciplinary action will typically be taken if the
student initiates (without the information being
already reported to or known by a University or
law enforcement official) a voluntary effort to seek
assistance. To be considered as a voluntary refer-
ral, the student must provide, from the Counseling
& Testing Center or a healthcare provider, current
documentation of having taken the voluntary ini-
tiative as well as evidence of faithfully following
the established plan for attendance, treatment,
removal of triggers and personal growth.
Substance use/abuse counseling is available
from the Counseling & Testing Center. Limited
services include the following:

¢ Professional substance abuse assessment
¢ Individual counseling
¢ Support groups for chemical dependency

Mandatory Referral
If students are found in violation of the policy, the
University will activate the following response.

Non-illegal Substance Violations

A first violation for a non-illegal substance use or
possession will result in a suspension from the
University. To be eligible to regain and/or continue
student status, the student must fulfill the follow-
ing protocol:

1. Review and reaffirm commitment to a re-entry
contract with a Student Life professional
2. Sign arelease of information consent form
with a Student Life professional
3. Serve an on-campus suspension, (a) a two-
week, in-class (required class attendance) or
(b) an out-of-class suspension from classes
and work for a minimum of three class days
as determined by the Student Life Deans
Council that includes:
» Remaining in current residence
» Suspension from all organized campus
activities
» Supervised academic success or voluntary
service (15 hours)
» Citizenship Probation (15 weeks)
» Mentoring with a Student Life dean for a
minimum of six weekly sessions
» Other restorative and educational inter-
ventions
» Making an appointment with the Counsel-
ing & Testing Center within three days to
obtain a Substance Abuse Assessment
» Accept responsibility for a minimum $100 fee
» Requesting that the Counseling & Testing
counselor submit to referring entity a
verification of compliance with assessment
appointments and a summary report of
the assessment with recommendations for
ongoing care
» A psychoeducational course which
includes attendance of six sessions and
related assignments and an exit interview
as outlined with the course counselor
» Requesting that the Counseling & Testing
counselor submit verification to referring
entity of the completion of the six psycho-
educational sessions

Illegal Substances and Other Serious
Substance-Related Violations

Violations that will result in a more major sus-
pension of a minimum of one semester include
conduct related to:

o Use of illegal substances

o Possession of illegal substances and parapher-
nalia in campus residence halls

¢ Planning and/or hosting events where alcohol
and/or illegal substances are served and/or
consumed

¢ Selling or suppling alcohol or illegal substances

o Attempting to solicit or facilitate the purchase
or presence of alcohol or illegal substances

e Underage use of alcohol or providing alcohol
and/or illegal substances to underage individuals
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A report will be made to the appropriate legal au-
thorities if the student has violated laws regarding
illegal drugs and controlled substances.

To be eligible to regain and/or continue student
status the student must:

e Serve an off-campus suspension which will be
a minimum of one semester, during which time
the student will be separated from the campus
(under the terms of a campus ban) and all
campus activities and services.

Prior to returning to classes the student must:

e Obtain an assessment with a licensed commu-
nity Substance Abuse Counselor

e Sign a release of information consent form with
the community Substance Abuse Counselor

¢ Request that the Substance Abuse Counselor
submit a summary report of the assessment,
with recommendations for ongoing care, to the
vice president for Campus & Student Life

e Submit documentation of the completion of
other restorative and educational interventions
or voluntary service

Upon returning and registering for a future semes-
ter the student must:

e Review and reaffirm commitment to a re-entry
contract with a Student Life professional

® Sign a release of information consent form with
a Student Life professional

e Complete a psychoeducational course with the
Counseling & Testing Center which includes
attendance of six sessions, related assignments
and an exit interview as outlined with the
course counselor

e Participate in random, on-demand drug testing
and accept responsibility for related fees
(regardless of positive or negative results)

e Serve a minimum 15-week Citizenship Proba-
tion that includes the removal of privileges (see
Student Conduct Intervention (Disciplinary)
Processes)

A second substance use or possession offense
will result in, at minimum, a suspension from

the University for the current semester and the
ensuing semester during which time the student
will be separated from the campus and all campus
activities. A request for reinstatement will first
require reapplication to the University.
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Health Risks and Resources

There are many health risks associated with the
use of alcohol and drugs—many of these risks are
noted in the following comprehensive overview.
For a comprehensive list of health risks, please
see bulletin.andrews.edu.> Student Handbook >
Substance Abuse.

Legal Ramifications

Violations of local, state and federal laws related
to alcohol abuse or to the illegal use, possession,
manufacture or delivery of controlled substances
may result in misdemeanor or felony convictions
accompanied by the legal imposition of sanctions.
For details, please see bulletin.andrews.edu.>
Student Handbook > Substance Abuse.

Medical Marijuana

Michigan state law permits the use of medical
marijuana, i.e., use by persons possessing law-
fully issued medical marijuana cards. However,
marijuana use, possession and/or cultivation is
prohibited at educational institutions, which are
recipients of federal funds and must be compliant
with federal laws (including the Controlled
Substances Act and the Drug-Free Schools

and Communities Act). The use, possession or
cultivation of marijuana for medical purposes is
therefore not allowed on the property of Andrews
University nor is it allowed at any University-spon-
sored event or activity off-campus.

Community Resources

For a comprehensive list of community resources,
please see bulletin.andrews.edu.> Student Hand-
book > Substance Abuse.

HEALTH, WELLNESS AND SAFETY

At Andrews University the health and wellbeing
of students and of our campus community is

of primary importance. The University remains
committed to assuring that all students have

the opportunity to achieve optimal success and
receive the best and most appropriate care. The
University Student Intervention Team (USIT) has
been established to evaluate concerns and to
intervene as deemed necessary to help protect the
educational environment or the health and safety
of the campus.

Observations of behaviors and reports of activ-
ities or conduct that appear to disrupt, jeopardize
or threaten the educational environment or the
health or safety of a student or others should be



shared via the online Andrews University CARE
Report form. Reports may also be shared with the
vice president for Campus & Student Life and/or
members of USIT. If there is a direct or imminent
threat the observation should be directed immedi-
ately to Emergency Services (911) and to the Office
of Campus Safety (269-471-3321).

Such observations may include disruptive,
erratic or dysfunctional behaviors, a suicidal ide-
ation or gesture, self-injurious actions, aberrant
actions, threatening statements or behaviors, or
other symptoms or conduct that may compromise
the educational environment or the health and
safety of the student or others.

USIT Member Phone

Frances Faehner, 269-471-2679
vice president for Campus

& Student Life

Jennifer Burrill, 269-471-6601

director, residence life

Nancy Carbonell, 269-471-3472
faculty, Graduate

Psychology & Counseling

Judith Fisher,
director, Counseling &
Testing Center

269-471-3470

Ben Panigot, 269-471-3321

director, Campus Safety

Carletta Witzel,

student intervention
coordinator and disability
services coordinator

269-471-3227

General Processes

The University will facilitate standard due
processes, in which the student will have the
opportunity to explore with a member of the

USIT or a Student Life dean the nature of the
reported concern, the Health, Wellness and Safety
policy, as well as engage in an appeal process.
When deemed necessary, the University may take
interim measures or initiate a plan to provide
protective care for the student and/or take steps to
ensure the safety of the campus community until
an evaluation can take place. University Medical
Specialties and/or the Counseling & Testing
Center may be consulted. (In some cases, students
may be transported by ambulance directly to a
local emergency facility following a 911 call.)

Evaluation and/or Investigative Processes

To facilitate the success of the student as well as
to assess the level of risk or disruption to the cam-
pus or educational environment, a comprehensive
investigation may be activated.

e The student may be asked to obtain a
comprehensive individualized medical and/
or psychological assessment from a licensed
physician or psychologist and sign a release of
information (ROI) to the vice president for Cam-
pus & Student Life and the USIT. Information
requested may include a written report of the
findings of the assessment and recommended
intervention plan.

o The student may be asked by the licensed
physician or psychologist to provide pertinent
reports and corroborative information from
former educational entities or healthcare
professionals.

¢ In cases of potential harm to self, residence
hall students may not be able to reside in the
residence hall during the assessment and
stabilization processes due to the potential
disruption to other students and the inability of
residence hall staff to provide monitored care.
Parents of the student may be asked to provide
a plan of monitored care until the assessment
process determines that the student is able to
function in an independent living environment.

¢ In the case of threats or potential harm to
others, an investigation will be conducted
that may include a background check and the
student may be asked to provide additional
information.

¢ In the case of serious threats of harm self or
others Parents, legal guardians, spouse or
family designee (as reflected in the student’s
emergency contact records) generally are
notified and encouraged to share relevant
information.

o The student is responsible for all fees related to
medical or psychological assessment.

o The vice president for Campus & Student Life
and/or the USIT will review all corroborative
information, professional assessments and
recommendations to determine the appropriate
University response.

Following the evaluation and investigative pro-
cesses, the USIT or vice president for Campus &
Student Life may request the student to engage in
an intervention plan that may include a change in
residential setting, a voluntary medical leave, or
an involuntary leave.
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Involuntary Leave Process

In extraordinary circumstances the vice
president for Campus & Student Life may ask

a student to take an involuntary leave from the
University for reasons of personal or community
safety that include:

¢ Medical circumstances: (a) The student may
pose a direct threat to the health or safety of
the student or others or has seriously disrupted
others in the student’s residential community
or academic environment; and (b) the student’s
behavior or threatening state is determined
to be the result of a medical condition, or
the student refuses to cooperate with efforts
deemed necessary by the University Student
Intervention Team to obtain an individualized
assessment to evaluate the cause of the stu-
dent’s behavior or threatening state. In some
circumstances, the level of care and accommo-
dation may exceed the resources or appropriate
staffing capabilities of a residential campus or
may be beyond the standard of care that cam-
pus health care and support services can be
expected to provide or monitor, in which case
continued enrollment may constitute a serious
disruption of the residential community or the
academic environment, justifying an involun-
tary leave of absence. Placement on involun-
tary leave of absence for these situations is not
disciplinary, and a student who wishes to take
a voluntary leave of absence will ordinarily be
allowed to do so.

¢ Alleged criminal behavior or risk to the
community: The student has been arrested on
allegations or charged with serious criminal
behavior or has allegedly violated the Code of
Student Conduct and may pose a significant
risk to the safety or educational environment
of the community. Incidents such as these that
initially give rise to an involuntary leave may
subsequently result in a disciplinary action.

Voluntary Leave Policy

In certain life circumstances, it may be neces-
sary or desirable for a student to take a leave of
absence. Requests for leave are handled in accor-
dance with the Voluntary Leave Policy. A leave
of absence may occur within a semester while
remaining enrolled in classes (in-semester leave)
or it may entail withdrawing from all classes

and leaving for the remainder of the semester or
longer (semester leave). Leaves may be granted for
family, military, medical or personal reasons, as
specified below.
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Alternatives to a Leave

Before taking a semester leave, students are
advised to consult with their professors, academic
advisors or the Student Success office about any
accommodations that might be made. In some
cases, it may be best for students to remain
enrolled under a revised academic plan. Such a
plan could include reduced coursework, extended
deadlines or incompletes with a plan for comple-
tion. A revised academic plan will vary depending
upon course load, course requirements and
current academic standing within courses.

In-Semester Leaves

An in-semester leave involves a short absence
from all classes. The student will remain
enrolled and be responsible for working with
professors, academic advisors or the Student
Success office on a plan to make up missed
coursework. While emergencies may take a stu-
dent away from campus without warning, in all
other situations students are required to notify
professors and the Student Success or Student
Life office before taking an in-semester leave.
Such leaves may total no more than two weeks
in a given semester, and students who exceed
this limit must consult with the Student Success
office about taking a semester leave.

Semester Leaves—Benefits

Semester leaves are designed to temporarily
withdraw students from enrollment in all classes,
without a loss of general admission status, in
order to help them meet significant life challenges
or important obligations. Related reinstatement
processes ensure that students return fully
equipped for the rigors of campus and academ-

ic life. An approved semester leave, in certain
circumstances, may help students:

o To protect their academic record

¢ To maintain their visa status (if applicable)

e To avoid adverse effects to their student loans,
grants and scholarships

Types of Leave
The University offers in-semester and semester
leaves for the following reasons:

¢ A family semester leave may be granted for
cases in which a student or student’s spouse
has given birth or adopted a child or in which
a student is caring for a spouse, son, daughter
or parent who has a serious health condition.
A letter of request should be submitted as
documentation.



¢ A military semester leave will be granted to a

student who must interrupt study temporarily to
fulfill a compulsory military obligation. The stu-
dent must provide written documentation from
the appropriate military authorities, including
dates of the period of obligation.

A medical semester leave may be granted for
documented physical or psychological health
reasons. Documentation must be obtained from
a licensed physician or psychologist.

A personal semester leave may be granted to a
student who must interrupt study temporarily
for reasons other than those described above.
Reasons may include, but are not limited to, fi-
nancial status, bereavement or changes in one’s
outside employment. A letter of request should
be submitted as documentation.

Requesting a Semester Leave

¢ To initiate a semester leave, students must
submit a Student Exit Procedure Form along
with appropriate supporting documentation
to the vice president for Campus & Student
Life or the Student Success office.
Students should expect that the established
tuition adjustment schedule will be followed
based on the number of calendar days they
have been enrolled. Additional considerations
may be made based on each student’s request,
in consultation with their academic dean and
the Student Financial Services office.
Before taking a semester leave, students are
strongly encouraged to consult with their
academic advisor and student financial
advisor. International students should seek
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counsel from the Office of International Stu-
dent Services & Programs to insure compliance
with visa regulations.

While on a Semester Leave
While on a semester leave of absence, students
have limited access to University services:

e Students on leave may not be allowed to regis-
ter for main campus or distance degree courses
or to participate in academic tours.

o The ID cards of students on leave will be
deactivated and will not function on campus
(at the Andrews University Bookstore, Dining
Services, James White Library, residence halls,
etc.). However, access to a student’s personal
Andrews email account will remain.

¢ Students on leave who have purchased health
insurance coverage through the University’s
student insurance provider will remain covered
for the remainder of their policy term.

e Counseling & Testing Center services will not
be available while a student is on leave.

¢ Residential students who plan to live in the
local community during their leave may wish
to re-register their vehicles with the Office of
Campus Safety (for a minimal fee) in order to
receive community parking privileges.

e Students who work on-campus should not
expect to retain their student employment
during the period of their leave.

¢ Students on leave may not live in the residence
halls. Since leases in student housing are
contingent upon enrollment, students on leave
will not be allowed to remain in University
apartments or houses beyond the end of the
semester in which they take a leave. However,
students with an approved leave may break
their lease without penalty.

Duration and Number of Semester Leaves
The duration of a semester leave depends upon
the type of leave taken. Military leaves are
determined by the length of compulsory service
specified by military authorities. Family, personal
and medical leaves may be anywhere from the
remainder of a semester to no more than one
additional semester in length. Students on an
approved medical leave may request a second
additional semester of leave when appropriate
documentation is obtained from a healthcare
professional.
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Some degree programs have annual academic
sequences that may require students to re-enter
their program at a particular point in the aca-
demic year. In such cases, a longer leave may be
necessary and will be considered.

Reinstatement from Leaves

Reinstatement from military, family, medical
and personal semester or involuntary leaves
requires that students complete one or more of
the following:

¢ Contact the Student Life office to have the
medical leave hold removed

o Notify their academic and financial advisors be-
fore the end of a leave of their intention to return

o Take the appropriate steps to academically and
financially register for the following semester

In addition, reinstatement from a semester medi-
cally-related leave addresses the University’s need
to be confident, in consultation with the student
and healthcare providers, that the student can
function safely and independently in an unsuper-
vised environment. The vice president for Campus
& Student Life and/or the USIT may require
current documentation from a licensed physician
or psychologist regarding the following:

e Astudent’s readiness to return to the rigor inher-
ent in academic and campus life expectations

¢ A student’s ability to adequately monitor his or
her health

¢ Any recommendations for follow-up or after-
care intervention and support

Failure to return in the semester following the
end of a leave will result in a student having to
re-apply to the University.

Participation in academic tours immediately
following a semester medical leave must be sup-
ported by a statement from a student’s medical or
psychological provider that he/she is prepared to
participate in the demands of that particular tour
and can be in circumstances where there may be
limited access to medical services.



A Residential Campus

RESIDENTIAL LIVING POLICY

Policy

Andrews University is operated as a residen-
tial college on the undergraduate level. This
means that the residential environment plays a
significant role in the mission of the University
and its efforts to foster the holistic development
of each student.

Therefore, all single undergraduate students
under 22 years of age who are (1) pursuing an
on-campus degree and taking seven or more
credits (including distance learning courses)
or (2) enrolled in full-time language study must
live in one of the University residence halls and
participate in a meal plan at the University’s
cafeteria. Single undergraduate students must
be 22 years of age by the first day of a semester in
order to be approved to live in the community for
that semester.

*Special consideration may be granted for those
who turn 22 by September 30 (for fall) and Janu-
ary 31 (for spring).

*Special consideration may be granted for those
who are fifth-year seniors (attended four full
years—eight fall/spring semesters—at a college/
university and have 120+ earned academic credit
hours). Students who have served one or two
registered semesters as a student missionary or
taskforce worker through Andrews University or
another Adventist institution may be granted
equivalent academic semesters toward fifth-year
senior status (with 15 hours of earned academic
credit hours per semester) pending recommenda-
tion letters from the site Campus Ministries office
as well as the site supervisor.

Costs associated with residence hall living are
part of the investment in an Andrews University
education, thus the Student Life office does not
make exceptions to the Residential Living Policy
on the basis of financial need.

The ONLY alternatives to residence hall living
are as follows and are at the discretion of the
Student Life office:

1. Students may live full-time within the house-
hold of a parent, grandparent, aunt/uncle or
sibling age 22+ within a 45-mile radius of the
University under the terms of an approved
Community Residential Application.

2. Students may live full-time with a current,
full-time Andrews University faculty or staff
member (generally a Seventh-day Adventist in
good and regular standing) within a 45-mile
radius of the University under the terms of an
approved Community Residential Application.

A Community Residential Application may be ob-
tained online or in the Student Life office (Campus
Center, main floor). The parent, grandparent, aunt/
uncle, sibling age 22+ or current, full-time faculty/
staff member must sign the application in person
in the Student Life office and is required to present
their current Michigan or Indiana driver’s license to
be photocopied as proof of local residency.

*If applying to live with an aunt/uncle, a student
must submit written documentation from a parent
to verify that the aunt/uncle is the biological sister/
brother of the parent.

Returning residential students under age 22 who
meet the criteria for community living must submit
applications to the Student Life office for approval
prior to the semester of their expected move.
Submitting an application before the deadline does
not mean it is approved. The assistant to the vice
president for Campus & Student Life will respond to
all applications within two weeks of submission or
according to the designated timeline (see below).

Semester Application | Response by
expected deadline

to move

Spring 2019 | November 1 | November 15
Fall 2019 June 1 June 15

Please note the additional conditions of this policy:

1. A “parent” is a student’s biological parent or
legal step-parent. A “grandparent” is a biolog-
ical parent of a student’s parent. An “aunt”
or “uncle” is a biological sister or brother
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of a student’s parent. While the University
understands the custom of addressing a
close family friend as “aunt,” “uncle,” etc.,
the University, as it relates to the Residential
Living Policy, only honors biological family
relationships.

In keeping with the older student community
environment, a student under age 22 will not
be approved to live with their age 22+ sibling
in University Towers.

To be eligible for community housing, stu-
dents must be in good and regular standing
and evidence a willingness to abide by the
expectations of Andrews University at the
time of application.

Students living in the community or Univer-
sity Apartments are expected to abide by the
standards and codes of conduct outlined in
the “Student Handbook.”

Under the terms of the Community Residen-
tial Application, the parent, grandparent,
aunt/uncle, sibling age 22+ or faculty/staff
member must agree to live on a daily basis in
the same household as the student (students
must not live in a separate apartment or base-
ment apartment with a different entrance)
and to notify Student Life of any changes of
address, conduct concerns, irregularities or
any concern that impacts the welfare of the
student.

A parent, grandparent, aunt/uncle, sibling
age 22+ or faculty/staff member who owns or
rents more than one residence may not divide
their time between residences during the
school year.

Application for living in the community must
be made each academic year.

Students are strongly advised not to make
contractual agreements or financial commit-
ments in the community before receiving full
approval from Student Life for community
living. Student Life is not responsible for
these choices or consequences.

Students who make false statements to the
University on a Community Residential Ap-
plication jeopardize their student status and
ability to reside in the community—additional
consequences and/or fines may apply.
Students who wish to request alternate
housing arrangements due to a disability or
to a chronic health condition should contact
the disability services coordinator, Carletta
Witzel, at Student Success (269-471-3227).

All requests for housing accommodations
should be made no later than July 1 (for fall
semester), November 15 (for spring semester),
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and March 15 (for summer semester). After
these dates, housing accommodations will

be granted as space allows or for a future
semester. Andrews University will make every
attempt to provide reasonable accommoda-
tions within on-campus housing facilities

for students with documented disabilities or
chronic health conditions.

Residence Halls

The University maintains three residence halls:
Lamson Hall (for undergraduate women), Meier
Hall (for undergraduate men), and University
Towers. University Towers ( for single, undergrad-
uate age 22+ and graduate students. Double-oc-
cupancy rooms are standard. Single occupancy is
permitted by special request, if space allows, for
an additional fee. Residents are not permitted to
sublet their rooms to other individuals.

The University reserves the right of residence
hall deans, authorized representatives or an ad-
ministrative officer of the University to enter and
inspect a student’s room whenever deemed neces-
sary. This includes, but is not limited to, the right
to inspect the contents of any locked containers
and inspection for illegal substances, firearms,
alcohol, tobacco, fire and safety hazards, cleanli-
ness and orderliness. The student, by accepting a
room in one of the residence halls, acknowledges
and authorizes this procedure. Materials and
decorations, such as pictures or posters not in
harmony with the ethical and moral standards
of the University, may result in the student being
asked to remove them from the campus or may
ultimately be moved by University personnel.

University Apartments (and Houses)

The University owns approximately 300
apartments and 30 houses. The apartments are
available to married students, students with
children, and single undergraduate age 22+ and
graduate students. Accommodations are available
only to those who have been officially accepted

as University students. Since apartments are
limited, applicants are advised to apply six to nine
months before their first semester of studies.

Most apartments are furnished. Tenants must
supply their own linen, draperies and kitchen
utensils. Unfurnished apartments have a stove
and refrigerator. Heavy furniture and pianos
on the second or third floor may be placed in
the apartments only by prior arrangement with
the University Apartments director. Pets are not
allowed in University apartments or houses. The
apartment descriptions, rental rates and applica-
tion forms are available upon request.
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Full-time students living with children and/or
spouse, single graduate students or undergrad-
uate students (22 years of age and older) may
qualify for a University apartment. Apartments
offered are as follows:

* Beechwood: 1-, 2- and (limited) 3-bedroom
furnished or unfurnished; and a very limited
number of 4-bedroom unfurnished

e Garland: 1-, 2- or (limited) 3-bedroom
furnished or unfurnished; and efficiency
furnished apartments for singles

e Maplewood: 1-, 2- or (limited) 3-bedroom
furnished with air conditioning; 2-bedroom
unfurnished with or without air conditioning;
and a limited number of 3-bedroom unfur-
nished with air conditioning

¢ A limited number of houses

For floor plans and more information, please
visit andrews.edu/apartments.

Other Accommodations

There are other accommodations in the area. You
may obtain a list of area landlords at the Office
of University Apartments or request a copy via
email to universityapartments@andrews.edu.

COMMUNITY HOUSING

Non-Residence Hall Housing

Students 22 or older may choose to live in Univer-
sity apartments or in non-University housing in
the community. All students in non-University
housing are advised to obtain a valid lease or
contract from their landlords.

Students living in non-residence hall
housing must abide by the Code of Student
Conduct and the Residential Living Policy.
All students living off-campus must maintain
high moral standards in their choice of guests
and entertainment; otherwise, they could be
subject to discipline. Unmarried or unrelated
students of the opposite sex or students who
are in a romantic relationship may not live or
visit overnight in the same shared dwelling.

CAMPUS CURFEW AND
BUILDING CLOSURES

The University roadways are closed to general
access from off-campus starting at 11 p.m.
every night except for Saturday which begins at
midnight. Residence hall students are expected
to abide by the curfew established for their
student status. Vehicles entering or departing
the campus while the campus is closed are
required to enter through the Campus Safety
Gatehouse located on J.N. Andrews Blvd. At
that time the operator of the vehicle will be re-
quired to present either their Andrews Universi-
ty Identification Card or a valid driver’s license.
Campus Safety reserves the right to refuse entry
to the campus due to safety-related concerns.
University buildings and facilities are also
closed to general access at various times. For
more information regarding building schedules
and closures, please contact Campus Safety at
269-471-3321 or visit andrews.edu/safety.




A Whole-Person Approach

FAITH AND LEARNING
OUTSIDE THE CLASSROOM

As part of earning an Andrews University degree,
graduate and undergraduate students have many
opportunities to engage in faith and learning
opportunities outside the classroom. These comple-
ment academic courses and allow students to doc-
ument valuable skills and dispositions desired by
employers. Undergraduate students and Seminary
students agree to participate in a minimum number
of co-curricular opportunities each semester as part
of their educational experience. However, we en-
courage all students to be involved in out-of-class
learning experiences offered by the University—on
campus, in the community and around the world.

SEMINARY WORSHIP POLICY

Seminary students are required to attend a mini-
mum number of Seminary worship and assembly
programs each semester. Full details can be found
in the “Seminary Worship Attendance Policy” at
andrews.edu/sem/resources/pdf/worship-atten-
dance-policy-03-15-16.pdf.

UNDERGRADUATE
CO-CURRICULAR POLICY

Learning Outcomes. Co-curricular education
targets learning outcomes in four areas.

e A Healthy U focuses on physical fitness, bal-
anced nutrition and personal wellbeing.

e A Successful U focuses on academic skills,
creative capacities and career readiness.

e A Committed U focuses on faith development,
spiritual support and life purpose.

e A Better U focuses on cultural competence, ser-
vice orientation and leadership development.

Together with the academic curriculum, these
programs deliver the whole-person education at
the heart of Andrews University’s mission.

Co-Curricular Programs Offered. Four types of
co-curricular programs are offered:

1. Chapels and Forums meet every Thursday
from 11:30 a.m. to 12:20 p.m. in the Pioneer
Memorial Church or the Howard Performing
Arts Center. These programs allow students
to interact with a wide range of inspiring
pastors, community leaders, authors, faculty,
students and alumni.

2. Co-Curricular Short Courses take place in
five-week blocks on every Tuesdays from 11:30
a.m. to 12:20 p.m. in a variety of locations.
These series are focused on personal,
academic and professional development.
Interspersed between the blocks are Academ-
ic Assemblies, which meet three times per
semester in various academic departments.

3. Living Learning Programs occur through-
out the week in the residence halls. These
programs are designed to promote life-wide
learning within the context of Christian
community.

4, Service Learning Forms offer co-curricular
credit to students who document and reflect
on their involvement in voluntary service in a
campus, church or community context. . One
credit is given for every two hours of service,
up to a maximum of 10 credits per semester.

Other opportunities to receive co-curricular credit
include Friday vespers; student concerts and
recitals; student gallery openings; and approved
educational programs planned by student organi-
zations and campus departments.

Co-Curricular Fee. A co-curricular fee is assessed
at the end of each semester. This fee accumu-
lates based on nonattendance. There will be a

fee of $25 for the first credit short of the required
number and $15 for every credit short thereafter. A
maximum of $460 may be charged to traditional
students and $160 to non-traditional students per
semester. Most importantly, as an incentive for
participation, this fee can be minimized or com-
pletely eliminated by fulfilling the requirement.

Attendance Requirement. Engaging in out-of-
class learning is part of earning an Andrews
degree. Co-curricular appointments should be
treated just like classes when planning work
schedules and overall academic load.
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Traditional Undergraduates. Undergraduates
under the age of 25 years who do not have a
child in their care are identified as traditional.
All traditional undergraduates are required to
attend 30 co-curricular programs a semester,
meeting one or two minimums (below) as part
of the total requirement.

» Thursday minimum. Traditional under-
graduates must attend a minimum of 12
programs offered on Thursdays during
the 11:30 a.m. to 12:20 p.m. co-curricular
period.

» Living Learning minimum. Traditional
undergraduates living in residence
hall (Lamson, Meier, or University
Towers) must attend a minimum of 6
living learning programs offered in the
residence hall system.

» The remaining credits can be invested in
ways that best support your life and career
goals. A maximum of 10 credits may be
earned through the service learning forum.

Non-Traditional Undergraduates. Un-

dergraduates 25 years and older or who

are parents with a child in their care are

identified as non-traditional. Non-traditional

undergraduates are required to accrue 10

credits a semester, drawn from any of the

available programs. They also have the option

of viewing programs online and submitting a

report in lieu of physical attendance. Parents

under the age of 25 must present a copy of
their child’s birth certificate to the Student

Life office in order to receive non-traditional

status.

Exempted Undergraduates. Marital status or

work conflicts do not exempt students from

attendance. However, if an undergraduate
student is registered for 7 or fewer credits,

pursuing a second bachelor’s degree or has 120

earned academic credit hours or more by
the beginning of the semester, the student
is welcome but not required to attend pro-
grams. Earned credit hours can be viewed
using the University Academic Record link
on the iVue page. Do not use the CAPP
program to figure earned credit hours.

Pass/Fail and Co-Curricular Probation. Tradi-
tional undergraduates must complete at least
75 percent of the co-curricular requirement (23
out of 30 credits) in order to pass for the semes-
ter. Students who fall below of the pass level
will be placed on co-curricular probation.

Absences. Absences due to occasional field
trips, medical appointments, occasional illness
or family emergencies will not be excused.
Students should plan to offset these conflicts
with attendance at other programs. Those who
miss a Thursday Chapel program for one of
these reasons may have the option to view a
missed program online for credit (if it has been
recorded). Please contact the Student Life office
within one week after your absence.

Attendance Monitoring. Students are respon-
sible for keeping track of their attendance
throughout the semester. To access your
attendance record, go to the Andrews Vault and
click on “The Co-Curriculum.” If programs you
have attended do not show up on your record,
please report the program within 21 days using
the “Missing Programs” link in your record.
Co-Curricular Information. Information
about upcoming co-curricular programs and
the co-curricular requirement can be found
by clicking on the “Co-Curricular Education”
link under the “My Courses” tab in the
Learning Hub.

Co-Curricular Requirement At-a-Glance

Traditional Residence

Traditional Community | Non-Traditional

Minimum

Hall Students Students Students
Tuesday/Thursday 12 credits 12 credits No minimum
Minimum
Living Learning 6 credits No minimum No minimum

Services Learning
Maximum

Up to 10 credits (20
hours of service)

Up to 10 credits (20 No maximum

hours of service)

TOTAL REQUIRED 30 credits

30 credits 10 credits
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Our
Commitment
to You

Andrews University is committed to
creating an environment in which
each student’s rights and privileges
are supported and protected. Unless
circumstances or obligations dictate
otherwise, the following are some

of the rights afforded to all Andrews
University students.

TO SERVE:
University Services

TO PROTECT:
Student Rights

TO HOLD ACCOUNTABLE:
Student Responsibilities




TO SERVE:

University Services

ADMISSION SERVICES

Admission to Andrews University is available

to any student who meets the academic and
character requirements of the University and who
expresses willingness to cooperate with its poli-
cies. Because Andrews University is operated by
the Seventh-day Adventist Church, the majority of
its students are Seventh-day Adventists. However,
no particular religious commitment is required for
admission. Any qualified student who would be
comfortable within its faith, social and cultural
atmosphere may be admitted. The University does
not discriminate on the grounds of race, color,
ethnicity, national origin, citizenship, sex, reli-
gion, age, disability, veteran status, or any other
legally protected characteristic.

Admission to one of the schools of Andrews
University does not guarantee admission to a
specific department or program within a given
school. Transfers from one school to another may
be made when the student meets the admission
requirements for that school and has the consent
of the deans involved.

ACADEMIC INFORMATION AND
STUDENT SUCCESS CENTER

Andrews University degree programs are offered
through the following academic units:

e College of Arts & Sciences

e School of Architecture & Interior Design

e School of Business Administration

e School of Distance Education & International
Partnerships

e School of Education

¢ School of Health Professions

o Seventh-day Adventist Theological Seminary

Additionally, the School of Graduate Studies oper-
ates as the unit responsible for quality assurance
of graduate degrees offered by the University in its
various academic units.

Course Load

The course load is expressed in semester credits.
One semester credit represents one 50-minute
class per week or its equivalent for one semester.
For a complete and detailed Credit Hour Definition
at Andrews University, please see the “Andrews
University Bulletin” at bulletin.andrews.edu.

For undergraduate students the normal class
load is 12 to 16 credits per semester. The normal
course load for graduate students is 8 to 12
credits per semester. International undergraduate
students must take a minimum of 12 credits per
semester to maintain their visa. International
graduate students must take a minimum of 8 cred-
its per semester, and international MDiv students
must take a minimum of 9 credits per semester to
maintain their visa. Undergraduate students must
maintain a minimum of 6 credits to be eligible
for federal financial aid. Graduate students must
maintain a minimum of 4 credits, and MDiv stu-
dents must maintain a minimum of 4.5 credits for
federal financial aid.
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Class Status Full-time (Credit Financial Aid Status Maintain Visa Status
Hours) (Credit Hours) (Credit Hours)

Undergraduate

(Non-International) 12-16 6 n/a

Undergra.duate 12-16 n/a 12

(International)

Graduate

(Non-International) 8-12 4 n/a

Graduate

(International) 8-12 n/a 8

MDiv

(Non-International) 9-16 45 n/a

MDiv (International) 9-16 n/a 9

Class Standing

At the beginning of the fall semester each year,
undergraduate students are classified according to
the number of semester credits earned.

Freshman 0-24 credits

Sophomore 25-56 credits

Junior 57-86 credits

Senior 87 or more credits

Graduate Completion of
baccalaureate degree

Exit Procedure

For a complete withdrawal from all current
classes, students must follow a specified course
of action. Andrews University Student Exit Proce-
dure forms may be obtained from the Student Life
office located in the Campus Center, the Office of
Academic Records in the Administration Building
or the office of the appropriate academic dean.

Various checkpoints have been designated in
an effort to provide the student with an opportu-
nity for counsel. To complete the exit process, the
student must obtain several signatures in order to
ensure that the necessary information has been
given both to the student and to the departments
listed on the form.

In order to qualify to receive a “W” for classes
rather than the grades earned, the withdrawal
form must be completed by the date established
in the University calendar as the last day to
withdraw from a class with a W. (To review the
tuition refund policy, see the “Andrews University
Bulletin” at bulletin.andrews.edu).

In addition, students occupying University
housing, apartments and residence halls must
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check out of those facilities according to estab-
lished procedures.

Academic Probation (Undergraduate)

A student is classified on Academic Probation/
At-Risk status when he/she has a cumulative
Andrews University GPA lower than 2.00
and/or a semester GPA of 1.75 or below, or a
combination, in a semester, of three or more
Withdrawals (W), Incompletes (I) or grades
lower than a C.

Students on academic probation are re-
moved from probation when they successfully
complete the requirements of their academic
probation plan as prescribed by their dean.

Students on academic probation:

1. Are restricted to taking no more than 12
credits per semester

2. Are expected to limit extracurricular
activities and part-time employment

3. Are not eligible to apply or participate in
formal leadership positions, intercolle-
giate or gymnastic teams

4. May be required to take special courses

5. May be required to attend sessions for
academic support or personal counseling

This program ensures students will have am-
ple time to concentrate on their courses and
develop personal habits for greater success in
future terms. Students on academic probation
for two consecutive, or three total, semesters
may be at risk for academic dismissal.

Academic Policies and Procedures
See the “Andrews University Bulletin” at bulle-
tin.andrews.edu.



Student Success Center

Nethery Hall, Room 210

Phone: 269-471-6096

Hours: Monday—Thursday, 9 a.m.=12 p.m. and
1-5p.m.; Friday, 9 a.m.=12 p.m.

Student Success adds to classroom instruction
by providing academic guidance, support and
developmental instruction. The Student Success
Center serves as a learning center for all students
in all schools of the University.

Individual peer tutoring services are available
for undergraduate students through the class
GNSTog1—Academic Tutorial Support. Resources on
aspects of student success such as note taking, time
management, memory techniques, and test prepa-
ration are also available by appointment. These
general academic support services are complement-
ed by the Mathematics and Writing Centers.

Student Success also offers:

e Advisor assignment for new students (for
undergraduate students)

e Advisor/Major/Minor changes (for undergradu-
ate students)

¢ Disabilities accommodation (for graduate and
undergraduate students)

¢ Academic intervention (for graduate and
undergraduate students)

Questions/concerns: email success@andrews.edu.

Services for Students with Disabilities
Andrews University accepts and appreciates
diversity in its students inclusive of those with
disabilities and will provide reasonable accommo-
dations on an individualized basis to the greatest
extent possible without compromising the integrity
of the student’s degree. It is the responsibility of
the student with a disability to seek assistance from
the disability support officer in the Student Success
Center and to provide detailed documentation of
the disability from an appropriate, licensed official
to certify the student as having a disability. The cost
of obtaining documentation must be borne by the
student. Students should request accommodations
as early as possible. Although efforts will be made
to provide accommodations quickly, Andrews Uni-
versity cannot guarantee certain accommodations
(i.e. alternate texts or interpreters) earlier than six
weeks after the receipt of acceptable documen-
tation. For more information please contact the
Student Success Center at 269-471-3227 or email
disabilities@andrews.edu.

Students who wish to request alternate housing
arrangements due to a disability or to a chronic
health condition should contact the disability ser-
vices coordinator, Carletta Witzel, at the Student
Success Center (269-471-3227). Andrews University
will make every attempt to provide reasonable
accommodations within on-campus housing facil-
ities for students with documented disabilities or
chronic health conditions.

Mathematics Center

Haughey Hall (Science Complex), Room 112
Hours: Monday-Thursday, 4—7 p.m. (or as
posted); closed during the summer and holidays

The Mathematics Center provides free assistance
with no need for an appointment for students en-
rolled in Andrews University mathematics cours-
es. The Center is equipped with eight computers
that can be used for ALEKS and other Web-based
math assignments. For more information and

the current schedule, see the Math Department
website or call 269-471-3423.

University Center for Reading,
Learning & Assessment

Bell Hall, Suite 200

Phone: 269-471-3480

Reading skills that are enhanced in the Center
include speed-reading; study reading; vocabulary;
word recognition or decoding skills; spelling; and
handwriting. Average to excellent readers, as well
as those having difficulty with reading, are served.
The Center also offers a class that covers memory,
learning styles, time management, temperament,
mind style and emotional condition(s). It also
serves students and the surrounding communities
through psychoeducational and academic assess-
ments as well as Orton-Gillingham based multisen-
sory intervention for those who have dyslexia.

Writing Center
Nethery Hall, Room 134
Phone: 269-471-3358

The Writing Center provides graduate and under-
graduate students with individualized instruction
on basic writing skills and strategies. Services
include computer-assisted tutorial sessions, drop-
in help and a library of rhetoric and usage texts.
The Writing Center also offers occasional review
sessions on general writing problems.
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ANDREWS UNIVERSITY BOOKSTORE

Phone: 269-471-3287,800-385-2001
Fax: 269-471-3289

Web: andrews.edu/bookstore

Email: sm8131@bncollege.com,
swansonc@andrews.edu

Hours: Monday-Thursday, 9 a.m.=5 p.m.;
Friday, 9 a.m.=12 p.m.

The Andrews University Bookstore offers the fol-
lowing services: Textbooks—new, used and rental;
price match Amazon; also offer trade books; school
and office supplies; some electronics; AU school

spirit clothing; snacks and drinks; health and beau-

ty aids; greeting cards; gift items; and much more.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION: If you are
graduating in May or August, please go to the
Andrews University Bookstore website to order
your regalia and announcements at andrews.
edu/bookstore. Choose “Main Campus Cours-
es,” then click on “Regular Regalia” or “FINE/
Doctoral Regalia” (at the bottom of the page on
the left) and follow the prompts.

There is no deadline to order. However, extra

shipping charges may occur if expedited mailing
is needed.
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Textbook Return Policy

o A full refund will be given in your original
form of payment if textbooks are returned
in the first week of classes with original
receipt.

e With proof of a schedule change (Drop/Add
slip) and original receipt, a full refund will
be given in your original form of payment
during the Drop/Add time established by the
University.

¢ No refunds on unwrapped loose-leaf books
or shrink-wrapped titles which do not have
the wrapping intact.

¢ No refunds on Digital Content once
accessed.

¢ Textbooks must be in original condition.

¢ NO refunds or exchanges without original
receipt.

Trade Book Return Policy

Special order books must be prepaid. Special
order books and sale books are not returnable.
Trade books can be returned within 30 days
only with original receipt. The trade book must
be in original condition.

Used Book Buyback Schedule
Buyback is always Finals Week (Monday—Fri-
day) of spring and fall semesters.




CAMPUS SAFETY SERVICES
AND INFORMATION

Office of Campus Safety

4355 International Ct

Berrien Springs MI 49104-0940

24-Hour Dispatch: 269-471-3321
Business Hours: Monday—Friday, 7 a.m.—3
p.m.; Saturday and Sunday, CLOSED

The Office of Campus Safety is available 24 hours
a day, seven days a week, including holidays, to
ensure the safety of the campus community and
carry out security-related duties on University
properties. Campus Safety is located in the
one-story red brick building on International
Court between Garland Avenue and Grove Street.
If you have a life-threatening situation, please
remember to call 911 directly, and Campus Safety
will respond as well.

Campus Safety is also responsible for the
enforcement of University policies adopted by
the Risk Management Committee. These policies
address a range of items, including the operation
of vehicles on campus, fire safety, and the access
of animals to University property and facilities.
To view these and other adopted policies, please
visit the “University Safety Policies” page of the
Campus Safety website.

Parking Permit Required

Every vehicle on Andrews University property
must have a valid parking permit. Whether it is
your vehicle or you are borrowing a vehicle for the
day, a week, or the school year, stop by the Office
of Campus Safety and get your parking permit
before you park. A fee of $10 per vehicle will be
charged for each new annual registration.

Registering Your Vehicle

To register your vehicle you must visit the Office of
Campus Safety and present the following required
registration documents: valid driver’s license,
current proof of insurance, and state registration.

Precautionary Measures

All persons leaving or entering University prop-
erty may be checked. Any person on University
property may be required to show identification
to a Campus Safety officer or a University official.
Lack of cooperation with a Campus Safety officer
or University official, at any time, will result in
disciplinary action. Contact Campus Safety for
information concerning Vehicle Codes.

Campus Safety provides the following services:

e Medical assistance

¢ Training opportunities

e Protection of property

¢ Opening locked vehicles

e Security escort service (during the hours of
darkness)

e Assistance in contacting the local police, if
needed

e Assistance in answering questions on Universi-
ty rules and regulations

o Fire safety

Safety Tips

Security policies are created out of concern for
your welfare. Security is, however, everyone’s
responsibility. You can help maintain your own
safety by following all campus safety guidelines
and by using common sense safety practices.
Advance planning can help keep you and your
belongings secure.

Safety at night:

e Walk or ride with someone

e Stay away from isolated areas

o Try to stay/walk/park near street lights

¢ Hold your purse tightly, close to your body

e Respect campus curfew (Sunday-Friday, 11
p.m.; Saturday, 12 a.m.)

If you are being followed:

¢ Cross the street, change directions or seek a
busier street

e Keep looking back so the person knows you
cannot be surprised

¢ Go to a well-lit area, such as a store, restaurant,
house, residence hall, classroom—anywhere
there are people

¢ Notice as much as possible about the person so
you can later give a description

If you are held up:

¢ Do not resist—no amount of money is worth
risking your life

¢ Notify the police immediately

e Give a description that includes approximate
height, weight and details on hair, clothing,
jewelry, scars or tattoos—anything that is
noticeable

Wherever you live:
o Keep track of your keys

e Do not let strangers in
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e Do not leave doors unlocked, even for short
periods

e Keep blinds/shades pulled at night

¢ Do not identify yourself on your answering
machine

Protect personal and University property:

e Lock the door if you are the last person out of
aroom

¢ Engrave valuables

¢ Never leave belongings unattended

e Lock bikes securely on the bike rack

¢ Do not keep large amounts of money

e Keep personal papers and valuables locked in a
security drawer

¢ Do not leave money or wallets out in plain sight

Inacar:

e Keep doors locked while driving

¢ Do not hitchhike or pick up hitchhikers

e Lock valuables in the trunk

o Ifyour car is disabled, remain in the locked car
and open the door only for the police

e Park in well-lit areas

o Before vacations, do not pack your car until
you are ready to go

o Always lock your car and take the keys

e Have your keys in hand as you approach the
car/parking lot

e Notice the area around (and in) the car before
you get in

e If you are with someone who is not treating you
with respect, you do not have to put up with
it—find a phone and call for help

e Never go out without a credit card/cash and a
means to make an emergency call

Crime/Accident Reporting

In caring communities, members keep an eye out
for each other. If you notice vandalism, something
suspicious or a potential safety hazard or have
been the victim of any kind of crime, bring it to the
immediate attention of Campus Safety (269-471-
3321), a residence hall dean, Student Life or 911.
For more information, visit andrews.edu/safety.

If you would like to submit an anonymous report,
visit Campus Safety’s anonymous email tip web-
site at andrews.edu/safety or call the Anonymous
Tip Line at 269-471-3338.

Advocate

In order to foster a collaborative approach to a
safe environment at Andrews University, Campus
Safety, in conjunction with Campus & Student
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Life, Counseling & Testing, and Student Success,
utilizes an online reporting tool called Advocate.
Any student who has a safety concern can submit
a report online which will be reviewed and
assigned to the appropriate office. Safety concerns
can include any incidents that create concern,
arouse suspicion or violate University policies (In-
cident Report) or any concern for the wellbeing of
others (CARE Report). To submit an online report
(either Incident or CARE), please go to andrews.
edu/students/resources/public-reporting.html.
Please note that to report a safety concern
requiring an immediate response, contact Campus
Safety directly via phone. If you are reporting a
concern that may require assistance from law
enforcement, emergency medical services, or the
fire department, please call 911.

AU Alert

In order to ensure multiple means of emergency
communication for our campus, Andrews Uni-
versity uses a third party company, Rave Mobile
Safety, to send emergency notification alerts to
the campus. During emergencies, this system
will send text messages, emails and voice calls
to registered recipients. The system will also
post alerts or emergency information to the An-
drews University Facebook account and/or the
Andrews University Twitter accounts. AU Alert
notices are intended only for situations involving
imminent danger to health or human safety.
These may include severe weather alerts, winter
weather class cancellations, hostile threats,
utility failure, major road closings or fire, among
others. To sign up for AU Alert, log in with your
Andrews username and password at https://
www.getrave.com/login/andrews.

Reporting a Missing Person

Any individual who has information that a cam-
pus residential student may be a “missing person”
(having been missing for a minimum of 24 hours)
must notify the Office of Campus Safety (269-471-
3321) as soon as possible.

Andrews University Crime Stoppers Program
Campus Safety, in partnership with Student Life,
is now operating an Andrews University Crime
Stoppers Program. Students can call in anony-
mously to Campus Safety at 269-471-3338 to report
crimes committed on campus. The operator will
take your tip and give you a tip identification
number.

1. Your tip will be investigated by Campus
Safety.



2. Ifyour tip leads to the capture of a suspect
wanted for crimes committed on our campus,
a posting will be made about the case on the
Campus Safety website at andrews.edu/safety.

3. When you see the posting, call Campus
Safety back to make a claim. Provide your tip
number and a telephone number where you
can be reached.

4. Once your information is validated, you will
be contacted and given instructions to receive
your reward. Valid tips will be eligible for
rewards of up to $250 in cash.

Non-Criminal Trespassing

Andrews University desires to foster an environ-
ment where all members of our community are
welcome to utilize all that the campus has to offer.
There are times, however, when our facilities or
recreational areas may be closed. Once a building
or recreational area has been either closed or
locked, or the outdoor area is posted as closed

or off limits, no one should re-enter this area.
Students who are found in these areas may be
subject to a fine, and they can be referred to the
Student Life Deans Council for a violation of the
Code of Student Conduct.

Narcotics K-9

The University intends to maintain a drug-free
campus in harmony with the laws of the State of
Michigan. The unlawful manufacture, possession,
distribution or use of controlled substances is
prohibited.

At times Campus Safety coordinates with local
law enforcement to bring a narcotics K-9 dog and
handler team to conduct searches of residential
areas, residence halls, buildings, classrooms, fa-
cilities, parking lots and/or any other location on
the property of Andrews University. All discovered
illegal narcotics will be turned over to local law
enforcement agencies.

Video and Photo Enforcement of Speed

Limits and Parking Violations

The Office of Campus Safety has been authorized
by Andrews University to conduct enforcement
activities for both speeding and parking violations
on-campus. Violations will be documented and
records kept for review by the Citation Appeals
Committee. Videos, photographs and radar read-
ing are available for review only by the Citation
Appeals Committee.

Tampering with, circumventing, accessing with-
out authority or for reasons other than intended
is defined as any process, steps or action taken

to limit, reduce and/or remove a level of security
provided by the presence of the security device,
or when someone without authorization accesses
an area or security system; which includes video
files, access control systems, or any other securi-
ty-related information or equipment for a purpose
other than intended or by persons without specific
authority. Anyone violating this policy is subject
to fines of up to $500 per violation and disci-
plinary action by Student Life for violations of the
Code of Student Conduct.

Off-Road Driving or Four-Wheeling is Prohibited.

COUNSELING & TESTING SERVICES

Bell Hall, Suite 123

Phone: 269-471-3470

Office Hours: Monday—Friday, 8:30 a.m.-12:30
p.m.; Monday-Thursday, 1:30-5 p.m.

The Counseling & Testing Center (CTC) is designed
to assist students and spouses in reaching their
maximum potential when confronted by social,
intellectual or emotional challenges. Psychol-
ogists, professional counselors and graduate
clinical interns in counseling are available by
appointment or immediately if necessary. The

CTC uses a brief model of treatment and offers

up to eight (8) counseling sessions per semester
as part of the student’s General Fee. Additional
counseling sessions are considered on an individ-
ualized basis. The Center also provides referrals to
community psychiatrists and other mental health
professionals. There are fees associated with
various assessments and testing processes.

The Center maintains strict confidentiality to
protect each client’s records. The Counseling &
Testing Center is accredited by the International
Association of Counseling Services. Following
are examples of services rendered for registered
students or students (and spouses) who are in
good and regular standing:

o Career counseling—involving the discovery
of one’s interests, needs, values, aptitudes,
abilities and goals; relating these to the world
of work; and exploring appropriate major sub-
jects and career fields. Specific, selected tests
may also be given to aid in decision-making.
There is a small fee for testing which covers the
materials only

e Limited career development services beyond
career counseling, including resume building,
mock interviewing, professional etiquette skills
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building, job/internship search skills, and
networking skills building

e Personal/emotional counseling—dealing with
feelings of loneliness, inadequacy, guilt, anxi-
ety and depression; interpersonal relationships
with family, dating partners and roommates;
and personality development, identity, self-im-
age and self-esteem

¢ Educational counseling—relating to education-
al goals, motivation, attitudes, abilities and
study skills

o Personality testing—to aid in the discovery of
personal strengths and personality traits. Tests
include the MBTI, 16PF, TJTA and Strengths
Finder

¢ Psychological evaluations—to aid in treatment
planning for mental health issues/challenges

e Marital/premarital counseling—marriage is
a major life change. The decision to marry
requires time, planning and deep commitment

¢ Psychoeducational classes, including Anger
Management and Effective Decision Making

e Substance abuse—limited services include:
» Professional substance abuse assessment
» Individual counseling
» Support groups for substance use
» Psychoeducational insight group

e Prevention Programming—promoting wellness
through social connectedness and resilience
building activities including presentations,
workshops, awareness-raising events such
as National mental health awareness events,
health fairs, peer group support, assessment
and screening, partnership with internal and
external resources, and consultation

¢ Consultation and outreach—the CTC staff is
available for consultation regarding psycho-
logical issues that impact students. The Center
offers a variety of workshops on-campus and
in the community. Call the Center for workshop
information.

¢ National standardized testing—including the
ACT, SAT, GRE Subject, LSAT, PRAXIS, MELAB,
TOEFL, CLEP and other academic tests needed
at both the undergraduate and graduate levels

CRAYON BOX

Children’s Learning Center
First Floor, Marsh Hall
Phone: 269-471-3350

The Crayon Box is an early childhood learning

center where your child will be cared for and nur-
tured while building a foundation for academic
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learning. Whether you are a student, working in
the community, or just interested in a morning/

afternoon enrichment program, you will find the
Andrews University Children’s Learning Center a
good place for your child to spend his or her day.

e Children may be enrolled any time during the
year

e Seven attendance plans provide for flexible
scheduling of even the most complicated
schedules

o Please call ahead to set up a tour and
enrollment appointment or visit our website at
andrews.edu/services/crayonbox/index.html
for more information.

DINING SERVICES

Office of Dining Services

First Floor, Campus Center

Phone: 269-471-3161

Office Hours: Monday—-Thursday, 9 a.m.-5:30
p.m.; Friday, 9 a.m.=12 p.m. (when school is in
session)

Terrace Café

The Terrace Café is a healthy, vegetarian All-You-
Care-to-Eat food court offering an array of classic
comfort foods; a nutritious and delicious salad
bar featuring a large selection of fresh vegetables
and house-made dressings; a deli and Panini sta-
tion allowing you to create your own hot or cold
sandwich; a healthy choices station; scratch-made
soups; fresh bean options and brown rice; a selec-
tion of house-made desserts; and several beverage
choices. Our World Market features scratch-made
pizzas including vegan and made-without-gluten
options. Stir fry is available daily and is complete-
ly made without gluten containing ingredients.
You will also find a variety of vegan and glu-
ten-free options available throughout the balance
of the Café. If you have special dietary needs, be
sure to contact the executive chef to discuss the
options available to you.

Prices for Breakfast are $7.75 dine-in, $8.75
carryout; Brunch, Lunch and Dinner are $9.25
dine-in, $10.25 carryout. Carryout containers may
not be used for dining in the Café, and dine-in
guests may not remove food from the Café. Cash,
credit card, faculty/staff charge, meal plan or Café
accounts may be used for payment. For those
guests choosing to dine with us on Sabbath,
please arrange for payment through our main
office before the end of business on Friday. We
do accept credit and debit cards on Sabbath but
prefer that you make other arrangements.
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Regular Semester Hours of Operation:

Monday-Friday

Breakfast, 7-10 a.m.
Lunch/Dinner, 11 a.m.—2:30 p.m.
Supper, 5-7 p.m.

Saturday
Lunch, 12:30-2 p.m.

Sunday
Brunch, 10 a.m.—2 p.m.
Supper, 5-7 p.m.

Check our website for break, holiday and
summer hours.

Gazebo

The Gazebo is a quick, casual restaurant with
a grab-and-go concept and convenience store
located in the Campus Center next to the
lobby. The ever-changing menu includes a
variety of made-to-order hot and cold sand-
wiches, house-made salads, delicious grilled
entrées, nutritious smoothies blended with
fresh fruit, and a variety of baked delicacies
sure to please your taste buds. Convenience
snacks, foods, drinks and personal items

are also available for purchase. Sales are by
cash, faculty/staff charge, meal plan or Café
account. Meal plan participants may use the
Gazebo as often as desired.

Regular Semester Hours of Operation:
Sunday, 11 a.m.—9 p.m.
Monday-Thursday, 8 a.m.—9 p.m.
Friday, 8 a.m.-5 p.m.

Saturday, 6-9 p.m.

Check our website for break, holiday and summer
hours.

Residence Hall Meal Plan Information

All undergraduate students under age 22 who reside
in the residence halls are required to participate in the
Declining Balance Meal Plan. Students that receive
residence hall-rate tuition assistance from Andrews
University must be on a meal plan regardless of age.
The cost of the residence hall meal plan is $1,800 per
semester, which will provide approximately two meals
and one snack per day for most students.

Meal plan participants may use their ID cards for
purchasing meals at the Terrace Café, Gazebo and
vending machines in the residence halls and other
locations on campus.

If a student’s meal plan balance runs low during
the semester, funds may be added to the meal plan
by request at the Office of Dining Services. For those
students who withdraw from school during the aca-
demic term, the Declining Balance Meal Plan refund
is pro-rated per day.

Café Accounts

Community students, residence hall students age 22+,
and graduate students may open a Café account at
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Registration Central or by coming to the Office of
Dining Services. Individuals who choose to open a
Café account may take advantage of a cash bonus;
if the initial balance purchased is greater than
$400, there will be a five percent non-refundable
bonus added to the account. In addition, the Café
account plan comes with a loyalty program that
rewards the user with a free meal after the purchase
of 10 meals. Pick up your loyalty card at the Dining
Services office after you open your account.

Transfer of Fund Balances

Students who need to transfer funds between the
bookstore, ITS store and Café account need to come
to the Office of Dining Services. Changes are posted
to the student’s statement at the end of each week.

HEALTH SERVICES

Health is a student’s most precious possession.
Good health means self-awareness and self-control,
self-satisfaction, loving relationships and a stable
sense of wellbeing even in the most trying times.

A healthy and successful college student will:

¢ Have daily personal devotions

¢ Get a minimum of seven hours sleep nightly

o Exercise regularly

o Eat well-balanced meals at regular times

¢ Avoid foods and beverages high in sugar

¢ Drink 6-8 glasses of water daily between meals
¢ Dress appropriately for Michigan weather

e Be helpful

Student Health Services

Students may direct their health needs to Uni-
versity Medical Specialties, located next to the
Apple Valley Plaza. Phone 269-473-2222 during
regular office hours (Monday-Thursday, 8 a.m.-5
p.m., and Friday, 8 a.m.—12 p.m.) to schedule
appointments.

The University expects all students to have
personal medical insurance that is valid and
billable. Residence hall students may be eligible
for limited health care with University Medical
Specialties as part of their residence hall package
(see the “Andrews University Bulletin” at bulletin.
andrews.edu).

Physician or nurse practitioner appointments
and most short-term medications are available to
residence hall students. These services are included
in the residence hall rent/health plan (for Lamson,
Meier and University Towers) and are not charged
separately to the student unless the student’s per-
sonal insurance plan is not able to be billed (such
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as out-of-state Medicaid, international insurance
plans, etc.). Additional charges are made for lab
work, X-rays and accident cases involving third-par-
ty liability. University Medical Specialties (UMS)
charges the insurance company for any coverage
applicable to the services provided to residence hall
students, thus students should take their insurance
information with them when utilizing UMS services.
When the student has personal insurance which
can be billed, UMS waives any copay or deductible
(for the student/family) for the limited health-care
provided. Students who do not have personal insur-
ance that can be billed will be charged at 80% of the
costs of general office visits.

Non-residence hall students living in the
apartments or off-campus housing may also use
University Medical Specialties for established fees.

If an emergency arises outside of regularly
scheduled office hours, students may contact
a physician by calling the answering service at
University Medical Specialties at 269-473-2222.

The University’s Response to AIDS

The primary response of the University to AIDS

is education. University personnel will seek ways
to provide detailed information on how the virus
is transmitted and how to prevent it. The primary
educational objective is to discourage sexual
activity except within a mutually monogamous,
heterosexual marriage relationship.

So that the University can balance the rights of
individuals with AIDS or a positive HIV test with
the public health needs of those they contact, the
following guidelines have been established:

1. In general, HIV antibody testing will not be a
prerequisite to acceptance or registration.
2. In general, the student with AIDS or
laboratory evidence of HIV infection will
not be denied acceptance, registration, class
attendance or housing.
3. It is the responsibility of the student known to
have AIDS, or a positive HIV test, to:
I. Seekregular medical treatment as
required by a personal physician
II. Abstain from or prevent any action that
may potentially transmit the AIDS virus
to another individual

Confidentiality concerning a student’s health will
be maintained unless it is determined that others
must be informed because of their risk of exposure
to the AIDS virus. If such notification is deemed
necessary, the stud